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1       MORNING SESSION, Wednesday, August 3, 2011

2              WHEREUPON, the court reconvened at

3 8:31 a.m., and the following proceedings were had:

4                *     *     *     *     *

5              THE COURT:  Calling out Case 05CV4794.

6 The parties are present.  And next witness for the

7 Plaintiff?

8              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We

9 call Dr. Edwin Steinbrecher.

10              THE COURT:  If you'd come forward, sir,

11 to the witness stand.

12              EDWIN STEINBRECHER, Ed.D.,

13 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or

14 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:

15              THE COURT:  And once you're seated, if

16 you could state your full name and spell your last

17 name for the record.

18              MR. HALPERN:  Good morning,

19 Dr. Steinbrecher.

20              THE COURT:  Could you state your name,

21 sir, and spell your last name for the record?

22              THE WITNESS:  Yes, my name is Edwin

23 Steinbrecher.  That's Edwin, E-d-w-i-n; Steinbrecher,

24 S-t-e-i-n-b-r-e-c-h-e-r.

25              THE COURT:  Thank you.
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1                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
2 BY MR. HALPERN:
3         Q.   Dr. Steinbrecher, would you please
4 describe your postsecondary educational background?
5         A.   Yes.  I have a bachelor's degree from
6 the University of Wisconsin at La Crosse.  I have a
7 master's degree from the University of Wisconsin,
8 Madison, and an educational doctorate from the
9 University of Colorado, Boulder.

10         Q.   And when did you receive your doctorate?
11         A.   1973.
12         Q.   Can you please describe your education-
13 related employment.
14         A.   I started as a teacher, as many of us
15 do, in Wisconsin.  I moved to Colorado to the Boulder
16 Valley School District in 1966 as an instructional
17 supervisor for the K-12 program.  I was pursuing my
18 doctorate, and had an opportunity to work part time at
19 the Colorado Association of School Boards, which was
20 on the campus at the university.  And then I
21 subsequently stayed with them full time for about a
22 year and a half, working on various education finance
23 related issues.
24              I moved to the Colorado Department --
25         Q.   Before we go -- what is the Colorado
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1 Association of School Boards?
2         A.   Colorado Association of School Boards is
3 an aggregate of all the school districts in the state,
4 the board of education from each of the school
5 districts, not mandatory, but they provide an ongoing
6 fee if they choose to join the school boards
7 association.
8         Q.   And what was the focus of your job
9 responsibilities there?

10         A.   Primarily doing research work.  My title
11 eventually when I stayed with them was director of
12 research.  I was doing all of the simulations of the
13 school finance acts that were being proposed.  I also
14 did salary-related studies and other studies, mostly
15 related to financial work.
16         Q.   And for clarity, which years was this
17 during?
18         A.   This would have been from 1969 through
19 '72.
20         Q.   And following your employment by the
21 Colorado Association of School Boards, what did you
22 do?
23         A.   I joined the Colorado Department of
24 Education, 1973.  The first year, my title was
25 director of business services and budget.  The primary
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1 focus there was on developing the budget requests to
2 the legislature through the Joint Budget Committee.
3         Q.   Budget requests for what?
4         A.   Appropriations for the finance act,
5 appropriations for all of the ongoing programs that
6 the Department of Education administered.
7         Q.   And following that job?
8         A.   After a year, I was named assistant
9 commissioner for the Office of Management Services.

10 That included in that office all of the school
11 finance, the data processing, auditors, et cetera, all
12 management applications.
13         Q.   Which years was this?
14         A.   That would have been 1974, I believe,
15 through about '82, 1982.
16         Q.   Following 1982 at the Colorado
17 Department of Education, what was your job?
18         A.   1982, I became a deputy commissioner of
19 education and kept all of those same activities as
20 well as worked with teacher licensing, special
21 education, a program for the handicapped, and a number
22 of other areas that were in my office.
23         Q.   During those years, what was your -- can
24 you be more specific about your role related to public
25 school finance?
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1         A.   I generally did all of the relationships
2 with the legislature, interactions with the
3 legislative council, with the governor's office of
4 planning and budget, anything to do with the financing
5 of schools and the application of the finance act
6 itself.
7         Q.   And when did you leave the Colorado
8 Department of Education?
9         A.   I left there in 1985.

10         Q.   And what did you do after that?
11         A.   Joined the Jefferson County School
12 District in the central office as assistant
13 superintendent for instructional services.
14         Q.   How long did you hold that position?
15         A.   Approximately between four and five
16 years.
17         Q.   Which years would those be?
18         A.   It would have been 1985 through parts of
19 and middle of '89 -- or end of '89.
20         Q.   And what was your job after that?
21         A.   I became superintendent of the Platte
22 Canyon School District in Park County in 1989, and I
23 stayed there until 1994.
24         Q.   Can you give us a little description of
25 what the Platte Canyon School District was like?
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1         A.   Well, it's a very -- it's a rural.  It's
2 very divided.  The eastern part of the district has
3 many commuters into the Denver area, whereas the
4 western and southern part relates to very rural,
5 ranching-type interests, mountain and recreation-type
6 interests.
7         Q.   How many pupils --
8         A.   I'd mention it's a very poor district as
9 assessed value, as 85 percent of the lands were

10 federal lands that were not taxed.
11         Q.   And how many students did you have
12 there?
13         A.   It varied between 13 and 16 hundred, I
14 believe, when I was there.
15         Q.   How long were you at Platte Canyon?
16         A.   Until 1994, about only five years.
17         Q.   Following that, what did you do?
18         A.   I went to the University of Denver,
19 where I was director of the administrator preparation
20 programs, an administrative doctoral program, and I
21 believe it was called the division of education
22 leadership and policy studies.
23         Q.   And throughout this period of time of
24 your employment -- how long were you at DU?
25         A.   Well, I was there full time from 1944
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1 through '99 --
2         Q.   Did you say '44?
3         A.   I'm sorry.  I hope I said 1994 until
4 1999.  I'm not as young as I used to be.
5         Q.   I'm sorry.  I think I interrupted you in
6 what you were describing.
7         A.   I was saying I've had -- I've taught as
8 an adjunct at the University of Denver probably since
9 about 1978, '9, right in there.  I also taught at the

10 University of Colorado, all three campuses, as an
11 adjunct during my time as an administrator.
12         Q.   What were you teaching in those schools?
13         A.   I generally taught the school finance
14 class in all of those programs.
15         Q.   In your position at -- as director of
16 the department of educational leadership at DU, what
17 role did you have relative to the school finance?
18         A.   Well, I had a variety of roles,
19 primarily teaching.  I kept up on the issues that were
20 going on at the state, but I also served on several
21 advisory committees to the legislative council and
22 worked with the Denver area school superintendents,
23 Colorado Association of School Executives, and other
24 groups that were also studying the school finance in
25 the state.
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1         Q.   Since 1999, what has your -- what
2 employment have you had?
3         A.   Well, I was primarily doing consulting
4 work.  During that time, I did eight months in the
5 Westminster School District as the chief financial
6 officer.  Did a USAID management study of a province
7 in South Africa, the KwaZulu-Natal province, other
8 general type advisory things.  In 19- -- or in 2001, I
9 joined a group, the American Education Finance

10 Association, as the executive director.
11         Q.   How long did you serve as executive
12 director of the American Education Finance
13 Association?
14         A.   Until 2007, so about a little over six
15 years.
16         Q.   Have you worked since 2007?
17         A.   No, I have not.
18         Q.   Congratulations.  Dr. Steinbrecher,
19 could you give a summary description of the two
20 essential elements of the school finance system?
21         A.   Well, my belief system and my teaching
22 always related to the two dimensions, and I believe
23 all state aid formula allocation around the country in
24 all states must do two things.  The first is -- if you
25 look at dimension, is to establish some level of
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1 support, dollar amount per some kind of a unit.  So a
2 unit could be a classroom unit, a teacher unit, a
3 student unit, but you must establish an amount of
4 dollars or some funding per that unit.
5              Once the State has done that, the second
6 dimension is to determine the state and local sharing
7 of that amount of dollars that will be provided.  And,
8 of course, that can range also, everything from
9 full-state funding to shared funding to any variety

10 the State wants to do, but those two dimensions are
11 found in every type of allocation formula.
12         Q.   Are you knowledgeable about the 1969
13 Public School Foundation Act?
14         A.   Yes, I am.
15         Q.   And what's the source of your knowledge?
16         A.   Well, that dates back to when I was with
17 the school boards association and doing my doctoral
18 coursework at the university.  I studied the finance
19 acts from both '68 and '69 and also did a lot of the
20 work on calculating, simulating alternative proposals
21 that were coming up before the legislature.
22         Q.   When you say calculating and simulating
23 alternative proposals, what operation are you
24 referring to?
25         A.   Well, the State -- when the legislature
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1 wants to adopt new legislation, they want to know the
2 implications.  So if a proposal comes before them
3 related to changes in the finance act, they want to
4 know its impact on every district both in terms of the
5 dollars allocated, the mill rates in those districts,
6 and the appropriation level that will require the
7 State to approve.
8         Q.   And so what does running simulations
9 entail?

10         A.   Well, it entails changing the variables
11 in there and running out the simulation of 181
12 districts and then utilizing those calculations.  So
13 you have to project the assessed values of each school
14 district, the number of pupils in each center, and
15 then you simulated alternatives for the value for what
16 the State's share will be, if it's based on so much
17 per mill, or if you're going to give an increase in
18 the base level of support, what's the impact of a $20
19 increase, a $100 increase, et cetera.
20         Q.   Relative to the 1969 Public School
21 Foundation Act -- a foundation act, what does that
22 term mean?
23         A.   A foundation act, it's fairly common, it
24 probably started in the '20s.  Originally they called
25 it the Strayer-Haig model, named after the two men who

620

1 were proponents I think in the State of New York.
2         Q.   Could you spell those gentlemen's names?
3         A.   Strayer was S-t-r-a-y-e-r.  Haig was
4 H-a-i-g.
5              And all it does really is it sets an
6 amount of money per sum unit that the State will say
7 is the base of support or the foundation level of
8 support for education in those districts of the state.
9         Q.   And how did the State do that in the '69

10 act?
11         A.   The '69 act -- I'll have to go back.
12 Maybe the '68 act had a classroom value unit.  I think
13 it was about $5400 per classroom unit.  Moving to the
14 '69 act, it went to a per pupil unit, and the State
15 established I believe it was $440 the first year, in
16 '69, per pupil in average daily attendance.  So you
17 counted your pupils, and then the State said we'll
18 give you a foundation or base level of $440 per pupil
19 to be shared between the local and the state
20 equalization program.
21         Q.   Just to go back for a moment, you
22 referenced the classroom unit values in the '68 act.
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Do you know how those classroom unit
25 values were set?
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1         A.   No.  My perception was that they were
2 set based on -- there were 25 pupils made up a
3 classroom unit, and the way the State generally does
4 it is they take the average of where they were in
5 prior years.  Now, that '68 act actually went back to
6 1962.  So that act was actually in place for about
7 seven years, and it progressed from a lower amount up
8 to the $5400, but how it was originally set in '62, I
9 couldn't verify exactly.

10         Q.   Does the act itself describe how the
11 classroom unit values were set?
12         A.   The only recollection I recall is that I
13 think there was something in the prewords of the act
14 that said that these are arbitrarily set by the State
15 for each classroom unit.
16         Q.   Going to the -- well, I believe you
17 testified in the foundation act, the dollars per unit
18 figure was a dollars -- or component was the dollars
19 per pupil.  How was the state and local funding
20 handled?
21         A.   I'm sorry?  In the '69 act?
22         Q.   Yes.
23         A.   The '69 act, the per pupil amount was
24 set and then allowed to increase up through '72, and
25 it requires a 17 mill buy-in by local school

622

1 districts.  In other words, every district was
2 required to levy 17 mills of tax against their
3 assessed value.
4              However, there was a provision --
5 because some districts had high assessed values, they
6 could raise that amount of money with very little mill
7 effort.  So there was a formula that said if you
8 raised more than $250 for your 17 mills, then you
9 would have to raise -- you could drop to 14 mills

10 unless that raised more than $280 or a number, unless
11 that gave you still a mill levy of lower, then you
12 could raise $300 and up to about $380.  In other
13 words, the districts with higher assessed value per
14 pupil had to raise higher amounts of that $440.
15              However, in all state acts, there's
16 always a provision, and I think every district had a
17 minimum of $80 or an amount the State always provides
18 that says no district shall receive less than, and I
19 think it was about $80 at that time.
20         Q.   Was that referred to as the minimum
21 guaranteed base?
22         A.   Yes.
23         Q.   And how were -- during the course of the
24 '69 act, how were the district funding levels arrived
25 at by the legislature?
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1         A.   Well, the 460 or the 440 the first year,
2 they always calculate that based on the prior years.
3 There's always a concern at the legislature of two
4 things, and that'll come up in other acts.  If you --
5 there was a concern that if districts had too much
6 money provided in a new act that it wouldn't be spent
7 wisely, and if they had too little there, there'd be
8 other political considerations.
9              So they generally went from what

10 existed, found the averages, converted that into the
11 new program, and that became the starting point.
12         Q.   And was the '69 -- was the per pupil
13 foundation level of the '69 act adjusted over time
14 while that act was in effect?
15         A.   Yes.  As I mentioned, I think it went
16 460 the next year, and I think there were two years
17 where it was 460; and then I think the last year of
18 the act, it went to 518 per pupil, $518 per pupil.
19         Q.   So can I say it was annually adjusted by
20 a dollar amount?
21         A.   Yes.
22         Q.   To your knowledge, in setting the
23 foundation level, did the legislature give any
24 consideration to the cost to accomplish any particular
25 educational goal or standard?
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1              You found the water.
2         A.   Not to my knowledge.  It generally was
3 an amount of what the appropriation level was going to
4 be.  In other words, the Joint Budget Committee and
5 the legislature would look at the appropriation levels
6 and say, "This is how much money will be available."
7 So they geared the setting of the -- two things, the
8 amount per pupil and the state/local share, to
9 accomplish that appropriation level.

10         Q.   It's correct, is it not,
11 Dr. Steinbrecher, that in 1973, the Public School
12 Finance Act was substantially amended?
13         A.   Yes, that was correct.  In 1973,
14 applicable to the 1974 budget year.
15         Q.   And that's the 1973 Public School
16 Finance Act?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   And do you have knowledge about the
19 considerations and mechanics related to the 1973
20 School Finance Act?
21         A.   Yes, I do.
22         Q.   How did you obtain that knowledge?
23         A.   Well, I was at the Department of
24 Education, as I mentioned earlier in my work history,
25 and was responsible for evaluating those proposals and
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1 making recommendations as requested.
2         Q.   And with whom did you work in that
3 capacity?
4         A.   Well, I worked with the legislature, and
5 in the '73 act, some with the Office of State Planning
6 and Budget.  If you want me to go in detail, Governor
7 Love was in place at the time, and there's a good
8 state surplus.  I think initially it was about $120
9 projected as a state surplus.  That eventually I think

10 went up to about $160, but the governor had made a
11 statement --
12         Q.   Doctor, could I just -- dollars or --
13         A.   Dollars.
14         Q.   -- millions of dollars?
15         A.   Million dollars.  119 million dollars.
16         Q.   That's more like a contrary surplus.
17         A.   And 160 million it went up to.  At any
18 rate, the governor was interested in reducing the
19 dependence on property taxes to finance the schools
20 and was looking for a way to amend or come up with a
21 formula change that would provide some tax relief as
22 well as some additional dollars to schools.
23         Q.   How could the application of --
24 mechanically, how would the application of surplus
25 dollars in the state budget be able to be used to
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1 generate property tax relief at the local level?
2         A.   Well, back to those dimensions, you
3 could either change, hold constant the dollar amount
4 provided per pupil, which would give you no increase
5 in your education benefit, and the second was to
6 increase the State's share of that $518 or any new
7 program.  By increasing the State share, you reduced
8 the dependence on the local property tax, and
9 therefore, by reducing that dependence, you reduce the

10 millage in the districts and people get property tax
11 relief.
12         Q.   Now, how does something like that relate
13 to statewide property tax equity?
14         A.   Well, it depends again on how high the
15 state goes and what their guaranty.  If the state
16 guaranty goes 50 mills, you will bring more districts
17 into the program than you would if you only provided
18 equalization up to 25 mills.  So the greater amount of
19 increase you can provide, the greater amount of
20 property tax relief you're going to get.
21         Q.   On the using the dollars per unit
22 element, how did the '73 Public School Finance Act
23 work?
24         A.   Well, it was a compromise.  A little
25 background, there was about I want to say five
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1 competing bills actually introduced in the legislature
2 that year.  There was a group called CoED, the Council
3 on Educational Development, that I also worked with in
4 my role at the department that had introduced a bill
5 through the interim committee.  That was prior to the
6 '74 session, during the '73 session.  And ultimately,
7 there was a compromise between the governor's bill,
8 the CoED bill and several other factors, and what
9 emerged was the '73 act.

10              How it worked, finally, they accepted
11 the provisions in the governor's bill that established
12 what they called an authorized revenue base, an ARB.
13 The ARB was established as the prior year's district
14 collection from property tax and their state
15 equalization.  So whatever they were getting from that
16 $518 in their property tax and state equalization
17 became the starting point for the -- setting the base
18 level per pupil for 1974.
19         Q.   And the authorized revenue base was a
20 dollars per pupil?
21         A.   Was a dollar amount per pupil
22 established the first year -- the minimum was $750,
23 and every district below that could automatically move
24 up to $750.  If their prior year was greater than 750,
25 they received a 12 percent increase.  And then there

628

1 was a scale down to if they were over $1,000 in the
2 prior year, they were limited to an 8 percent increase
3 in the next year's finance act.
4         Q.   How long did the '73 act remain in
5 place?
6         A.   It remained in place through the 1988 --
7 until the 1988 act was passed, although there were
8 amendments along the way, of course, to increase the
9 amounts, et cetera and changes.  In 1984, they removed

10 the budget review board concept that had been in the
11 original act.
12         Q.   Before we go there, on the changes to
13 the authorized revenue base, generally speaking, how
14 were those set?
15         A.   Well, they were set by the legislature.
16 Original -- the original proposal to the governor had
17 a variation of 20 percent for the lowest districts to
18 6 percent for the highest districts.  Through the
19 political process, of course, the top was raised to
20 8 percent because there were -- many of the larger
21 districts had more representation, and the bottom was
22 put at the 12 percent.
23              But after several years -- three or four
24 years, of course, everybody had moved up above $1,000
25 and were all getting a fixed dollar -- or a fixed
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1 percentage increase, which was deemed inequitable
2 because those that were lower, their 8 percent was
3 less than the 8 percent for the higher districts.
4              So about 1984, '85, right in there, they
5 went to a fixed dollar amount per pupil.  I think it
6 was $120 per pupil the first year, and that, of
7 course, re-established the variation because the 120
8 was a greater percentage increase to the lower
9 district --

10         Q.   $120?
11         A.   -- than the $120 would be to a higher
12 district.  So it kind of re-established that variable
13 gain.
14         Q.   To your knowledge, was the authorized
15 revenue base ever set to fund the costs of a
16 particular level of educational quality?
17         A.   Well, there was never a reference to
18 that.  It was always just based on their prior year
19 revenue from those two sources.  Now, my perception is
20 that one of the reasons for the ARB going to a revenue
21 side was because the legislature had two primary
22 motivations or reasons there.  One, they wanted to
23 control local property taxes, and two, they wanted to
24 control the appropriation level that the state had to
25 put up.  And by going to the ARB, that took care of
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1 both of those items right away.
2         Q.   Briefly, could you describe the function
3 of the state budget review board during the years of
4 the '73 act?
5         A.   Well, the state budget review board
6 functioned -- districts did not have an automatic
7 ability to go to their electors and raise additional
8 funds if the local board felt they needed more dollars
9 than the ARB program was providing to them.  So the

10 legislation established a review board that was
11 chaired by the lieutenant governor and had two other
12 members, the state treasurer and the chairperson of
13 the State Board of Education.  And that three-member
14 panel could approve an increase to the local
15 district's ARB dollar amount.  If the review board did
16 not provide them that amount of money, then they could
17 go to an election after being to the review board, but
18 they had to go to the review board first.
19         Q.   This was a way for local districts to
20 increase their funding by local taxation?
21         A.   That's correct.
22         Q.   And after the first year, how would such
23 an increase be funded?
24         A.   Well, after -- they had to provide the
25 increase out of their local tax base the first year,
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1 but in the second and subsequent years, that amount
2 was added into their ARB and became under -- or came
3 under the equalized portion.  So if a district could
4 convince their voters the first year to vote for the
5 tax increase, then in subsequent years those dollars
6 were equalized by the state.
7         Q.   And how long did that system last?
8         A.   It lasted until about 1984, when the
9 legislature changed that.  They were concerned about

10 the amount of dollars being allocated to schools, and
11 they changed it, set up a new review board, which was
12 the State Board of Education.
13         Q.   Is it correct that in 1988, the Public
14 School Finance Act was substantially revised again?
15         A.   Yes, very much so.
16         Q.   Okay.  And what was the -- what was
17 (sic) the changes that were made to the 1988 Public
18 School Finance Act?
19         A.   Well, the State determined that there
20 would be eight categories of districts that ranged
21 from Denver core city, which was only Denver, to
22 urban, suburban, outlying towns, outlying towns,
23 rural, recreational, and small attendance centers.  So
24 they grouped districts by a set of criteria that
25 somehow determined supposedly based on whether there
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1 was a town of X size or whether they were close to a
2 large metropolitan area.  So they were grouped
3 supposedly on their similarities.
4              And then a factor was established for
5 eight different components of funding.  There were
6 three individual district per pupil funding sources,
7 and there were eight -- I'm sorry, there were five
8 districtwide component funding sources or unit values.
9         Q.   What was the dollar per unit variable in

10 the 1988 act?
11         A.   Well, what they did is they averaged
12 within each category the cost for those eight
13 components.  In other words, they said for
14 instructional supplies, the average is this much, and
15 for instructional salaries and benefits, the average
16 in your category is X dollars.
17              So every one of those different
18 categories had a different amount of dollars, but it
19 came from the prior year's average of what actually
20 existed in those categories.
21         Q.   So the basic -- essentially the basic
22 component that goes into figuring those average costs
23 is what people were spending last year?
24         A.   Prior year, yes.
25         Q.   Was there any analysis or adjustment
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1 made for the -- other than prior year's expenses for
2 what the actual costs of providing any particular
3 level of educational quality was?
4         A.   No.  There was a benefit within
5 category, in that those districts who were below the
6 average could be leveled up to the average in their
7 categories, and those outliers who were above that
8 average line within the categories were constrained,
9 but there was (sic) no other adjustments really made.

10         Q.   What were the criticisms of this act
11 relative to those categories?
12         A.   Well, generally, of course, many of the
13 districts felt they were misplaced in their category.
14 First off, that they should -- for example, if they
15 had any kind of tourism, they wanted to be in the
16 recreation district rather than rural or outlying
17 city.  So there was complaint against where they were
18 placed.
19              And then secondly, there was concern
20 about the dollar amounts because when you average
21 within the categories, the districts that were at the
22 bottom, so to speak, were not levelled up to a core
23 city or a Denver -- or urban or suburban districts.
24 So those districts felt that the component unit values
25 were discriminating against them compared to the rest
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1 of the state as a whole.
2         Q.   Dr. Steinbrecher, I'm going to refer to
3 Exhibit 30110.  Are you familiar with that document?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   What is it?
6         A.   Well, that's the legislative council
7 report on the school district setting category study
8 that was required I believe when the '88 act or in
9 '90.  Anyway, the legislature requested a study from

10 the legislative council on the setting categories of
11 the school districts.
12         Q.   Is that a common methodology that was
13 followed by the legislature --
14         A.   Oh, yes, there's interim committees
15 almost yearly, it seemed, and there were requests for
16 studies from the legislative council.
17              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, I'd move the
18 admission of 30110.
19              MR. HEINKE:  No objection.
20              THE COURT:  30110 will be admitted.
21              (Exhibit 30110 was received in
22 evidence.)
23         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  I'm going to refer to
24 Page 3 of that document, Dr. Steinbrecher.  Now, I'm
25 going to try to figure out how to make it big.
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1         A.   I can read that.
2         Q.   You can read that?  Okay.  Could you
3 please tell us what -- this is the section called
4 Findings and Recommendations, right?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   And can you tell us -- point out the
7 significant findings and recommendations that appear
8 in this document?
9         A.   Well, I think the first sentence appears

10 that setting category groupings cannot be justified
11 based upon analysis of any kind of combination of
12 data, et cetera.
13         Q.   Data elements selected for this study?
14         A.   Yes.  Do you want me to read the whole
15 thing?
16         Q.   Just read the paragraph.  You don't have
17 to read the whole page.
18         A.   Differences between clusters so that
19 even with minor reassignment of districts between
20 categories or combining of existing categories is not
21 justified.
22         Q.   What is essentially the meaning of that
23 conclusion?
24         A.   Well, to me, it means that the study by
25 the legislative council said there was no real basis
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1 for the groupings of districts in the categories.
2         Q.   Now, I'd like to draw your attention to
3 the 1994 Public School Finance Act.  What was the
4 impetus to revise the finance act again?
5         A.   Well, I think after that initial study,
6 the legislative council was requested to continue
7 their work on studying the existing finance act, and
8 based on the studies, after saying that the categories
9 had no basis, there was a movement toward establishing

10 a new act that was based on individual district
11 amounts rather than category groupings of districts.
12         Q.   And the Public School Finance Act of
13 1994 is the act that is currently in effect; is that
14 right?
15         A.   Yes, with modifications, of course, that
16 would have been made since then.
17         Q.   On a dollars per unit -- on that dollars
18 per unit variable, how does the act work?
19         A.   Well, the way the '94 act worked, there
20 was (sic) studies of factors that caused districts to
21 have variable costs for providing similar services,
22 and that was the whole basis for the economic study,
23 for the at-risk pupil study, et cetera.  So all of
24 that study went toward finding ways of determining
25 those differences between districts in the economy
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1 factors, their size factors, and the at-risk student
2 factors.
3         Q.   And what do we call the dollar per
4 unit --
5         A.   I believe they called it the base unit
6 funding in the '94 act.
7         Q.   And that's -- the statewide basis is
8 dollars per pupil?
9         A.   Correct.

10         Q.   How was the -- and that's set by the
11 legislature?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   How was the original statewide base for
14 the 1994 act determined?
15         A.   Well, my perception is determined again
16 by the amount of dollars available for the
17 appropriation.  In other words, you worked backward
18 through a number of iterations.  Fortunately, by '94,
19 it was a lot better than it was in '68 and '69 when I
20 was doing it by hand, but in '94, you had the
21 computers and technology, and you would do a number of
22 iterations of the act with varying levels of state
23 support and varying levels of per pupil dollar totals
24 until you got to an appropriation level that was
25 within the range of what the State wanted to provide.
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1         Q.   And what role did -- what role did prior
2 years' district revenues or expenditure levels play in
3 setting the statewide base and factors in the '94 act?
4         A.   Well, I have to assume, as it was in
5 just about every year, it is determined by the
6 appropriation level.  So you looked at the prior year
7 and what the State was appropriating in the Long Bill
8 or the state budget bill, and the Joint Budget
9 Committee would say, "We have X amount of new

10 dollars," and therefore, the finance act would have to
11 come in within that range of new dollars; and that's
12 where it came from.
13         Q.   To your knowledge, was the original
14 statewide base adjusted or set with reference to the
15 costs of accomplishing any particular educational
16 quality goal?
17         A.   I never saw any cost-type studies that
18 indicated the cost of education would be, and that
19 would determine the base level.  I never saw any of
20 those.
21         Q.   At that time, standards-based education
22 didn't exist, right?
23         A.   Well, it was just coming in about 1993
24 or '94, but its applicability I don't think was until
25 about 1995, '6, '7, right in there.
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1         Q.   This is the front page of Exhibit 30105.
2 Can you identify that?
3         A.   Yes.  That was the report of the interim
4 committee of the legislature that was provided in
5 December of 1993, prior to the opening of the session
6 in January.
7         Q.   Okay.  Does this document have any
8 reference to the Public School Finance Act of 1994?
9         A.   Yes, it does.  That's the publication

10 that presented three or four alternative bills to be
11 submitted in the legislature, one of which was the
12 Public School Finance Act of '94.  It did not have a
13 bill number at the time, of course.  It was just Bill
14 3, I believe.
15              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, we move the
16 admission of 30105.
17              THE COURT:  Any objection?
18              MR. HEINKE:  No objection.
19              THE COURT:  30105 will be admitted.
20              (Exhibit 30105 was received in
21 evidence.)
22         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  Dr. Steinbrecher, I
23 move your attention to Page 5 of that document.  Is it
24 correct that this is a portion of the discussion of
25 the School Finance Act of 1994?
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1         A.   Yes, that's the elements that had gone
2 into the new finance act, Bill 3.
3         Q.   And is there a section here that you
4 would like to draw our attention to?  Do I have the
5 right page?  I need Page 8, right?
6              I'm sorry.  I got my notes confused
7 here.
8              MR. HALPERN:  Excuse me, Your Honor.
9              THE COURT:  Yes.

10              MR. HALPERN:  All part of the paper
11 chase, right?
12         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  30109, what's that?
13         A.   Oh, that's a report from the legislative
14 council, reporting on their required -- the
15 legislature had required them to do a study, and
16 that's the report of the setting categories study, the
17 final report done in August of 1994.
18              MR. HALPERN:  And I move the admission
19 of 30109.
20              MR. HEINKE:  No objection.
21              THE COURT:  30109 will be admitted.
22              (Exhibit 30109 was received in
23 evidence.)
24         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  Let me refer you to
25 Page 12, please.  There's a paragraph that begins,
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1 "There are two tasks."  Can you tell me -- tell us
2 what is being referred to in that paragraph?
3         A.   Well, what's referred to there is that
4 there were two tasks they were unable to complete
5 during the time of the study, and those two were, one,
6 the determination of a funding component values, in
7 other words, a study of the appropriateness of those
8 funding component values in the '88 act, and secondly,
9 they did not have time to study a recommendation for a

10 method of establishing that base level of pupil
11 support for the new act.
12         Q.   So they conducted a study, but those
13 were two things they actually didn't get to?
14         A.   Yes.  The study that they presented was
15 based on the variables that caused cost differences
16 regardless of what the base would be.  They only
17 impacted the cost -- the base itself, but they did not
18 study the base component funding.
19         Q.   Okay.  And why is that a significant
20 issue?
21         A.   Well, it was significant to the school
22 districts because the amount of money they're going to
23 get is determined by that base value.  Adjusting for
24 economic differences, at-risk students, size, all of
25 those only adjust the variation between the districts.
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1 It's not related at all to the total dollars.  It
2 could have been $5, and you could have applied all of
3 those factors.  It could have been $10,000, and you
4 could have applied all those factors.  All you were
5 doing is showing the variation between the districts,
6 not the amount of funding they would get.
7         Q.   Okay.  And how does something like that
8 affect the usefulness or the validity of something
9 like a cost-of-living factor?

10         A.   Well, it gives within a district
11 equalization.  So I'd say it affects the equitable
12 side of things, but I don't think it affects the
13 adequacy side of things.  In other words, it wasn't
14 based on a study of what the needs might have been.
15              MR. HALPERN:  I shouldn't be allowed to
16 handle paper.
17         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  Subsequent to the
18 adoption of the '94 act, how was the statewide per
19 pupil -- the statewide base adjusted?
20         A.   Yearly after the initial year?
21         Q.   Yes.
22         A.   Well, again, it was adjusted based on
23 the appropriation amounts that were available and what
24 the impact would be on the local property tax and the
25 state appropriation.
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1         Q.   To your knowledge, during the times that
2 you were involved with the school finance, which is
3 basically from the mid-'60s to the present, has the
4 cost of providing a specific level of educational
5 quality ever been factored into the base funding
6 figure for any of the school finance acts?
7         A.   I don't know of any studies that ever
8 did a cost analysis in the state prior to any of those
9 acts being implemented.  Others on the outside may

10 have been doing something, but I don't know if any of
11 that were used by the State to set the levels of
12 support.
13              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you,
14 Dr. Steinbrecher.
15              THE COURT:  Thank you.
16              Counsel, do you have any questions?
17              MR. HINOJOSA:  No, Your Honor.
18              THE COURT:  Okay.  Cross-examination?
19              MR. HEINKE:  Thank you, Your Honor.
20                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
21 BY MR. HEINKE:
22         Q.   Good morning, Dr. Steinbrecher.
23         A.   Good morning.
24         Q.   It's good to see you again.  You spoke
25 with Mr. Halpern about your involvement in the
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1 American Education Finance Association.  Do you recall
2 that conversation?
3         A.   Yes.
4         Q.   I think you mentioned that you were the
5 former executive director.  You were also the past
6 president of that association?
7         A.   Yes, that's correct.
8         Q.   That's an organization that is a
9 collection of people interested in education finance

10 issues, correct?
11         A.   Correct.
12         Q.   It includes researchers interested in
13 education finance issues?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   You would agree that some of the most
16 prominent national researchers on education finance
17 are involved with the association, wouldn't you?
18         A.   Yes.
19         Q.   The organization serves as a place for
20 research and a place for people to interact and talk
21 about issues around school finance?
22         A.   Correct.
23         Q.   And in that association, you have had
24 debates on the relative merits of whether money
25 matters, correct?
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1         A.   Those are often topics at sessions, yes.
2         Q.   You personally believe that money does
3 matter, but it has to be very targeted and specific?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   And you would agree that if you have a
6 lot of dollars and don't spend them wisely, it could
7 be not any better than if you had less dollars and
8 spent them wisely, correct?
9              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, I'm going to

10 interject an objection, which is simply this is beyond
11 the scope of the direct, but I don't object to
12 continuing.  I just want to note that if I ask
13 questions about that, I'll be doing it from
14 cross-examination.
15              THE COURT:  Thank you.
16         A.   Would you repeat that again?  I'm sorry.
17         Q.   (BY MR. HEINKE)  Sure.  The question was
18 you would agree if you have a lot of dollars and don't
19 spend them wisely, it could be not any better than if
20 you had less dollars and spent them wisely?
21         A.   Yes.  I think if I could expand a little
22 bit on the answer there.  There's two aspects, years
23 of leading to that they are spending them
24 inappropriately or not wisely.  Also, my testimony was
25 that they spend their dollars on things that are not
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1 directly to education achievement.  For example, if a
2 district puts dollars into security, which has been a
3 big topic over the last several -- those dollars
4 aren't going directly into affecting the outcome of
5 that child's attainment of those standards.  If
6 they're putting a lot of miles into transportation or
7 other items that are required to be done either by
8 mandates from their community or the state.  So
9 there's two aspects of that.  Yes, they could spend

10 them unwisely, but also they have to spend them to
11 achieve education measurable outcomes on topics that
12 work toward those outcomes, not on maintaining the
13 district and maintaining the security, et cetera.
14 Just that explanation.
15         Q.   Okay.  I appreciate that.  Sticking with
16 your role at the American Education Finance
17 Association, you know Dr. Eric Hanushek?
18         A.   I do.
19         Q.   Dr. Hanushek was a member of the board
20 of directors of the AFEA?
21         A.   Yes.
22         Q.   You're familiar with his research
23 generally?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   And you feel he's a very fine
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1 researcher?
2         A.   He's a fine researcher and a fine man,
3 correct.
4         Q.   You also talked about your time at
5 Platte Canyon School District?  Do you recall that
6 conversation?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   I believe you testified it is a very
9 poor district in terms of assessed values?

10         A.   It was at the time a low-assessed-value
11 district, yes.
12         Q.   You believe during your time there
13 students were getting the best education that you
14 could give them, correct?
15         A.   It was the best we could afford at the
16 time, yes.
17         Q.   And you still know people at Platte
18 Canyon School District?
19         A.   I do.
20         Q.   You're still generally familiar with
21 some of their test scores?
22         A.   Yes.  They're very good, especially at
23 the elementary level.
24         Q.   And you believe that students today are
25 getting a quality education there, don't you?
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1         A.   Yes, within the means available.
2         Q.   You and Mr. Halpern also discussed -- I
3 will paraphrase and correct me if I'm wrong, but the
4 two axes of school finance formulas.  I think you said
5 the first one is it defines some dollar per some kind
6 of unit and the second is it determines where the
7 money comes from.  Is that correct?
8         A.   Yes.
9         Q.   You would agree that the first piece,

10 determining some dollar amount per some kind of unit,
11 is the most difficult piece to do?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   You would agree that while there is some
14 consensus as to the overall shortcomings of school
15 finance, there is no consensus as to the most
16 effective way to reform school finance so that it will
17 support our new expectations?
18         A.   Well, a consensus, I'm not sure anyone
19 ever took a consensus of all the people that might be
20 involved in that, but it's a very difficult topic,
21 yes.
22         Q.   And you would agree that no one funding
23 approach has been shown to be a silver bullet for
24 consistently supporting higher student achievement?
25         A.   I think if you go around the country,
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1 you'd find a lot of variation and a lot of discussion
2 whether those were appropriate, and there would be a
3 lack of agreement among different groups toward that.
4              I'd point out -- if I might add, all of
5 these programs really get down to a dollar amount per
6 pupil.  If you go through, like in the '88 act, and
7 have a PPOR, per pupil operating revenue, all that
8 figure is after you've -- you've gone through all the
9 component steps and then if you divide by the number

10 of pupils, you're back to a dollar amount per pupil.
11              So all of them, regardless how they get
12 there, even if they would do a cost/benefit or cost
13 analysis of the cost of education, they would come up
14 with a total program value, which if you divide it by
15 the number of pupils, you're back to a per pupil
16 amount.
17              So I raise that because in my
18 differentiation of all of these programs, they all
19 come back to the same thing, an amount of dollars per
20 pupil.  It's just how you arrive at those dollars per
21 pupil.
22         Q.   But you would agree, wouldn't you, that
23 no one approach has yet been shown to be a silver
24 bullet for improving student achievement?
25         A.   I'm not sure of your definition of a
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1 "silver bullet," but that generally would probably be
2 correct.
3         Q.   Okay.  You would generally agree that
4 Colorado's system of funding in terms of equity,
5 flexibility, and limitations is comparable to the
6 system of most states?
7         A.   I think the formula itself is
8 comparable, yes.  They're all pretty much standard.
9 The setting of the values is where you get the

10 differences.
11         Q.   And you would agree that Colorado's
12 current finance system is reasonably horizontally
13 equitable?
14         A.   It's getting there.
15         Q.   Moving in the right -- excuse me.
16         A.   It's moving in the direction, but
17 there's still considerable differences between many
18 districts that could be alleviated.
19         Q.   You would agree that Colorado's current
20 finance system is reasonable and rational?
21         A.   I think you asked me this in the
22 deposition, and we had a discussion about your
23 definition of "rational" and mine.  I said I think it
24 has a purpose, it's reasonable.  Whether or not that
25 meets your legal standard of a rational basis, I don't
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1 know, but I think, you know, the people -- you have to
2 go back to my background a little bit.  I have very
3 much respect for our legislators.  I've known many of
4 them over the years, and I think they're all working
5 for what's best.  What you end up with is a conflict
6 of ideas, the same thing you do in any policy
7 application, and those conflicts are done by
8 well-meaning people on both sides.  So I think it's
9 reasonable and rational that they've compromised and

10 tried to serve the state the best they could, and as a
11 result, that's what we have in our finance act.
12              Whether or not that's reasonable and
13 rational to an individual child's education is, I
14 think, what the debate probably is about.
15         Q.   You and Mr. Halpern also talked about
16 some of the history of school finance in Colorado, and
17 you testified in part about the share of funding as
18 between local districts and the state.  Do you recall
19 that testimony?
20         A.   Yes.
21         Q.   You would agree that Colorado relied
22 heavily on local property taxes to fund its public
23 schools from the early days of statehood through about
24 the 1970s?
25         A.   Correct.
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1         Q.   In fact, you remember a time in your
2 work when the local share was somewhere between 70 and
3 80 percent, correct?
4         A.   That's correct.  In the early days, it
5 was, yes.
6         Q.   The local share is well below that
7 today, correct?
8         A.   Just about reversed about now, I
9 believe.

10         Q.   You would agree that state
11 participation -- state funding participation gradually
12 expanded over time as the costs of education rose and
13 local property taxpayers increasingly protested rising
14 school property tax levels?
15         A.   I think that's probably a fair
16 statement.  The concern always was that the taxpayers
17 at the local level, property taxpayers, feel the
18 direct impact in their pocketbook, whereas taxes sent
19 to state or federal government are less visible to
20 them.  So their one place they could actively seek
21 some relief was through the local property tax.
22         Q.   You also discussed with Mr. Halpern the
23 Public School Finance Act of 1988.  Do you recall that
24 conversation?
25         A.   Yes.
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1         Q.   And I believe you testified that there
2 were criticisms of the act that eventually led to the
3 '94 act.  Did I recall your testimony correctly?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   Were school districts involved in
6 lobbying the government to change the '88 act?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   And the legislature did, in fact,
9 respond with the '94 act, correct?

10         A.   Yes.  There was enough resistance.  I
11 think I mentioned a group specially representing the
12 outlying city group, which were Pueblo, Colorado
13 Springs, Fort Collins, et cetera, who felt their unit
14 values, the component values, were not appropriate,
15 and they formed a group called Coalition for
16 something.  So there were a number of groups.  But
17 also in those legislative studies that were reported
18 earlier, there were found there were some districts
19 just totally misplaced.  In other words, if they were
20 supposed to have a thousand center of population, they
21 didn't have it.  So there was a lot of looking at
22 those category placements.
23         Q.   And in your opinion, the '94 act was an
24 improvement over the '88 act, correct?
25         A.   Yes, I think it made a significant
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1 effort to change some of the inequities between
2 categories of districts.
3         Q.   As part of the conversation, you and
4 Mr. Halpern looked at Exhibit 30109, which was the
5 August legislative council study, correct?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   And am I right that you were one of the
8 members of the advisory task force that assisted on
9 that study, correct?

10         A.   Yes, that's correct.
11         Q.   Page 7 of that study talks about a
12 couple of recommendations.  The first is the
13 recommendation that setting categories not be used for
14 economic regions and that each district be assigned
15 its own cost-of-living index.  Do you see where I am?
16         A.   Yes.
17         Q.   In fact, setting categories was not used
18 in the '94 act?
19         A.   They were not.
20         Q.   And cost-of-living index was used?
21         A.   Cost-of-living index based on individual
22 districts was used, yes.
23         Q.   The recommendations also include a note,
24 it says, "We recommend the data on children receiving
25 free lunch under the National School Lunch Act be used
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1 as a proxy for at-risk youth."
2              Data on children receiving free lunch
3 was, in fact, used as a proxy under the '94 act,
4 correct?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   You agree that this is a good proxy?
7         A.   Well, it's the best proxy they could
8 find.  It's reported each year as opposed to census
9 data, which is every ten years.  The problem with it

10 is it puts the onus on children to identify themselves
11 as being low income.  You'll see better numbers in the
12 elementary schools than you will at middle schools and
13 high schools because kids at the higher levels will
14 not want to identify themselves as being qualified for
15 the free lunches.
16         Q.   Are you aware that in Colorado it is an
17 averaging of K through 8 to resolve exactly that
18 problem?
19         A.   I think they changed it to that, yes.
20         Q.   I believe you -- well, let me ask it
21 this way.  Excuse me.  You believe that there's an
22 almost one-to-one correlation between free lunch and
23 the number of variables that relate to being at risk,
24 correct?
25         A.   Well, I don't remember the exact
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1 correlation, but there were three variables that the
2 committee reviewed.  It was taken from the '70s -- I'm
3 sorry, 1990 census data.  They were -- it was kids who
4 had graduated from high school, poverty in the
5 district, and et cetera.  There were three of them.
6              And those -- the highest correlation was
7 with -- we tried it with reduced lunches, with free
8 lunches, et cetera, and the highest correlation was
9 with free lunch, yes, and that's why it became the

10 recommended variable.
11         Q.   On Page 9, excuse me, of the same
12 document, there's another recommendation that says,
13 "Given the relationship between property taxes and
14 specific ownership taxes and the equity issues raised
15 by such a relationship, we recommend the general
16 assembly consider some method of equalizing specific
17 ownership taxes."
18              In fact, did the general assembly
19 equalize specific ownership taxes?
20         A.   Yes, because they made it part of the
21 local share, and to the extent you had less of that,
22 you were given a greater State share.  So the effect
23 was to equalize it, yes, and that had been done in the
24 past also at different times, I believe.  It was in
25 and out over many different years.
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1         Q.   You and Mr. Halpern also discussed
2 whether in the various iterations of the act -- and
3 I'll paraphrase here, but whether the amount or base
4 was determined based on any -- to accomplish any
5 particular educational standard.  Do you recall that
6 conversation?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   I believe you talked about that around
9 the 1969 act.  You weren't in the legislature at the

10 time of the '69 act, were you?
11         A.   Was I in the legislature?  I was never
12 in the legislature.  I worked with people in the
13 legislature.
14         Q.   So these questions may sound redundant,
15 but you weren't in the legislature at the time of the
16 '73 act?
17         A.   I was not in the legislature.
18         Q.   Or at the time of the '88 act?
19         A.   No, I was not.
20         Q.   Or at the time of the '94 act?
21         A.   I was not.
22              MR. HEINKE:  One moment, Your Honor?
23              THE COURT:  Yes.
24              (Pause in the proceedings.)
25              MR. HEINKE:  No further questions, Your
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1 Honor.
2              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect?
3              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you, Your Honor.
4                  REDIRECT EXAMINATION
5 BY MR. HALPERN:
6         Q.   Dr. Steinbrecher, can we draw a clear
7 distinction between the concept of finance equity and
8 the concept of a finance system that is geared to
9 accomplish a particular level of student achievement?

10 What are the concerns in equity?
11         A.   Well, concerns in equity -- and it's not
12 only in equity for provision of student education, but
13 equity of taxpayer burden.  Those are generally the
14 two areas that equity is attempted to work on, in
15 other words, providing a similar amount for the
16 education of children, including those factors that
17 may cause cost variations among districts, and then
18 also equity in terms of the burden of taxes paid by
19 citizens to provide that education.
20         Q.   So is it correct that you could have a
21 system that was very equitable under those definitions
22 that bore virtually no relationship to the
23 accomplishment of a particular level of educational
24 quality?
25         A.   Yes.
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1         Q.   Is that what we have?
2         A.   Well, it's a matter of degree, I guess.
3 If the level was so, so low and deficient, that would
4 be obvious.  At the other hand, you've got to climb up
5 and say, "This is what districts are doing.  And is
6 that sufficient?"  And what may be another factor is
7 what changes have occurred over time that have put
8 more demands on school districts and whether or not
9 those levels of support on the adequate side have kept

10 up with those demands for new requirements.
11              So, you know, I've never seen a study
12 done here that would say this is the specific level.
13         Q.   There was some question about that there
14 was no consensus as to the best way to finance
15 accomplishing purposes to support higher education
16 achievement; is that right?  I mean you remember
17 that --
18         A.   Yes.
19         Q.   -- question?  Let me just ask.  Is
20 underfunding, does it have its proponents as a way of
21 accomplishing those purposes?
22         A.   Oh, absolutely.  The debate goes on.  I
23 think Mr. Heinke mentioned Rick Hanushek and his --
24 we've had many debates where two sides debated the
25 issues, one saying yes, the dollars do not make that
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1 much difference, whereas on the other side, showing
2 evidence that yes, dollars do make a difference in
3 children's achievement.  So that's why I questioned
4 whether it was a consensus.  It's hard to reach
5 consensus, which means that the majority of them
6 agree, to me.
7         Q.   What's the -- in terms of accomplishing
8 either an equitable or an adequate financing system,
9 when you, for example, try to take into account

10 at-risk students as a percentage of a base, how does
11 that affect the ability to accomplish a purpose?
12         A.   Well, the general consensus is that kids
13 at risk need additional services, and, therefore, you
14 want to provide an additional factor or additional
15 dollars to meet those needs of that population.  The
16 same is true for children who are handicapped,
17 disabled children, and that wasn't brought up, but the
18 Handicapped Children's Act accomplishes the same type
19 thing, the same for children who are non-English
20 speakers or limited English speakers need additional
21 services.  So you try to accommodate those through
22 either a categorical program or through weighting or
23 increased funding within your finance act.
24         Q.   And when you apply a weight against the
25 base, what's the importance of the base at that point?
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1         A.   Well, the base sets the dollar amount,
2 and what you're doing is you're increasing that
3 amount.
4         Q.   So if the base bears no relationship to
5 the cost of providing an education, how does the
6 application of a percentage assist you in
7 accomplishing anything?
8         A.   Well, it gives you more and it gives you
9 a relative increase cost, take 40 percent more,

10 50 percent more.  It gives you a differentiation, but
11 if the base is not established as something meaningful
12 or appropriate, then you're just adding a percentage
13 on to a number that isn't real meaningful.
14         Q.   You get a percentage of a meaningless
15 number, doesn't assist you in accomplishing attaining
16 a meaningful number?
17         A.   Well, it gives you a few more dollars.
18         Q.   As far as the adequacy of funding to
19 accomplish a particular level of educational quality
20 is concerned, is it not correct, that's governed by
21 the state base component and is really not affected by
22 the state and local share component; is that right?
23         A.   Has no relationship to it other than
24 that's how you provide the money to whatever you've
25 established as your base.
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1         Q.   So if the amount of the State share of
2 funding increases, that in itself doesn't have any
3 effect on accomplishing an adequate funding system; is
4 that correct?
5         A.   No, if you maintain that the base is
6 constant.  If you maintain that the base could be --
7 the locals could increase -- in other words, if you
8 gave more State money in the sharing side of the
9 formula which would cause the effect of reducing

10 significantly property taxes, then maybe the local
11 constituency would be more likely to vote or increase
12 those amounts.  So there's some limited effect, but
13 unless the State allows that local leeway or allows
14 that base to change, then there is no impact from the
15 sharing formula.
16         Q.   In terms of judging the adequacy of a
17 system, would you agree that the critical factor is
18 the total base, not how much comes from the state or
19 how much comes from the local?
20              MR. HEINKE:  I'd object, Your Honor.
21              THE COURT:  It is sustained.
22              MR. HALPERN:  Sorry.
23              THE COURT:  Leading, sustained.
24              MR. HALPERN:  I thought we were --
25              THE COURT:  I don't think he was beyond
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1 the scope in his cross.  You can just rephrase the
2 question.
3              MR. HALPERN:  Of course.
4         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  What, if any, effect
5 on the adequacy of a finance system relative to
6 accomplishing a particular educational goal is the
7 division between the state's share and the local
8 share?
9         A.   Without thinking through it, I don't see

10 any real effect.  The dollars you have available to
11 spend on your education come from the base amount or
12 the amount established by the State.  The sharing only
13 determines who pays.
14         Q.   I'm sorry.  The last part?
15         A.   It only determines who pays.  It does
16 not determine any amount.
17         Q.   When you were looking at the "at risk"
18 definition and determined that it was to be
19 balanced -- that free lunch was a good proxy or the
20 best proxy you could find, what were you using to
21 measure who was at risk?
22         A.   Well, there was -- I'm trying to
23 remember, but there was a review of the literature to
24 determine -- the study -- the legislative council and
25 the committee came up with that says children in these
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1 circumstances are likely to be at risk, meaning they
2 may not graduate, they had trouble learning and
3 keeping up with their peers, they're not reading well.
4 So there were a number of factors that were gained
5 from review of the literature available at the time as
6 to what the variables were that caused the child to be
7 at risk.
8         Q.   And this was in 1993?
9         A.   Yes.

10         Q.   Is it correct that there are currently
11 much better -- there's much better information in the
12 system as to which kind of children would be defined
13 as at risk of failure?
14         A.   I have not really kept up in the last
15 few years, so I probably would not be a good source
16 for that.
17              MR. HALPERN:  One moment, please.
18              (Pause in the proceedings.)
19              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you,
20 Dr. Steinbrecher.  That's all I have.
21              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Recross.
22              MR. HEINKE:  I have nothing, Your Honor.
23 Thank you, Dr. Steinbrecher.
24              THE COURT:  Thank you, Doctor.  You may
25 step down.  Thank you.
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1              Next witness.
2              MR. HALPERN:  Yes.  We call Monte Moses.
3                    MONTE C. MOSES,
4 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or
5 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:
6              THE COURT:  And if you could state your
7 full name and spell both your first and last name for
8 the record.
9              THE WITNESS:  My name is Monte Moses,

10 M-o-n-t-e, first name; last name, Moses, M-o-s-e-s.
11              THE COURT:  Thank you.
12              MR. HALPERN:  I have Exhibit 7002, which
13 is Dr. Moses' resume.
14              MS. WESTON:  No objection.
15              THE COURT:  Is that 7002?
16              MR. HALPERN:  Yes.  And I think Exhibit
17 7000, which is already admitted, has his report in it.
18              MS. WESTON:  No objection.
19              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you.
20              THE COURT:  Both 7002 and 7000 are
21 admitted.
22              (Exhibits 7000 and 7002 were received in
23 evidence.)
24                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
25 BY MR. HALPERN:
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1         Q.   Dr. Moses, would you please give us a
2 summary of your postsecondary educational background?
3         A.   I have a bachelor and master's degree
4 from Stephen F. Austin University in Texas and a Ph.D.
5 from Vanderbilt University.
6         Q.   What is your Ph.D. in?
7         A.   Curriculum leadership.
8         Q.   What is curriculum leadership?
9         A.   It's a program to prepare individuals to

10 take leadership positions in school districts, to lead
11 efforts around curriculum development, instructional
12 applications in classroom, assessments, and so forth.
13         Q.   When did you obtain that degree?
14         A.   1979.
15         Q.   Now, can you give us a brief description
16 of your education-related employment?
17         A.   Yes.  After completing undergraduate --
18 university graduate degree, I was a teacher, and then
19 graduate assistant while I was earning my Ph.D.  Soon
20 after that, I became a professor of education in
21 Kentucky, instructional supervisor and curriculum
22 leader in Casper, Wyoming, principal in Garland,
23 Texas, a suburb of Dallas.  Then moved to Colorado in
24 1987 and was a principal in Littleton, before moving
25 to Cherry Creek School District in 1991, where I was
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1 deputy superintendent and subsequently superintendent.
2         Q.   As deputy -- which years were you deputy
3 superintendent in Cherry Creek?
4         A.   1991 to 1999.
5         Q.   In that position, what were your
6 responsibilities?
7         A.   Primarily to oversee the instructional
8 program, all of the curriculum offerings that we've
9 provided to students, training of teachers, assessment

10 programs, and all related matters to the instructional
11 program as well as to the activities and
12 extracurricular activities that we provided to
13 students.
14         Q.   And which years were you superintendent
15 of schools?
16         A.   1999 until 2008.
17         Q.   And as superintendent, what were your
18 responsibilities?
19         A.   Even broader in that you oversee the
20 instructional program along with another person
21 assigned to that role, but also the financing of the
22 school operations, all of the auxiliary services, such
23 as transportation, food services.  In addition, the
24 human resource dimension of the school district and
25 all other related political and financial affairs.
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1         Q.   Could you give us a brief description of
2 the Cherry Creek School District?
3         A.   At this time, it's a district just over
4 50,000 students that encompasses the southeast area of
5 the Denver metropolitan area.  It's a district that's
6 grown dramatically since its inception in 1950, to
7 that point of being over 50,000 students.  It
8 previously was a homogeneous district that's changed
9 to be a very diverse district over that period of

10 time, and especially during the years I was employed
11 at Cherry Creek, it went through some very major
12 demographic changes that have made the school district
13 very representative of the entire state in terms of
14 its population.
15         Q.   Could you describe that population?
16         A.   Well, the population is right now about
17 60 percent Anglo, a little bit more than 60 percent
18 Anglo, and the rest would be divided between Asian,
19 Hispanic, and African-American students.
20         Q.   How about income?
21         A.   That's changed dramatically too.  When I
22 first arrived in 1981, it was pretty much an affluent
23 school district, whereas now I think a quarter of the
24 students are eligible for free and reduced lunch.
25         Q.   Is it correct that Cherry Creek has a
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1 reputation for being a very high-achieving school
2 district?
3         A.   Yes.
4         Q.   What do you attribute that to?
5         A.   Excellent academic programs with a
6 strong sense of community involvement, parent
7 involvement, a desire from the community to back its
8 school system and help it meet its needs emotionally
9 as well as financially.

10         Q.   And what kind of financial support have
11 you received locally during those years at Cherry
12 Creek?
13         A.   During the time period that I was in
14 Cherry Creek, we had -- we successfully passed four
15 separate budget override elections, '91, '98, 2003,
16 and 2008, which added to what was in the base funding
17 for the -- from the School Finance Act.
18         Q.   And how did -- those mill levy override
19 fundings, how did that assist you in presenting your
20 program there?
21         A.   Well, they were instrumental in being
22 able to provide the quality of program that we wanted
23 in the basics and student achievement as well as the
24 whole core program that in our community's mind
25 included the fine arts, the foreign languages,
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1 activities, athletics, the whole gamut of things that
2 go into developing a well-rounded individual.
3         Q.   Could you give a description of service
4 that you've done on state-level committees?
5         A.   Some of the committees that I've served
6 on have included the P-20 council that Governor Ritter
7 appointed me to work on, which was to align the entire
8 education system in Colorado, preschool through
9 graduate school, essentially.  Also I've served on the

10 curriculum alignment council.  I was appointed to that
11 group by Governor Owens, and that was to align the
12 transition of students from high school into college.
13 I served on the closing the achievement gap
14 commission, also appointed to tat commission by
15 Governor Owens.  That focused on, just as it's stated,
16 the achievement gap in Colorado and possible ways that
17 the State could close that gap.  Those are other
18 groups, but some are the most noteworthy ones I've
19 served on.
20         Q.   And have you received any special
21 professional recognitions?
22         A.   Oh, some, yes.
23         Q.   Would you mind telling us what some of
24 them might have been?
25         A.   Well, one of them I appreciated was I
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1 was named superintendent of the year by the National
2 Association of Education Office Professionals, and
3 that one meant a lot because that comes from
4 secretaries, but I was later named national
5 superintendent of the year in 2005 by my peer group,
6 the American Association of School Administrators, and
7 other awards like that I have received, primarily
8 because I worked in a very good school system.
9         Q.   Thank you.  And since you left the

10 Cherry -- retired from the Cherry Creek schools, have
11 you continued to work in education?
12         A.   I have.  I'm involved as an education
13 consultant with different kinds of projects.
14         Q.   Could you describe for us your -- the
15 background or your knowledge about the goals and
16 implementation of standards-based education in the
17 United States and in Colorado?
18         A.   Well, I think I have a pretty good
19 background on it because I was -- have been intimately
20 involved in those efforts over the past twenty years,
21 especially from that time period of 1987 through 2008,
22 when I came to Colorado and was very involved in those
23 efforts.
24         Q.   And what is your background and
25 knowledge about the goals and development and
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1 implementation of school district accountability in
2 Colorado?
3         A.   Again, I consider myself knowledgeable
4 about how that works.  There are many, many details
5 that continue to evolve that I may not know as much
6 about as some of my counterparts, but I do have a good
7 background in that area, I believe.
8         Q.   And finally, what's your background and
9 knowledge relative to the impact on Colorado schools

10 of the implementation of standards-based education and
11 accountability?
12         A.   I believe I'm knowledgeable about that
13 impact.
14         Q.   That would be in part from having
15 actually lived through it, right?
16         A.   Yes.
17              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, we would offer
18 Dr. Moses as an expert in the goals and development
19 and implementation of standards-based education in
20 Colorado and its effects on school district operations
21 and resources.  Do I hear an objection?
22              MS. WESTON:  If I may voir dire this
23 witness?
24              THE COURT:  Yes.
25               *     *     *     *    *
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1                       VOIR DIRE
2 BY MS. WESTON:
3         Q.   Dr. Moses, you are not a lawyer,
4 correct?
5         A.   That's right.
6         Q.   And you do not hold a law degree?
7         A.   I do not.
8         Q.   And you are not an expert in legal
9 analysis?

10         A.   I am not.
11              MS. WESTON:  We have no objection to the
12 admission of him being an expert on topics listed.
13              THE COURT:  He'll be so accepted.  Thank
14 you.
15              CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
16 BY MR. HALPERN:
17         Q.   Dr. Moses, in your report, you reference
18 three major transformations that have impacted the
19 face of education in your career.  What are those
20 transformations?
21         A.   Well, very briefly, in my career, when I
22 started as a teacher, we were still moving from a
23 system of unequal access for all students to a quality
24 education to one that was endeavoring to provide
25 universal access for all students.  And by that, I
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1 mean even in the '70s, our school systems were still
2 trying to desegregate and to even offer handicapped
3 children the opportunity to go to school in the same
4 places as their peers.  In some instances, they were
5 even sent to totally separate schools without the
6 opportunity to ever mainstream with other young
7 people.
8              These efforts unfortunately even have
9 had to continue up to this date, where they're

10 considered to be desegregation -- I mean segregation
11 of our school systems as well as unequal provisions
12 for handicapped students and non-English-speaking
13 students and women.  Title IX was a major initiative
14 happening in the '70s in trying to provide a level
15 playing field again for all students.  So that first
16 shift or that first major transition was the shift
17 from unequal access to universal access for all
18 students, still going on today.
19              Another major shift was the transition
20 from local control of public education at the
21 community level to far more state control of
22 education, and this again was happening across the
23 country and also accompanied by more federal
24 involvement in dictating terms and conditions of how
25 education would be delivered in local communities.
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1              And then a third transition related to
2 the other two has been the definition of universal
3 proficiency as the ultimate goal for all students, not
4 just some.  Whereas previously the desire was to
5 provide an equal access -- universal access for all
6 students, the shift lately has been to ensure that
7 every student achieves universal proficiency so that
8 every student has a level of attainment that opens
9 doors to career and postsecondary success.

10         Q.   Dr. Moses, I'm going to -- since this
11 document wasn't legible on the screen, I printed it,
12 and it's almost legible in print.
13              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, may I?
14              (Document tendered.)
15              THE COURT:  Thank you.
16         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  This is the
17 demonstrative that was introduced during Dr. Hefty's
18 testimony concerning the standards-based education
19 time line.  My question to you, Dr. Moses, is during
20 this -- could you please describe the development of
21 standards-based education in this country and in this
22 state?
23         A.   Yes.  Well, in my mind, the evolution of
24 standards-based education was really prompted by the
25 Nation At Risk report, and I believe that was issued
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1 in 1983.  It was a commission that was organized by
2 then President Reagan to examine the condition of
3 public education in the country, and this report
4 essentially said that schools and colleges across the
5 country needed to have higher standards and more
6 rigorous demands for students in their school
7 environments and then for their acceptance into higher
8 education and beyond.
9              That led then to a host of new

10 enactments from both the state-level legislature as
11 well as Congress about what kinds of standards should
12 be implemented in our states and then how that would
13 funnel down to the local school districts in terms of
14 curriculum and instruction.  So that was the impetus
15 of it all.
16              And then shortly thereafter, most states
17 were mandated to begin writing standards -- content
18 standards that defined what students should know and
19 be able to do, and then the whole litany of other
20 activities surrounded the definition of those
21 standards.
22         Q.   What are the essential characteristics
23 of a standards-based education?
24         A.   Okay.  To back up, the first definition
25 is the dimension of a content standard.  I would draw
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1 a distinction about a content standard from just a
2 basic curriculum objective that's very discrete.  A
3 content standard is a broader and higher level of
4 definition of what a student should know and be able
5 to do, and that definition would normally entail not
6 just what that student needs to know and be able to do
7 that at grade level but what would ensure their
8 success at the next level of education as well.  So
9 they're broader, more comprehensive, and definitely

10 more rigorous, with higher demands embedded within
11 them.
12              The next part would be a plan of
13 instruction, essentially the curriculum that the
14 students would experience as well as the kind of
15 instruction that would be necessary for them to master
16 that curriculum and ultimately achieve those
17 standards.
18              And then the third element would be a
19 system of assessments to measure how well the students
20 had attained the standards that had been written for
21 that grade level or that course of study.
22         Q.   And what does it mean to say that those
23 are aligned?
24         A.   When the word is used that they're
25 aligned, that there's been a careful examination to
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1 ensure that the curriculum that's written is totally
2 synchronized with what the content standard says and
3 what its true intended outcome should be.  The same
4 would hold true for the assessments in a valid and
5 reliable measure way -- a valid and reliable way,
6 actually measure what the content standard intended.
7         Q.   Content standards, assessments,
8 curriculum, what do these have to do with instruction
9 in the schools?

10         A.   Well, they define what the teacher will
11 be doing with that class of students in that
12 curriculum area.  They're the driving forces which
13 determine what the lesson plans will be and the type
14 of instructional methodology that would be used.
15         Q.   And how do these concepts correspond to
16 the goal of standards-based education to evaluate
17 student achievement?
18         A.   Well, they're all interrelated.  They
19 interact as a whole.  And one part can't be separated
20 from the other and still have a standards-based
21 system.
22         Q.   Prior to the implementation of the
23 Colorado standards-based education system, how did
24 school districts establish the equivalent of a
25 curriculum, content standards, and so forth?
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1         A.   It was done locally with input from the
2 community members.  There would be different task
3 forces at the local level to examine the current
4 curriculum and then determine if it was up to date or
5 needed to be changed to reflect current and
6 contemporary desires.  So it was a local method.
7         Q.   How did you do it in Cherry Creek back
8 then?
9         A.   Again, locally with community members

10 and task forces that would help advise our curriculum
11 experts, and we would also use outside documents that
12 had been prepared by groups like ACT, SAT, the
13 National Council of Teachers in Mathematics and so
14 forth, were regularly going through curriculum reviews
15 that other systems or other groups across the country
16 could use for benchmarking.
17         Q.   Do you know if similar processes were
18 taking place in other districts?
19         A.   I presume they were.  It would be
20 somewhat a function of available resources to have the
21 personnel available to do that in a comprehensive way,
22 however.
23         Q.   Probably still is, right?
24         A.   I would assume so, yes.
25         Q.   Can you give us an overview of how
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1 standards-based education in Colorado grew in extent
2 and in implementation?
3         A.   Yes.  In fact, the time line you
4 provided gives some of the details of what happened.
5 I would say, though, that this is a very sketchy
6 outline and that there were many other intervening
7 activities and legislative mandates being issued
8 concurrently with all of the ones that you mention
9 here, but in general, it started, as I mentioned

10 earlier, from the first step of defining standards,
11 and that was required, I believe, in 1993 by the State
12 of Colorado through the legislature.  And then on this
13 time line, you see that not only were the standards
14 implemented, but also a growing set of assessments to
15 accompany those standards.
16              A good example of the increase in
17 assessments would be that around the time period of
18 1994, 1995, it was projected that the State of
19 Colorado was going to assess students in just a few
20 grade levels on a random sample basis.  So not every
21 student even at the defined grade levels was going to
22 be -- were going to be assessed, by just as soon as
23 the year 2000, all students in grades 3 through 10
24 were going to be assessed in reading, math -- reading,
25 math, and writing, grades 4 and 10 in science, and
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1 every student in the state also was mandated to take
2 the ACT exam.  So in just that short time frame, there
3 was a growing set of new standards as well as
4 assessments to accompany them.
5         Q.   And what was the State role in setting
6 these content standards and assessments?
7         A.   Well, the State did set the content
8 standards and wrote the content standards.  There was
9 a commission.  I forget the name of the commission

10 that was assigned to do that tasks, but the commission
11 by direction of the legislature wrote the standards
12 and then presented them to the State Board of
13 Education, who then subsequently adopted those
14 standards, which have been in place now I believe for
15 about 15 years.
16         Q.   And how about the assessments?
17         A.   The same.  The State had an even larger
18 role to play, I think is the correct way to put it,
19 because the State prepared the assessments with the
20 help of a subcontractor, and that became the Colorado
21 Student Assessment Program, known as CSAP, and also
22 contracted with ACT to do the testing of all students
23 in the eleventh grade.
24         Q.   How did this development -- this
25 progressive development of content standards and the
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1 assessment program impact the curriculum and the
2 implementation of teaching in the schools?
3         A.   Well, over time, it became a very
4 dominating force in what the curriculum became because
5 the consequences for students not doing as well as
6 everyone might hoped they would do became more severe.
7 And so the school districts -- I assume other school
8 districts were like Cherry Creek, that we focused more
9 and more what was in the content standards, what

10 needed to be taught to align with the assessments, so
11 the students could do as well as they could possibly
12 do.
13              It also had effect of unfortunately
14 squeezing some other things that may be valued but
15 didn't relate as much to what was on those
16 assessments.
17         Q.   What kind of things would you be
18 referring to?
19         A.   Well, there's less time to explore, say,
20 all of the science or social studies curriculum that
21 might be of interest to students at a particular age
22 versus what's on the test itself.  The same might be
23 true -- I know it's true for the type of reading
24 activities that you might have for a student, that
25 those needed to pertain to a kind of comprehension for
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1 the kind that was tested on the CSAP program.
2              There are also pressures that our school
3 district felt and I'm sure others did around the state
4 about how to keep your foreign language programs as
5 active as they had been, your fine arts programs so
6 that they were equally important as to the students as
7 were the core subjects.
8         Q.   Dr. Moses, beyond students' achievement
9 on a standardized test, what are the goals of public

10 education that you attempted -- that you were
11 attempting to implement?
12         A.   Well, besides strong background in the
13 basics, we wanted a student who had strong citizenship
14 characteristics.  After all, that's a driving force in
15 the whole evolution of our public school system here
16 in Colorado as well as nationally.  An appreciation of
17 fine arts, an appreciation of people from different
18 backgrounds, an ability to interact in a socially
19 positive way, an appreciation of the cultures around
20 our nation and the whole world.
21              So it's -- I guess a way to define it
22 would be a well-rounded, wholesome person, some of
23 which is measured by an achievement test, and some is
24 not.
25         Q.   Can you also describe the parallel
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1 development and implementation of school
2 accountability and accreditation during this period of
3 time?
4         A.   It went hand in hand.  The
5 accountability and accreditation activities went hand
6 in hand with the standards-based education model;
7 because without an accountability system, the
8 assessments really don't mean a lot.  And so these
9 accountability aspects were incorporated almost

10 concurrently with the assessment aspects of our
11 standards-based education system.
12         Q.   When you say without an accountability
13 system, the assessments don't really mean a lot,
14 what's your -- what are you getting at?
15         A.   Well, a way of having consequences for
16 schools and districts that fail to perform to an
17 expected standard.  Otherwise, it would just be a
18 relative measure and not really have any meaning
19 outside of what a previous norm reference test measure
20 would have given you, which is what we use to measure
21 student progress before we had the state system.
22         Q.   What's a norm reference system?
23         A.   A norm reference system is where a
24 student's performance is compared on a numerical basis
25 to all other students in that same cohort.  You might

685

1 remember a graduate -- I would suppose your LSAT score
2 was probably at the 99th percentile.
3         Q.   That's just because there wasn't a
4 higher one.
5         A.   But a student would be rated from
6 anywhere from the 1st to the 99th percentile based on
7 comparison within that cohort, not in relation to how
8 many standards he or she may have met.  So that's the
9 difference between a norm referenced test versus one

10 that's a standards-based exam.
11         Q.   Looking at the time line, in 2000, I
12 think we have the adoption of SB 186.  And do you
13 recall how that ties school district ratings with
14 student performance?
15         A.   Yes, I do.  That particular legislation
16 required that every school in the state receive a
17 school accountability report, and the initial reports
18 graded every school on an A, B, C, D, or F basis which
19 soon transitioned to excellent, good -- I forget all
20 the terminology -- average, all the way down to
21 unsatisfactory.  And it also had a grade for whether
22 the student -- the school was improving or measured to
23 be in decline according to CSAP scores.
24         Q.   So the CSAP scores were the basis for
25 the ratings?
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1         A.   Yes.
2         Q.   And what was the effect or what were the
3 sanctions for a school district that was failing or,
4 you know, F or D, whatever?
5         A.   Well, for those schools, they could be
6 taken over, essentially totally reconstituted as
7 charter schools for failure to improve for the an
8 allotted period of time that was written within that
9 statute.

10         Q.   Earlier, you spoke about the
11 transformation -- the transition to a universal
12 proficiency.  How does universal -- had you did
13 universal proficiency -- what do you mean by universal
14 proficiency?  Let's just started there.
15         A.   Well, that means every student meeting a
16 predefined standard as measured by a particular
17 assessment.  So, in other words, it's saying every
18 student has to score a particular score or above on a
19 test in order to be perceived or rated as proficient.
20         Q.   And how is that different from the
21 educational goals that preceded it?
22         A.   I'd say the major difference is this:
23 That previously there was a desire and an expectation
24 that every student ideally would make a year of growth
25 for every year from wherever they began, and that
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1 schools would endeavor to ensure that that growth over
2 time would enable a student to be read for the next
3 undertaking after high school.
4              On the other hand, a system of universal
5 proficiency said something very different.  It says
6 everyone is going to arrive at the same destination,
7 irrespective of where they begin the journey.  So for
8 some students, that might mean a very accelerated
9 amount of growth in a school year in order to meet

10 that level of proficiency as defined by an external
11 group.
12         Q.   Proficiency doesn't mean proficiency at
13 the end.  It includes proficiency along the way?
14         A.   At each grade level in the sense of
15 what's expected in today's contemporary methodology of
16 standards-based reform and education.
17              MR. HALPERN:  Your Honor, I'm about to
18 move into something that may -- this might --
19              THE COURT:  That would be great.  I have
20 to do a swearing-in, so that would be great.  Thank
21 you.  Let's take a little bit longer because I have to
22 do a Grand Jury swearing in.  Let's do quarter of 11,
23 so that's about 25 minutes.  So we'll be in recess
24 until then.
25              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you.
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1              (Recess taken, 10:19 a.m. to 10:48 a.m.)
2              THE COURT:  Dr. Moses, resume the stand.
3 You're still under oath, of course.  Thank you.
4         Q.   (BY MR. HALPERN)  Dr. Moses, could you
5 describe -- you've spoken about the universal
6 proficiency standard.  Could you describe how and when
7 that came into place?
8         A.   The passage of the No Child Left Behind
9 Act in 2001, I believe, was a major impetus behind

10 that concept.  That law -- that federal law required
11 all students to reach a certain level of proficiency
12 by the year 2014, and within the time period between
13 the enaction of the law and 2014, gains had to be made
14 by individual schools and districts in order to
15 make -- meet a concept called adequate yearly progress
16 as every student moved hypothetically toward that
17 ultimate benchmark of universal proficiency.  Colorado
18 ultimately adopted that plan as part of the -- I think
19 it was called Colorado Consolidated Plan in the next
20 year, in 2002.
21         Q.   Between the 100 percent proficiency goal
22 and adequate yearly progress benchmarks, what's been
23 the effect on the way the school districts provide
24 educational services?
25         A.   Well, that upped the ante even more
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1 beyond what the initial standards-based requirements
2 had been in Colorado to a realization that there were
3 going to be even more potential consequences for
4 schools and districts not attaining that adequate
5 yearly progress as well as meeting the accreditation
6 standards and the public perception of how well you
7 were doing on the school accountability reports.
8              So at that time, it actually emerged
9 that there were three different sorts of

10 accountability systems happening all at the same time,
11 where in fact you could be rated pretty good on one of
12 them and really bad on another.  And that still seems
13 to be the case today.  So that caused schools and
14 districts to take a huge step forward in terms of
15 focusing most of their energies on accomplishing the
16 adequate yearly progress goals as well as the goals of
17 the other accountability systems.
18         Q.   And what's the concept of disaggregated
19 groups implemented through No Child Left Behind?
20         A.   Well, very important concept.  In order
21 to meet the name of No Child Left Behind, the concept
22 was to measure not just the aggregate student
23 performance but to disaggregate by ethnicity as well
24 as socioeconomic status and measure whether those
25 students in those sub categories were making the
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1 progress necessary to be at a proficient level before
2 2014 came along.
3              What that meant is school districts that
4 had more diverse students had far more many -- had far
5 more targets required to meet than school districts
6 that had fewer amounts of students who were in those
7 demographic categories.
8         Q.   When we say there's an AYP target,
9 adequate yearly progress target, for a year, how are

10 those targets defined?  What was a target?
11         A.   Well, a target would be in reading, for
12 example, a certain score required for students to
13 meet, say, in fifth grade.  In order to be above that
14 benchmark was considered proficient or on par to be at
15 a proficient level by the time 2014 came around.  And
16 then there were targets for such of those subgroups as
17 well, and those could vary.
18         Q.   And AYP is a percentage target?
19         A.   It's a raw target in terms of the cut
20 score, but in terms of a percentage, yes, you're
21 supposed to increase the percentage of students during
22 certain periods of time as they move toward the date
23 of 2014, when it is mandated that it be 100 percent of
24 students -- all students meeting that performance
25 level and every subgroup as well.  And without doing
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1 so, schools will come under different sanctions for
2 failure to meet that target.
3         Q.   You were the superintendent of Cherry
4 Creek Schools.  Has Cherry Creek been able to meet the
5 AYP standards?
6         A.   Not as a district.
7         Q.   And what was the problem?
8         A.   Primarily that there were about 150
9 targets that Cherry Creek was required to meet each

10 year, and that's a rough amount.  It may vary somewhat
11 from year to year as more requirements are put in
12 place, but I think 150 is probably a pretty accurate
13 estimate.  With some of the subgroups that I
14 mentioned, Hispanic, non-English speaking learners,
15 for example, that was a category that in some cases
16 Cherry Creek was not making adequate yearly progress,
17 and the same would hold true for some of the
18 individual schools within the district as well.
19         Q.   What has been the effect of the
20 universal proficiency transition on the way that
21 school districts apply their resources?
22         A.   Very major impact.  I'll list a few of
23 the ways.  One of the first ways is the cost of simply
24 being in compliance.  There is an enormous amount of
25 effort required to prove that you're doing all of the
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1 things that are in the state and federal mandates and
2 laws.  A second category with that is curriculum
3 alignment.  We discussed this earlier, but there's a
4 necessity in a high-stakes environment like this of
5 ensuring that everything is aligned between the
6 curriculum and the instructional program and the
7 assessments and the teacher knows exactly how that
8 works.  Each and every teacher has responsibility for
9 instructing kids in one of these subject areas.

10              Additional programs.  Additional
11 programs are needed -- greatly needed, for example, by
12 students who don't speak English.  They are under the
13 same requirements of adequate yearly progress and
14 ultimately 100 percent proficiency as every other
15 student.  So move them forward that benchmark requires
16 extra assistance.  The same would be true of special
17 education students and other students who may be at
18 risk for a variety of reasons.
19              Beyond that, materials are needed to
20 help students from all these different backgrounds
21 make the progress that is necessary to arrive at that
22 destination.  Beyond that, there's personnel
23 compensation.  We had in Cherry Creek a lot of
24 pressure coming from our employees, asking for
25 increased compensation because of the additional
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1 duties being foisted upon them in their minds from the
2 standards initiatives in Colorado as well as the
3 federal initiatives.
4              And then, of course, staff training.  In
5 a district like Cherry Creek where there are 2 to 300
6 at least new teachers every year, staff training is a
7 major undertaking as well as keeping your current
8 employees up to date and then training all of them in
9 the new requirements that seem to be never-ending.

10              So there's a lot of resource
11 implications, and I just listed some of them, but
12 those are the ones that stick out in my mind anyway.
13         Q.   And do these resource demands affect the
14 amount of funding required by school districts?
15         A.   In my mind, they do.
16         Q.   How so?
17         A.   Well, in order to do all the things that
18 I just mentioned, there's really a huge amount of
19 mandates and expectations embedded in all of those
20 things.  My view is an expectation of universal
21 proficiency and moving from a model of universal
22 access to universal proficiency in most people's minds
23 would require additional resources if you want to take
24 a step that's that major.
25              In a goal format, I think it's a great
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1 step, but it needs to be backed with the resources --
2 the adequate resources necessary to achieve that goal.
3 I would equate it to sort of a space program.  It's
4 one thing to put a person into space, but it's another
5 thing to put a person on Mars and bring that person
6 back safely.  And in this metaphor, we're saying we're
7 not only going to do that for one person, our
8 expectation is everybody will go and everybody will
9 come back safely.  So that's sort of metaphorically

10 how I thought about it, and there was certainly a need
11 for more resources to accomplish a task of that
12 magnitude.
13         Q.   Has the school finance system responded
14 to the need for increased resources by school
15 districts?
16         A.   I don't think it had.  I just think it
17 continued to operate as it did prior to the adoption
18 of new reforms in relation to standards, assessments,
19 accountability, et cetera.
20         Q.   And what's been the effect of this
21 unresponsiveness?
22         A.   Well, the effect is that school
23 districts are faced each day and each week and each
24 year with splitting money among many priorities, and
25 so I think it's led to a diminishment of a lot of
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1 things that are good for kids not getting the
2 attention that they deserve, plus in my opinion there
3 isn't enough money to even do the basics of the
4 reforms that are required in a good way.  Sure,
5 everyone is going to work on them the best that they
6 can, but I don't believe they're anywhere near
7 adequate to get us to that destination that's been
8 enacted and approved through legislative and federal
9 action.

10         Q.   You retired in 2008, right?
11         A.   Yes.
12         Q.   So the testimony you're giving now
13 refers actually to the time before the series of
14 budget cuts to the economic, is that --
15         A.   That's correct.
16         Q.   What has been the effect -- taking into
17 account the standards-based education system and so
18 forth, the funding testimony you've just given, what
19 has been the effect on the ability of local districts
20 to control instruction in the schools?
21         A.   It's been compromised dramatically.  The
22 control of standards, for example, as a state function
23 today, where it used to be a local function, and that
24 in itself has had a cascading effect where all of the
25 instructional programs, assessment programs,
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1 accountability programs are now prescribed by the
2 State and the federal government to the extent that
3 local determination of these matters has essentially
4 been eroded, substantially eroded.
5         Q.   From your experience and understanding
6 of the progressive implementation of these systems,
7 what does the future look like for public educators?
8         A.   I think it'll be very difficult.  I
9 can't see many school districts ultimately making AYP

10 by the year 2014 in this state.  Maybe a few will that
11 are small and very homogeneous, but even that will be
12 difficult when you're talking about 100 percent
13 measurement for all students and every subgroup as
14 well.  And with that will come according to the
15 provisions in the state and federal laws many
16 sanctions and an eroding, in my opinion, of confidence
17 in local -- that local communities have in their
18 public schools, to some degree unjustified, I believe,
19 as well.
20              MR. HALPERN:  Thank you, Dr. Moses.
21              THE COURT:  Yes, Counsel.
22                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
23 BY MR. HINOJOSA:
24         Q.   Good afternoon, Dr. Moses, maybe a
25 little before noon.  You've spoke a lot about AYP and
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1 100 percent proficiency this morning, and I just
2 wanted to clarify.  When we're talking about the state
3 standards, state proficiency standards, those
4 standards apply to all students in the State of
5 Colorado, correct?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   And so even without AYP requiring
8 100 percent proficiency, under the state law and
9 mandates, all students -- districts are required to

10 provide the educational services for all students so
11 that they can meet proficiency, correct?
12         A.   That's true, and demonstrate growth in
13 those particular subject areas according to the
14 accreditation system that's in place in Colorado.
15              MR. HINOJOSA:  That's all.
16              THE COURT:  Cross-examination.
17                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
18 BY MS. WESTON:
19         Q.   During your employment at Cherry Creek
20 School District, the district was recognized for its
21 high performance, correct?
22         A.   Yes.
23         Q.   And it enhanced its reputation as one of
24 the nation's best school systems, correct?
25         A.   In my mind, yes.

698

1         Q.   And it was recognized for closing the
2 achievement gap?
3         A.   In some areas, yes.
4         Q.   And it recorded the highest academic
5 performance in its history?
6         A.   On -- especially on college admissions
7 tests and measures like advanced placement exams and
8 percentage of students taking those exams.
9         Q.   You recognize, don't you, that there can

10 be a value in assessments in standards?
11         A.   Absolutely.
12         Q.   In fact, while you were deputy
13 superintendent at Cherry Creek School District, you
14 implemented the proficiencies project, correct?
15         A.   Yes.
16         Q.   And proficiencies project established
17 high standards and challenging assessments for all
18 students?
19         A.   Yes.
20         Q.   And you did this to enhance student
21 achievement?
22         A.   Correct.
23         Q.   And in your current capacity as an
24 education consultant, you've never consulted with a
25 district whose parent community didn't have high
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1 aspirations for their children?
2         A.   I have not.
3         Q.   And you believe that the education
4 system recognizes the value of assessments and
5 standards?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   And during your time as superintendent
8 of Cherry Creek School District, the district was
9 subject to increased state accountability, correct?

10         A.   Yes.
11         Q.   And the district met those challenges of
12 increased state accountability, correct?
13         A.   Yes, by and large.
14              MS. WESTON:  That's all the questions I
15 have.
16              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect?
17              MR. HALPERN:  None, Your Honor.
18              THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may
19 step down.  Thank you.
20              Next witness.
21              MS. GEBHARDT:  Good morning, Your Honor.
22 The Plaintiffs would call Dr. Elliott Asp, please.
23                      ELLIOT ASP,
24 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or
25 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:
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1              THE COURT:  And once you're seated, if
2 you could state your name and spell both your first
3 and last name for the record.
4              THE WITNESS:  My name is Elliott Asp,
5 it's E-l-l-i-o-t, and A-s-p is the last name.  Thank
6 you.
7                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
8 BY MS. GEBHARDT:
9         Q.   Good morning, Dr. Asp.

10         A.   Good morning.
11         Q.   Could you please tell us your current
12 position?
13         A.   I'm assistant superintendent for
14 performance improvement in Cherry Creek schools.
15         Q.   And what does that position involve?
16         A.   I supervise a variety of departments,
17 including professional development, curriculum
18 assessment, and evaluation and our excellence in
19 equity work.  In the past, I've supervised the chief
20 information officer as well as the communications
21 office.
22              MS. GEBHARDT:  Your Honor, if I might
23 approach?
24              THE COURT:  Yes.
25              (Document tendered.)
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1              THE COURT:  Thank you.
2         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  I've put on the Elmo,
3 Doctor, a copy of Plaintiffs' Trial Exhibit 9410.
4 I've also handed you and the judge a copy of that.  Do
5 you recognize this?
6         A.   I do.
7         Q.   And what is it, please?
8         A.   It's my resume.
9         Q.   How long have you been involved in

10 public education, Dr. Asp?
11         A.   About 38 years.
12         Q.   And can you -- before we get to your
13 employment history, talk to us a little about your
14 education background, please.
15         A.   Yes, I have a bachelor's degree the
16 University of Colorado in biology, and master's degree
17 from the University of Northern Colorado in curriculum
18 instruction and a Ph.D. from Pennsylvania State
19 University in educational administration.
20         Q.   And without going through lots of detail
21 of your almost 40 years in public education, can you
22 give us a brief summary of what you've done in public
23 education, please?
24         A.   Began as a science teacher in Air
25 Academy Schools down in Colorado Springs.  I also
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1 worked for several years as a curriculum developer for
2 biological sciences curriculum study, which is
3 associated with the University of Colorado.  I was a
4 graduate assistant at Pennsylvania State University
5 when I was working on my Ph.D., and I did -- worked on
6 a variety of research projects and also taught a
7 number of classes and was able to participate in a
8 number of writing projects.
9              I was then assistant professor at the

10 University of California Riverside and then became an
11 assistant principal at a middle school in District 20
12 again.  Then I moved to Littleton Public Schools,
13 where I was in charge of curriculum and assessment for
14 Littleton.  Then I moved to Douglas County Schools,
15 where I split my time being a director of assessment
16 in Douglas County and being in charge of an
17 organization we call the Colorado Assessment
18 Consortium, and then eventually I became an assistant
19 superintendent for research in Douglas County.  And
20 then I moved to Cherry Creek Schools in my current
21 position.
22         Q.   Does your resume contain a copy of some
23 of your publications on Page 3?
24         A.   Yeah.
25         Q.   So have you published in the area of
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1 assessment, Dr. Asp?
2         A.   Yes, I have.
3         Q.   And have you made presentations in the
4 area of assessment?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   And those are represented on Page 4?
7         A.   4 and 5, 4, 5, and 6.
8         Q.   Are you a member and have you been
9 members of any boards and commissions related to

10 assessments?
11         A.   Yes, I have.
12         Q.   Can you identify those for us, please?
13         A.   They're presented on Page 7, but I'll
14 highlight a couple.  I was appointed by Governor Romer
15 to the Standards and Assessments Development and
16 Implementation Council, or SADI Council.  This council
17 was responsible for developing the original content
18 standards that were put into statute with House Bill
19 1313 in 1993, and then we were also responsible for
20 developing assessment -- the assessment plan to assess
21 those standards.
22              I was also part of several other panels.
23 For example, I'm on the technical advisory committee
24 for the Colorado Student Assessment Program, our CSAP
25 currently.  Again, appointed by the commissioner
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1 there, commissioner of education.  I was appointed by
2 the Governor to the technical advisory panel for the
3 longitudinal growth model, and I was also appointed by
4 the Governor to the P-20 education council where I
5 chaired the data and accountability subcommittee.
6         Q.   So in your work on these boards and
7 commissions, can you just explain a little bit about
8 your role in developing and monitoring CSAP?
9         A.   In the SADI council, for example, we

10 spent a lot of time talking about how and when various
11 content standards in subject areas would be assessed.
12 We helped work on development of the RFP, request for
13 proposal, for the CSAP itself.  On the CSAP technical
14 advisory committee, we review on a biyearly basis the
15 performance of the CSAP from a technical point of view
16 and also offer advice to both the contractor and
17 Colorado Department of Education on not only the
18 technical aspects of the CSAP but also about how those
19 results should be applied and future direction for the
20 CSAP.
21              And on the technical advisory panel for
22 the growth model, I played a role in developing
23 some -- this is actually before then.  I played a role
24 in developing the legislation that brought the growth
25 model into being, and then I've worked with a variety
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1 of colleagues on how that growth model is used and how
2 the results are portrayed and even this panel is used
3 as a sounding board for the development of
4 accountability models using CSAP and the Colorado
5 Growth Model.
6         Q.   And are you serving presently on any
7 boards or commissions related to assessment in
8 Colorado?
9         A.   I'm still on the technical advisory

10 committee for CSAP, and I'm also on technical advisory
11 panel for the growth model.
12              MS. GEBHARDT:  Your Honor, at this time,
13 I would move for the admission of Trial Exhibit 9410,
14 please.
15              THE COURT:  Any objection?
16              MS. MARKEL:  No, Your Honor.
17              THE COURT:  9410 will be admitted.
18              (Exhibit 9410 was received in evidence.)
19              MS. GEBHARDT:  And also at this time,
20 Your Honor, I would move to have Dr. Asp qualified as
21 an expert in issues related to assessment and
22 accountability.
23              THE COURT:  Any voir dire or objection?
24              MS. MARKEL:  No objection, Your Honor.
25              THE COURT:  Thank you.  He'll be
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1 accepted as an expert in those areas.
2         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  Now, Dr. Asp, in
3 connection with your work as an expert in this care,
4 did you prepare a report?
5         A.   Yes, I did.
6              MS. GEBHARDT:  If I might again
7 approach, Your Honor.
8              THE COURT:  Yes.
9              (Document tendered.)

10              THE COURT:  Thank you.
11         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  Now, Dr. Asp, you've
12 been handed trial Exhibit 9400; is that correct?
13         A.   That's correct.
14         Q.   Can you identify that, please?
15         A.   Yes.  It's a report I prepared in
16 preparation for my deposition.
17              MS. GEBHARDT:  Your Honor, at this time,
18 I would move for admission of 9400.
19              THE COURT:  Yes.  Any objection?
20              MS. MARKEL:  No objection.
21              THE COURT:  9400 will be admitted.
22              (Exhibit 9400 was received in evidence.)
23         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT) Dr. Asp, can you
24 explain, please, the role of assessment in a
25 standards-based education system, please?
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1         A.   I'd like to use the easel if that's
2 permissible.
3         Q.   Sure.
4              MS. GEBHARDT:  Is that all right, Your
5 Honor?
6              THE COURT:  Yes.
7         A.   I'll talk from here.  Dr. Moses talked
8 about this earlier, but assessment plays three key
9 roles in a standards-based system in particular.  It

10 serves an accountability measure.  It provides
11 feedback to teachers and students about their progress
12 in meeting the standards, and it also defines what the
13 standards really mean because until assessment comes
14 into play, the standards are just words on a piece of
15 paper until we determine what evidence will accept
16 that a student has met these standards.
17              So in a classroom, it kind of looks like
18 this.  If you think about this square representing a
19 standards-based system, or rectangle, I guess, and you
20 have three big components here; curriculum, what you
21 teach -- remember that Dr. Moses articulated the
22 difference between a content standards, which is a
23 broad statement of what students should all be able to
24 do versus a varied curriculum that they teach to get
25 kids to be able to meet that standard.  So curriculum
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1 is what I teach.
2              Another big component is instruction
3 power, which is what activities and other type things
4 I do in the classroom to help students learn the
5 curriculum, eventually meet the standard.
6              And then there's also a piece about
7 assessment, in other words, how am I going to know if
8 they got there or not.  In a standards-based system,
9 these interact all the time in this kind of way.

10 Ultimately my job -- and I don't mean this in a
11 cynical way of teaching just to a test.  My jobs as a
12 teacher in a standards-based system is to help
13 students do well on those measures that we all accept
14 as evidence that the student has met the standard.
15              So in some sense, part of instruction is
16 based on the assessment.  So if there's a writing --
17 particular writing assessment that a student has to do
18 well on, part of what I'm doing in instruction is
19 using that assessment in instructional activity,
20 teaching them how to do well on that piece.  At the
21 same time, that informs the curriculum.
22              So these are overlapping in a very
23 interesting and interactive way so that the
24 assessment -- instruction sometimes looks like
25 assessment.  Curriculum sometimes looks like the
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1 assessment as well.  So they're all bonded together.
2 It gives assessment in a standards-based system
3 particularly a great deal of power for helping people
4 understand what these standards really mean and what
5 they need to do to help students to meet those
6 standards.
7         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  Thank you, Dr. Asp.
8 Are there various ways to look at the validity or the
9 intended use of assessments?

10         A.   When we talk about assessments, people
11 often talk about the technical aspects of them.
12 You've heard terms like "reliability" and "validity"
13 mentioned.  Validity refers to essentially in a
14 technical sense whether or not the assessment measures
15 what it's supposed to measure; if it's measuring
16 reading, does it measure reading.  The reliability
17 part refers to whether or not you get consistent
18 scores over time or if there's something wrong with
19 the assessment so that the student doesn't interpret
20 the questions in the same way and so on each time they
21 take it.
22              But there's whole another aspect of
23 validity that's emerged in the literature over the
24 last 10 or 15 years but is even more important in a
25 standards-based system, and that has to do with the
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1 inferences that are made on students' scores in the
2 assessments.  So besides the technical quality, which
3 whether -- and even psychometricians would say this
4 inference part is wrapped up in the technical quality
5 as well, but if you -- for example, if you said I'm
6 not going to let a student graduate from high school
7 unless they scored a certain level on the CSAP, you
8 have to justify -- to make that test valid, you have
9 to justify that you're making an inference that they

10 can't do well unless they -- after high school or
11 they're not eligible to leave high school or go on to
12 college or some other postsecondary training based on
13 a score on that test.
14              So what's wrapped up in this idea of
15 validity is what use you make of the test and whether
16 there's a valid inference or a valid use based on the
17 assessment.
18         Q.   Can you define accountability, please?
19         A.   Probably in a nutshell in a
20 standards-based system is whether or not are students
21 making progress in the meeting the standards that have
22 been established in the system, but I could take that
23 a little bit farther and say there's a variety of ways
24 to determine how well a school or a district is doing
25 in moving students towards standards.
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1         Q.   And has the State of Colorado helped
2 define accountability?
3         A.   Yes, they have in very specific ways,
4 and that has -- the specificity of accountability has
5 increased over time as our standards-based has
6 evolved.
7              MS. GEBHARDT:  Again, if I might
8 approach, Your Honor.
9              THE COURT:  Yes.

10              MS. GEBHARDT:  We have Plaintiffs' Trial
11 Exhibit 10443.  It's the report we talked about last
12 night.
13              (Document tendered.)
14              THE COURT:  Thank you.
15              THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
16         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  Dr. Asp, can you
17 please identify Exhibit 10443, please?
18         A.   Yes, this is a memo that was sent
19 yesterday afternoon or at least we received it from
20 Cherry Creek from the commissioner of education in
21 which she lays out the changes and time lines for
22 accountability measures in Colorado for the upcoming
23 school year.
24         Q.   And could you turn to the third page of
25 that, please, and tell us what you see on that page?
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1         A.   This is the time line for a variety of
2 activities around the various components of state
3 accountability in Colorado, laying out the
4 responsibilities of the Colorado Department of
5 Education as well as responsibilities for districts
6 and schools in some cases.
7         Q.   And are these voluntary compliance or
8 are these mandatory?
9         A.   These are mandatory.

10         Q.   So how is the accountability system used
11 to measure the education system?
12         A.   It's based on CSAP scores and two ways
13 of looking at CSAP scores.  One is what's the overall
14 level of proficiency or what percentage of students in
15 a school or a district have met standards in various
16 subject areas, and then there's also another component
17 that's based on Colorado Growth Model, in which
18 student's growth from one year to the next in a
19 subject area is based on comparison of their academic
20 peers.  Another way to say that is if you're in fourth
21 grade and you scored a certain level on CSAP, your
22 growth is compared to other students across the state
23 at the fourth-grade level.  It's a little bit more
24 complex than that, but I think that makes a point.  So
25 those two ways of looking at performance on CSAP are
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1 combined in a fairly complex way in something called
2 the School Performance Framework for schools and
3 another one called a District Performance Framework
4 for districts.
5              The State has also identified recently
6 in recent legislation a set of performance indicators
7 that are now uniform across the state that are
8 incorporated into these two rating systems that I
9 talked about.  Those factors are performance on CSAP,

10 as I said earlier, and overall growth of students, but
11 then there's a piece around academic growth gaps in
12 which the groups of various subgroups is examined, and
13 they're similar -- in fact, they are the same
14 subgroups that Dr. Moses referred to around the No
15 Child Left Behind Act, and then there's a third
16 overall performance indicator around postsecondary and
17 work force readiness which is based on ACT scores and
18 dropout and graduation rates at high school.
19         Q.   Let's go back to the very beginning of
20 CSAP.  What does it stand for?
21         A.   Colorado Student Assessment Program.
22         Q.   And approximately when was it developed?
23         A.   The first CSAP tests were given in 1997
24 in fourth-grade reading and writing.
25         Q.   And how were they developed?
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1         A.   These -- there was an RFP put out as a
2 result of the standards-based education act of 1993,
3 in which various contractors responded, and
4 CTB/McGraw-Hill was the contractor that was selected.
5 And their job was to develop a set of items that
6 measured the content standards, but involved in that
7 process were teachers and content experts and in some
8 cases parents from across the state who helped or at
9 least helped revise items.  And each time a test came

10 on board, CSAP kind of ruled out over time as we saw
11 in the time line presented earlier.  So what --
12         Q.   And did you have a role in any of that
13 development process?
14         A.   Yes, I did.
15         Q.   And what was that role?
16         A.   I served in a couple different
17 capacities.  Every time a draft assessment was
18 developed, say, reading in fourth grade, there were
19 several review panels in which the items could be
20 reviewed for bias and for technical quality, they'd be
21 reviewed for instructional impact, they'd be reviewed
22 for bias against certain groups and then a special
23 education review panel.  I served on several of those
24 panels and coordinated those.
25              I also participated in the standards
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1 setting of reading and writing -- the fourth-grade
2 writing and reading tests, and I facilitated the
3 reading and writing standards setting because there's
4 two kind of standards that we are really talking about
5 here that I probably should just distinguish between.
6 One is content standards, what you want students know
7 and be able to do.  Another one is performance
8 standards, how good do they have to perform on the
9 CSAP test to be proficient or reach some other level

10 of --
11         Q.   So before we get to those standards, can
12 you at least explain what the different levels are in
13 the CSAP?
14         A.   That are four different performance
15 levels; unsatisfactory, partially proficient,
16 proficient, and advanced.
17         Q.   What do those indicate, Dr. Asp?
18         A.   If you score at the proficient or
19 advanced level, you either met, in the case of
20 proficient, or advanced, exceeded the state standards
21 for that subject area in that grade level.  If you're
22 partially proficient, you're approaching the
23 proficiency level or meeting the standard.  If you're
24 unsatisfactory, you're way below where you need to be
25 at that grade level and subject.
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1         Q.   And before we go on to how you set
2 those, can you briefly just talk about which tests are
3 given in Colorado, please, CSAP tests?
4         A.   In Colorado, CSAP is given in reading,
5 writing, and math in grades 3 through 10, and in
6 science in grades 5, 8, and 10.  And then ACT is also
7 a part, although it doesn't sound like it.  The
8 Colorado Student Assessment Program, and it's for
9 all -- all eleventh graders are required to take the

10 test.
11         Q.   And what is the CELA test, C-E-L-A?
12         A.   It's the Colorado English Language
13 Acquisition test, which assesses how much progress
14 students have made in acquiring English as part of our
15 educational program.
16         Q.   And are all students with disabilities
17 required to take the CSAP?
18         A.   In some sense.  They're required to
19 participate in the testing program, but not all
20 students can actually access the CSAP test.  So they
21 take something -- they take an alternate CSAP or an
22 CSAPA, in which the test is modified to a degree to
23 allow those students -- allow us to understand what
24 kind of progress those students are making towards
25 standards.
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1         Q.   So are all students in those grade
2 levels that you've identified required to take the
3 CSAP?
4         A.   They're required to take --
5         Q.   Or one version of it?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   Can you go back when you were talking
8 about content standards and performance standards and
9 explain that?

10         A.   Well, performance standards is how good
11 is good enough to be proficient.  It's very
12 interesting process by how those are set.
13         Q.   And can you explain that, please?
14         A.   Yes.  We use a process here -- almost
15 every standards setting process, whether it's the bar
16 exam or the accounting exam and so on, is based on
17 bringing people together to reach some consensus about
18 how well they have to perform on the assessment that's
19 being used to judge whether or not folks have learned
20 the material that they're supposed to know to be able
21 to -- whether it's in a profession or whether it's to
22 meet a standard.
23              The process was developed basically by a
24 professor in North Carolina named Angoff.  And so a
25 variety --
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1         Q.   Can you spell that, please?
2         A.   A-n-g-o-f-f.  And almost every one of
3 these standards-setting processes is a modified Angoff
4 approach.  Well, in Colorado, we use a process
5 developed by a researcher at CTB/McGraw-Hill called
6 Bookmarking, and it's a little different version of
7 the Angoff process.  Actually, when I was a director
8 of assessment in Douglas County, we piloted that
9 process in Douglas County.  We directed it with some

10 help from CTB.  Essentially how it works is we brought
11 together people -- let's say in fourth-grade reading,
12 brought together teachers, experts, in some cases
13 parents and community members together, and we gave
14 them a book; and essentially it's each item on the
15 CSAP test from the easiest item, meaning most kids got
16 it right, to the most difficult item, fewest kids got
17 it right.  And we do a little discussion of the
18 standards, kind of try to unpack it a little bit, and
19 then individually we walk through this book.
20              That's why it's called Bookmarking, and
21 each of us made a judgment about where would
22 proficient be and we stuck literally a yellow sticky
23 in that book.  Then we would come back together and
24 share where we were with this, and each of us would
25 kind of defend our position, argue about why we
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1 thought these skills were related to proficiency or
2 not, and then we'd go back and do it again; and we'd
3 come back together and we'd see what had changed.  And
4 we'd argue again and do it a third time.  Typically,
5 those bookmarks moved closer together, but they don't
6 come exactly.
7              Then at that point, we take -- that's
8 another way of describing it statistically, but we
9 take an average of all those bookmarks and say here's

10 where the piece must be.  Then we do that for the
11 other performance levels as well.
12              Before the final -- we actually go to a
13 final accounting of that.  We look at what's called
14 impact evidence, which means okay, if we roll this out
15 now, how many -- what percentage of students would be
16 proficient in Colorado, what percentage would be
17 advanced, and does that make sense to us here.
18              Now, it's a very structured process, so
19 it's not capricious in any way.  It's arbitrary in
20 some sense because the decisions are being made by the
21 people in the room.  We hope that the process is
22 informed enough so we brought a similar group, they
23 would make similar decisions about where proficiency
24 would be.  So every one of the tests had the
25 standards -- performance standards set individually by
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1 different groups of people over time.
2         Q.   Thank you.  What happens if a student
3 fails to take the CSAP test?  What's the impact on the
4 school and district scores?
5         A.   It counts as the student's score being
6 unsatisfactory, essentially.
7         Q.   And what is the ACT meant to measure?
8         A.   I'm sorry?
9         Q.   The ACT, what is that meant to measure?

10         A.   It's meant to measure students'
11 readiness or preparation to be successful in college.
12         Q.   So you started talking a little bit in
13 your earlier testimony about the difference between a
14 status version and a growth model or a status model
15 and a growth model.  Can you explain that in a little
16 more detail, please?  Why -- we have a Colorado Growth
17 Model.  Why was that developed?
18         A.   It was developed because we think a more
19 fair way of judging schools is how much -- I'm going
20 to use this term "value," but I'm putting it in
21 quotation marks.  I don't know if you can indicate it
22 that way, but because it's not a value-added model
23 that some people describe in the literature, which was
24 developed by Wayne Sanders at University of Tennessee.
25 Our Colorado Growth Model is really a way -- we went
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1 to growth because it's a way to say are schools adding
2 value, are they moving students from where they
3 started when they came in the door over the year.
4 That's a little different piece than saying what's the
5 percentage of kids who are proficient at the end of
6 the year, because typically proficiency on CSAP is
7 related to a degree to socioeconomic status of the
8 community.  So lower-income schools tend to score
9 lower on CSAP because of the resources that students

10 have or don't have coming in the door.
11              So what Colorado has done is try to add
12 a growth component that says have we really added
13 value no matter where students started and then roll
14 that into the status piece so that we can also
15 determine not only are they growing a lot, are they
16 moving toward the standard.  So the idea was to have a
17 more fair way of judging schools and districts, but
18 also to provide some individual information to
19 parents, students, and teachers about who's making a
20 lot of growth and who's not as a way of helping them
21 adjust instruction and set goals for kids.
22         Q.   And what's the goal under the growth
23 model for any individual student?
24         A.   The goal varies a little bit.  We would
25 hope that every student makes a year's worth of
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1 growth, but in some cases, we want some students to
2 grow a lot faster.
3              Let me see if I can articulate that in a
4 little better way.  You have to understand that the
5 growth model is designed a little bit like the charts
6 you'd see if you took your son or daughter to the
7 pediatrician and they were saying 9 years old and you
8 brought them in and they were this tall.  The
9 pediatrician might say, "Okay.  This tall compared to

10 other 9-years old means you're at the 70th
11 percentile."  That would mean that your son or
12 daughter is taller than 70 percent of other kids their
13 age, and there's 30 percent of the kids who are taller
14 than them.  If you had a growth percentile of 50, it
15 would mean you're exactly average compared to other
16 kids at that age level.
17              Well, Colorado takes that idea and moves
18 it to CSAP peers rather than age-level peers.  What we
19 mean by that is if I'm in the partially proficient
20 range and I score -- let's say it's 500.  That varies
21 depending on which grade level and so on.  My growth
22 is compared to all other kids who started at 500.  So
23 if I had a growth percentile and I get assigned one of
24 these as a student at the 50th percentile, I would
25 show average or typical growth is really the term that
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1 we use.  If I'm at the 70th or the 80th percentile,
2 I'm showing high growth compared to other students who
3 started where I did.  If I'm at the 30th or
4 20th percentile, I'm showing low growth compared to
5 other students like me.
6              For students that score below
7 proficient, particularly unsatisfactory students, the
8 goal is for them to reach proficiency within three
9 years.  What our data shows us now is that students

10 have to grow at a much more than typical growth over
11 those three years to become proficient.  So the growth
12 target for a student might be -- for a way-below-
13 proficient student might be a 70 or an 80 in terms of
14 the growth percentile.  Where proficient and advanced
15 students, their goal is to stay where they are and
16 remain proficient over the next three years.  They can
17 grow at a pretty low rate compared to their peers and
18 still stay there.  So it varies a little bit.  The
19 goal is really to see enough growth to have all
20 students reach proficiency by tenth grade.
21         Q.   Can you explain how that works for an
22 advanced student, how the growth model applies to an
23 advanced student?
24         A.   When you get to the upper range of the
25 CSAP, it takes on a different meaning.  I could be an
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1 advanced student that has a real low growth rate
2 compared to other advanced students who started where
3 I did.  Maybe it's the 20th percentile.  And someone
4 else could be -- have a growth rate who's an advanced
5 student of a 90th percentile, but the difference in
6 actual scale score increases between those students
7 could be relatively small compared to students who are
8 performing way below proficient.  A student who has a
9 growth percentile of, say, 10 versus one that has

10 growth percentile of 70, unsatisfactory, there's a
11 huge difference in range of growth on the scale score
12 of the test.
13         Q.   And can you state again what the
14 expectation is or what the requirement is for the
15 state for each student on the growth model generally
16 speaking?
17         A.   Generally speaking, it's for students
18 who are below proficient to become proficient by tenth
19 grade or within three years, and for proficient and
20 advanced students, it's to remain proficient and
21 advanced in the same time frames.
22         Q.   What is the impact that the new
23 standards are having on assessments?
24         A.   I think I'm going to draw again if
25 that's okay.
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1         Q.   That would be great.
2         A.   Provide some context there.  The new
3 standards are -- the phrase that our state department
4 used is they're fewer, higher, and deeper.  What that
5 means is they're not nearly as broad as they were,
6 they're more specific by grade level, but they require
7 kids to think at much higher levels and apply
8 information in ways that go beyond just a simple
9 regurgitation of facts.

10              When you start to design an assessment
11 system, it starts to raise some interesting questions
12 for our state, and I just have to wrestle with these
13 because this is just how it is in the assessment
14 world.  The easiest way I can explain this is to think
15 about two dimensions of assessment here.  One of them
16 has to do with how standardized an assessment is.  In
17 other words, if it's highly standardized, everybody
18 takes the same test in the same time frame with the
19 same access to resources and it's scored in exactly
20 the same way.
21              An unstandardized assessment down on
22 this end would be one in the extreme that would be
23 unique to the student.  You can see that a little bit
24 in comparing the CSAPA to the regular CSAP.  Special
25 education students often have an assessment that's
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1 administered almost individually, particularly at the
2 classroom or school level.
3              Another dimension states have to wrestle
4 with is the nature of the task the student is
5 performing on the assessment.  Sometimes -- we used to
6 give writing tests where students answered multiple
7 choice questions.  Nobody wrote.  So that was taking a
8 test about writing but not writing.
9              We also -- in Colorado, we have tests

10 where students actually do what it is we're assessing.
11 They write in a bubble.  They bubble up a little bit,
12 but they also write.  Or if they do math problem-
13 solving, they actually write about their thinking
14 process.
15              Well, the tough part about this for our
16 state is when we get to these new standards, if we're
17 going to have a comparable measure across schools and
18 districts across the state and be able to hold people
19 accountable for progress, then that assessment has to
20 be highly standardized.
21              I'll give you an example.  If I'm out in
22 a school district that doesn't have access to
23 dictionaries or many electronic ways to help me
24 improve my writing but I do in another district, if I
25 allow students access -- differential access to that,
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1 I may only be measuring differential access, not how
2 well they can write.  So I have to standardize this,
3 the administration of it, in a very formal way.
4              Let me just talk through these quadrants
5 because here is what our state is wrestling with.  For
6 the most part, state tests like CSAP, although CSAP
7 went across both these, these are tests that are
8 mostly multiple choice and are highly standardized.
9 Why would a state do that?  They're quick, and they're

10 relatively cheap.  I can have a machine score them.  I
11 don't take a lot of time out in class to do them and
12 so on.
13              But in some things, people might say, "I
14 really want to have students do some of the things
15 because they're so important to have me do them to
16 understand whether or not a student can write or do
17 math problem-solving."  So in some cases, you might
18 have a writing assessment or a math problem-solving
19 assessment where students are actually doing this.
20              The other part about this is it takes
21 more time, and also human beings have to score these
22 things.  We have some computerized scoring, but for
23 the most part, it's this huge human endeavor and to do
24 it in a reliable way so that no matter who scores it,
25 the kid gets the same score.  This costs a lot more.
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1              Think about what the new standards are
2 for higher, deeper, kids are going to be
3 problem-solving, critically thinking, taking facts and
4 applying them in new situations.  You can start to get
5 at that with these multiple-choice tests, but it
6 becomes more difficult to really get a good handle on
7 that.  So in our state assessment new system, at least
8 as defined by the assessment stakeholders committee
9 and accepted by the State Board of Education, there's

10 an emphasis on students doing these more performance
11 kinds of tasks is what they call them.
12              Let me just jump down here.  Down in
13 this quadrant might be more the doing, performing
14 stuff, but it's highly unstandardized.  That works
15 really fair in a classroom.  For example, a science
16 fair project is a good example of this because I can
17 have kids pick the topic, they can get help from
18 outside folks -- maybe I hook them up -- maybe
19 somebody's mom or dad works at Hewlett Packard, and I
20 can get them get some help, and I can figure out as a
21 teacher how to give feedback and scoring.
22              But think about if I was trying to do
23 that across the State of Colorado.  Sometimes when I
24 try to do these things at a state level, I almost
25 destroy -- for example, let's say we were letting kids
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1 choose their own science experiments.  Here's a little
2 way to think about it.  When I was in high school, I
3 had a mood ring.  I went around and asked people if
4 weather affected them.  The guy down the street from
5 me looked at errors in the genetic inheritance of
6 fruit flies, and he would run fruit flies through this
7 paper.
8              What if we said, "Wait a minute, Elliot,
9 yours is way too easy and his is way too hard.  So we

10 will restrict what you can assess and do your science
11 fair project on."  "Wait, you can't go talking to
12 Hewlett Packard because folks here in this district
13 don't have that access."  I won't belabor the point.
14 All of a sudden, at the state level, I might restrict
15 this wonderful activity so much it's not useful to me.
16              Over here, I might have just
17 individualized assessment where I might ask kids, "How
18 are you as a reader?  How are you as a writer?"  For
19 young kids, I might circle a smiley face or in some
20 kids, I might fill in blanks.  Our state is going to
21 have to wrestle with this because we have some
22 standards that are going to require students to do
23 what it is we want them to do.  The age in critical
24 thinking, problem-solving, maybe even some
25 collaborative work is what we're seeing from this
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1 stakeholder group based on the standards.  So these
2 are going to be expensive, and they're going to be
3 somewhat time-consuming to develop.
4              Now, there's some development going on
5 right now because of consortiums that Colorado belongs
6 to thinking about how we could do these assessments
7 and do them in a computerized way and so on, but our
8 state will have to wrestle with costs both in terms of
9 time and development and scoring that this kind of

10 poorly drawn diagram tries to illustrate.
11         Q.   Thank you, Dr. Asp.  And can you please
12 explain what the impact that the new standards are
13 having on curriculum?
14         A.   They're causing us to in many cases have
15 to revise our curriculum or in some cases buy new
16 materials that are aligned with the standards, as
17 Dr. Moses referred to earlier.  So there's much
18 curriculum development work going on right now.
19         Q.   And are you involved in that in your
20 district?
21         A.   Yes, I am.  I supervise that area in my
22 district.
23         Q.   And what impact is that having in your
24 district in having to devise a new curriculum?
25         A.   I'll give you one example.  We have a --
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1 we're implementing a new elementary science curriculum
2 in order to ensure that our students can meet the new
3 standards as they're emerging.  That involves a couple
4 of pieces.  One is a reordering of the content to
5 match with the grade-level-specific standards, and it
6 also means spending a lot of time helping students
7 engage in scientific inquiry integrated into life
8 science, physical science, and earth science and then
9 training teachers on how to teach that curriculum and

10 have kids engage in that kind of activity because
11 that's an integral part of the new science standards.
12 That's the deeper and higher part of the science
13 standard.
14         Q.   And was there a financial impact on
15 developing and trying to implement that curriculum?
16         A.   Yes, there was.
17         Q.   And what was that?
18         A.   About $1.2 million for Cherry Creek.
19         Q.   And how did Cherry Creek pay for that?
20         A.   We paid for it using funds that we
21 generated through before and after school day care
22 programs that we operated in our schools.
23         Q.   You also talked a little bit earlier
24 about the new measurements that need to be in the
25 assessment of school readiness.  Can you explain that
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1 in a little bit more detail, please?
2         A.   Yeah.  Under CAP4K, the Colorado
3 Achievement Program For Kids, which was passed during
4 Governor Ritter's administration, the statute requires
5 that the assessment package not only have these kind
6 of summative assessments that we have now by grade
7 level and subject area and they added a few there,
8 social studies in particular, to the list I gave you
9 earlier -- it also requires a school readiness

10 assessment that would be given to students coming into
11 kindergarten, and then there would also be a
12 postsecondary and work force readiness assessment.
13 That one is even a more global one than some of the
14 CSAP things I talked about here.
15              What the assessment stakeholders group
16 recommended was kind of a portfolio approach in which
17 a variety of different measures would go into that and
18 there'd be some way of making a determination if a
19 student is postsecondary and work force ready.  So
20 there may be ACT scores, the students' individual
21 career plan --
22         Q.   Is that an ICAP?
23         A.   -- ICAP, yes -- and a number of those.
24 So that's what our assessment group has called for and
25 been required to do under state statute, to have those
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1 measures available.
2         Q.   Can you explain, please, Dr. Asp, the
3 differences of different kinds of assessments?  For
4 example, what's an interim assessment?
5         A.   The assessment stakeholders group also
6 called -- and I might relate this back, if I may, to
7 the purposes of assessment or the role of assessment
8 in standards-based education.  Part of what the
9 assessment does besides service and accountability

10 measure -- again, I'll try not to be redundant here --
11 it defines for people what the standards mean
12 because -- let me give you an example here, if I
13 could.
14              You could have a history test --
15 end-of-unit history test where students basically
16 answer multiple-choice questions.  Some may be a
17 little bit more inferential, but very factual, and you
18 have that test.  You could have a different test, one
19 we developed in one of the districts I worked in,
20 actually, which was a more performance-oriented test
21 where we would say to a fifth grader in Colorado
22 history, "You've got some friends coming to visit you
23 in Colorado.  Your job is to take them to the five
24 most important places in Colorado in regard to their
25 historical impact on our state."
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1              If you're a teacher and you've got a
2 CSAP assessment that gives history on multiple choice
3 only or you've got CSAP assessment that has kids do
4 this, you're going to teach in two different ways.  It
5 doesn't mean it's awful.  You can think of clever ways
6 to teach the multiple choice test, but think about
7 what you have to teach kids to do to make a judgment
8 about which are the five most important places in
9 Colorado based on the historical context.  It drives

10 instruction incredibly, especially in a high stakes
11 environment where my job, my school's rating, and my
12 district's rating depends on it.  So you have to think
13 very carefully about the instructional impact of
14 assessment in high stakes system, but assessments at
15 that level can only tap a small part of the whole
16 domain of a standard.
17              If you thought about this desk here, I
18 guess, I call it, that I'm sitting at as the social
19 studies standards in fourth grade and you had to --
20 what an assessment person does at a summative level is
21 they try to sample pieces of the whole thing and put
22 it into a package that I could deliver in a few hours
23 and I could score relatively easily.  Well, that gives
24 us a picture of what the standard looks like, but what
25 the State is trying to do is provide two different
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1 kinds of assessments in these new assessment package.
2              Now, districts have done this themselves
3 to whatever degree they could.  Some could do it a lot
4 easier than others.  The State is trying to help with
5 this, and that is provide something called an interim
6 assessment, which you might use every two or three
7 weeks, in some cases sometimes longer, to say is the
8 student making progress according to this kind of
9 outside assessment.  It's a way for me as a teacher to

10 kind of calibrate myself, for a lack of a better term.
11 "I think Billy is doing really well."
12              "Well, we took this interim assessment
13 and he's not doing so well," or vice versa or maybe I
14 agree, but it's a way for me to judge that and say is
15 he making progress toward being proficient, and
16 usually these interim assessments are predictors of
17 how well I do on the summative or CSAP at the end.
18              Then there's a whole classroom
19 assessments we call informative (sic).  These are more
20 instructional resources that teachers would use on a
21 very frequent basis, certainly daily, if not every few
22 minutes sometimes in classrooms where they're
23 judging -- trying to make judgments about whether or
24 not Elliot is making -- "is Elliot getting this
25 concept or not?  How about the whole class?  And do I
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1 need to redirect here or do I not?"  It's also a way
2 to give Elliot feedback about where he is in reaching
3 the standards so he's more in control of his own
4 educational progress.
5              Those assessments can be formal in the
6 form of a test.  They can also be very informal.  It
7 could be just a question that I ask.  I'll think
8 carefully about those questions as a teacher, so that
9 I know that I'm going to ask this question right now

10 in this sequence so I'm going to see where kids are or
11 I'll listen to a discussion and so on.  But those
12 resources are -- we have a very long research -- I
13 shouldn't say long -- a very large research set of
14 evidence that supports that this formative process is
15 key to increasing student achievement, but it takes a
16 while to learn it and figure out how to do that.
17              So part of what the state assessment
18 stakeholders called for and our state board adopted
19 was providing formative assessment resources.  Now,
20 the State is not going to provide every resource there
21 is, but they're going to try to give some guidance
22 about how these pieces might look and help with some
23 training.
24         Q.   So what will be the individual
25 district's responsibility in developing these interim
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1 and formative assessments?
2         A.   Well, they're not required to have
3 those, per se.  There was some discussion about
4 whether or not we were going to have interim
5 assessments that the State would pay for and then the
6 district would be required to use, because you don't
7 want to have more CSAPs.  You only need one at the end
8 of the year.  You want people working with kids and
9 helping them get better, not accountability measures

10 every two weeks, but districts are going to have to
11 develop those, and some -- many districts already have
12 their own that they're paying for now.
13              Some of those will have to be realigned
14 to fit with the new standards.  The formative
15 assessments, we haven't done that in a systematic way
16 across the state.  So districts will need to provide
17 their own resources ultimately to do that.  They'll
18 get some assistance about what good ones look like and
19 so on from the State.
20         Q.   But ultimately whose responsibility will
21 it be for the formative?
22         A.   It'll be district.
23         Q.   Now, Dr. Asp, how long have you been in
24 Cherry Creek?
25         A.   Eight years, I believe.
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1         Q.   And you have a sense of how the schools
2 are doing in Cherry Creek?  Is that part of your job?
3         A.   Yes.
4         Q.   And can you talk a little about some of
5 the demographic changes that have gone into Cherry
6 Creek, that you've seen in Cherry Creek?
7         A.   Cherry Creek has changed dramatically.
8 It's about 40 percent students of color.  In the last
9 ten years or so, the number of white students has

10 remained about the same.  So we've had a vast increase
11 in the number of -- particularly of black and Hispanic
12 students and the students living below the poverty
13 level has increased dramatically too.  We're
14 approaching 30 percent.
15         Q.   And do you have an opinion as to whether
16 additional resources to those populations assists in
17 improving achievement for them?
18         A.   I do.
19         Q.   And what's that opinion, Dr. Asp?
20         A.   That we need additional resources to do
21 that.  And there's two reasons I'd like to talk about
22 that.
23         Q.   Sure.  Go ahead.
24         A.   One is to deal with the impact of
25 increasing poverty and helping students who don't come
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1 to school with the same level of background that other
2 students do and who also don't get the same kind of
3 support, not because the parents don't care, because
4 they're doing other things, like trying to make a
5 living.  So in the summer, for example, they have less
6 access to resources than others.
7              We also have students that come, for
8 example, in Cherry Creek in one of our high schools,
9 Overland High School, we have over a hundred languages

10 spoken.  We have a number of students who are coming
11 to us as refugees.  We also have a number of students
12 that are coming to us as English language learners,
13 some refugees as well.  Even in Cherry Creek High
14 School, we have students coming to high school who
15 have never used a fork.  So part of what we do is move
16 them into our society and help them integrate.  So
17 that takes additional resources.
18              The other piece is, frankly, we have an
19 achievement gap that's somewhat racially based.  I
20 suspect others do as well.  So if I factor out all
21 those things that I just talked about, socioeconomic
22 things and so on, there's a gap that's due just to the
23 nature of race and how we view each other.  So we've
24 had to spend a number -- we spent some resources on
25 how do we talk to each other about race and how do we
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1 make sure we have high expectations for every child,
2 and we make sure that we don't let -- I'm not talking
3 about overt racism.  I'm talking about do we have a
4 system that perpetuates this gap and how do we
5 intervene so that the promise that Cherry Creek
6 Schools makes is the promise for every kid.
7         Q.   And have you found that targeting of
8 those resources has led to increased achievement?
9         A.   Yes, we have in some schools.

10         Q.   And can you explain that, please?
11         A.   We have a school that just made AYP,
12 which is a highly impacted school.  Let me give you an
13 example of the range in Cherry Creek.  We have some
14 schools that have 3 or 4 percent students who are on
15 free and reduced lunch and we have schools that are 80
16 and 90 percent free and reduced lunch, and also
17 schools that have 75 percent of the students are
18 Hispanic, and close to that percentage speak only
19 Spanish at home.  They're not all non-English
20 speakers.  So we put additional resources in the most
21 impacted schools, and we've seen some very positive
22 results from that.
23              Part of that is we have no schools that
24 are either on priority improvement or turnaround
25 plans, and 94 percent of our schools are on
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1 performance plans, which is part of the state rating
2 system that I talked about earlier, and only 4 percent
3 are on improvement plans, and not all of those are
4 highly impacted schools.
5              MS. GEBHARDT:  Your Honor, my next line
6 of questioning is about half an hour.  I didn't know
7 if our earlier break changed the schedule for the day
8 or how you would want to proceed.
9              THE COURT:  We'll go ahead and take the

10 break now then since I'm sure there'll be cross-
11 examination.  Let's say 1 o'clock if that works for
12 everybody.
13              MS. GEBHARDT:  Thank you, Your Honor.
14              THE COURT:  Thank you.
15              (Lunch recess taken, 11:55 a.m. to
16 1:01 p.m.)
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1      AFTERNOON SESSION, Wednesday, August 3, 2011.
2              (Discussion off the record conducted at
3 the bench.)
4              THE COURT:  Mr. Garcia, if you would
5 come forward.  I did consult with counsel, and they
6 didn't have an objection to one camera and I don't
7 either.  We're starting up now at 1, and I don't know
8 how that can work.
9              MR. GARCIA:  We can set up right now --

10 it'll take us two minutes -- or we can set after up
11 Dr. Asp is finished.
12              MS. GEBHARDT:  That's fine.
13              THE COURT:  That's fine.  You can do it
14 now.
15              MR. GARCIA:  Okay.  Thank you.
16              (Off the record.)
17              THE COURT:  And, Dr. Asp, yes, if you'd
18 resume the witness stand.  Thank you, sir.  And, of
19 course, you're still under oath.
20              MS. GEBHARDT:  Your Honor, before we
21 continue questioning, I need to move for admission of
22 three exhibits, please.  9400, which is Dr. Asp's
23 report.
24              MS. MARKEL:  No objection.
25              MS. GEBHARDT:  10043, which is the
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1 commission report.
2              MS. MARKEL:  No objection.
3              MS. GEBHARDT:  And we listed both of
4 these fancy drawings as one exhibit, and it's 10044.
5              MS. MARKEL:  No objection.
6              THE COURT:  I think 9400 is admitted.
7 10443 was admitted and then 10444, which is the two
8 drawings that will be admitted.  Thank you.
9              MS. GEBHARDT:  Just for clarification,

10 that seems to be -- I am confused a little.  9410, was
11 that admitted?
12              THE COURT:  No.  I have 9401.
13              MS. GEBHARDT:  I think it's 9410.
14              THE COURT:  The C.V.?
15              MS. GEBHARDT:  Yes.  We'll look at the
16 notes, but anyway.  9410 is the resume.
17              THE COURT:  9410.  Okay.  Thank you.
18              MS. MARKEL:  No objection.
19              (Exhibit Number 9410 was received in
20 evidence.)
21         Q.   (BY MS. GEBHARDT)  Good afternoon,
22 Dr. Asp.
23         A.   Good afternoon.
24         Q.   We were talking a little bit earlier
25 about the CSAP in different levels.  Do you -- does
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1 the CSAP have any relevancy to measuring gifted and
2 talented students?
3         A.   It's not designed to be a measure of
4 giftedness.
5         Q.   And why is that?
6         A.   It has a ceiling on the top of the test,
7 so it can be part of a -- maybe a portfolio of
8 evidence around a student's performance, but it
9 certainly doesn't measure whether or not a student is

10 gifted in a particular area.
11         Q.   Are there any other accountability
12 systems that school districts are responsible for or
13 have to account to?
14         A.   Can you rephrase that for me, make sure
15 I understand?
16         Q.   Are there other accountability systems
17 other than the one that you've described already
18 today?
19         A.   Yeah, there's several different kinds of
20 accountability systems.  Some are in statute.  Others
21 are more informal.  I'm talk about a couple of those.
22 One that is in statute that's not a formal one is the
23 requirement that the Colorado Department of Higher
24 Education produced a report on remediation rates at
25 public -- all public institutions in Colorado of
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1 higher learning.  And those remediation rates are
2 published by high school so that people can see how
3 many students, what percentage of students who are
4 from a particular high school in the state who
5 enrolled in a four-year institution are -- excuse me,
6 an institution of higher learning, public institution,
7 would need some sort of remediation class.
8         Q.   And do you know what the state level
9 remediation rate is?

10         A.   It varies between two-year and four-year
11 institutions.  In Colorado, two-year institutions are
12 the schools that are designated as providing
13 remediation.  Although it does occur at four-year
14 schools too, but two-year schools do get money on a
15 per pupil basis to provide those classes.  It's about
16 50 percent of students going into two-year classes.
17 It varies a little bit from year to year.  Two-year
18 schools need remediation in at least one subject area.
19 Reading, writing, and math are the three areas.  And
20 about 20 percent of students going into four-year
21 schools.  The overall rate is about 20 percent.
22 Again, it varies from one year to the next, and the
23 highest remediation rate is in math.
24         Q.   And are the Cherry Creek high schools
25 rated for remediation rates?
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1         A.   They're provided with those.
2         Q.   And are there any Cherry Creek high
3 schools for which there's a zero remediation rate?
4         A.   No.
5         Q.   Can we talk now a little about NAEP.
6 Can you tell us what NAEP stands for, please, Dr. Asp?
7         A.   National Assessment of Educational
8 Progress.
9         Q.   And can you explain to the Court what

10 NAEP is?
11         A.   There's really two pieces to NAEP.  It
12 was designed originally back in the late '60s,
13 actually implemented to track progress of various age
14 students, 9, 12, and 17, in reading and math over
15 time, longitudinal piece, and that NAEP assessment has
16 been going on from, like I said, about 1969.  Every
17 four years, that assessment is given and tracks
18 progress.
19              There's a second purpose in part of
20 NAEP, sometimes called the main NAEP, sometimes it's
21 called the state NAEP, which came into being in 1990,
22 and the purpose of that particular aspect of the
23 National Assessment of Educational Progress was to
24 compare states and other jurisdictions -- I'll talk
25 about that in a second -- progress of students
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1 becoming proficient in various subject areas.  It's a
2 pretty various range of subject areas, but the reports
3 are reported at the national level for both of those,
4 at the state level for the main NAEP or state NAEP in
5 reading, writing, math, and science.  That happens
6 every couple of years, and they kind of overlap as to
7 when they're given.
8         Q.   What does NAEP -- or, you want to
9 continue?  I'm sorry.

10         A.   Just one other piece, if I could add.
11 The main NAEP or the state NAEP was voluntary when it
12 first began, and to some degree, it still is, but
13 after 2003, states that received federal education
14 dollars had to participate in NAEP.
15         Q.   Could Colorado waive out of NAEP?
16         A.   They could technically.  They would give
17 up a great deal of federal funding.  From a policy
18 perspective, at least in my opinion, it would be
19 prohibitive to do so.
20         Q.   So can you explain to us what NAEP
21 measures?
22         A.   NAEP measures students' performance in
23 these variety of subject areas, and the way the test
24 is put together is bring together groups representing
25 teachers, curriculum experts, as well as other
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1 stakeholders like community members and so on, and
2 they reach a general consensus about how reading or
3 mathematics or writing should be assessed.  Then a
4 series of items are developed in a technical way and
5 the test is put together.  So it measures kind of a
6 general consensus about what reading should look like
7 or what writing might look like.  The longitudinal
8 NAEP has stayed the same over time basically, but the
9 main NAEP or state NAEP changes over time as new ways

10 of assessing become available or people find ways to
11 make the test more effective.
12         Q.   And what does NAEP not measure?
13         A.   Well, it's not designed to be a measure
14 of specific state standards or content.  That's
15 particularly true when you move out of areas like,
16 say, reading or writing, for example.
17         Q.   And are there -- does NAEP -- is it
18 similar to CSAP in that there's different achievement
19 levels?
20         A.   There's different achievement levels.
21 There's essentially four.
22         Q.   And could you tell us what those are,
23 please?
24         A.   I'll refer to my notes here for just a
25 minute.  Sometimes I --
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1         Q.   You're looking at your report?
2         A.   I'm looking at my report.  I'm sorry.
3         Q.   That's okay.
4         A.   Basically there's a proficient and
5 advanced level similar to CSAP, and then there's a
6 basic level; and then there's below basic.  So it's
7 essentially a fourth level.
8              The basic level, a student has kind of a
9 partial mastery of the content being assessed in that

10 subject area in that grade level.  A student who is
11 proficient is able to have a comprehensive knowledge
12 of the content and can apply that content in some
13 different situations, situations.  In the advanced --
14 a student who scores in the advanced category has a
15 real superior knowledge of the content and its
16 application in higher order thinking and in various
17 different situations than just what was described in
18 the test itself.
19         Q.   Is there a relationship between NAEP and
20 state assessments?
21         A.   To a degree in this sense:  NAEP serves
22 as a general assessment across the country that --
23 where we create a sampling of the state.  So the
24 students that participate in NAEP in Colorado
25 represent a sample of Colorado, not a sample of a
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1 particular school district or school, and that's
2 randomly selected; and it's put together in a very
3 exact way to reflect Colorado as a state.  So you're
4 able to use NAEP in some ways as a check on state
5 standards; so that if a state says 90 percent of our
6 students are proficient on reading and on NAEP, only
7 20 percent are, it starts to have you think about
8 whether or not those standards are high enough or
9 calls those results into question.  So they've been

10 used in that way.
11         Q.   But you were involved in setting the
12 CSAP.  When you're setting the CSAP, is there any
13 attention paid to NAEP or does it focus on Colorado
14 standards?
15         A.   It's specifically focused on Colorado's
16 tests and content standards.
17         Q.   And is there any relationship between
18 NAEP and the Colorado accountability system as we
19 looked at in Exhibit 10443?
20         A.   No, except at that most global level
21 where I described that people would sometimes look at
22 the relationship between scores on NAEP and scores on
23 our test, but in terms of the kind of accountability
24 rating you get and how that mechanism works, there's
25 no relationship.
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1         Q.   There's no sanctions or any kind of
2 action taken depending on how anybody scores on a
3 NAEP?
4         A.   No.
5         Q.   So all of the accountability systems
6 that we've talked about today are geared towards what,
7 Dr. Asp?
8         A.   They're geared toward Colorado standards
9 and our state test, whether it's CSAP or the new

10 version that's coming on line in a few years.
11              MS. GEBHARDT:  Okay.  I don't have any
12 more questions, Your Honor.  Thank you.
13              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Counsel?
14              MR. HINOJOSA:  No questions, Your Honor.
15              THE COURT:  Thank you.
16 Cross-examination?
17              MS. MARKEL:  Yes, Your Honor.
18                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
19 BY MS. MARKEL:
20         Q.   Good afternoon, Dr. Asp.
21         A.   Good afternoon.
22         Q.   I'm Carey Markel on behalf of the State
23 of Colorado.  I just have a very few questions for
24 you.
25              In talking about NAEP, is that also
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1 colloquially known as the nation's report card?
2         A.   Yes, it is.
3         Q.   And would you agree that it's a valid
4 measure of comparing performance across the state?
5         A.   Yes, I would.
6         Q.   It's a common measure that cuts across
7 all states; is that correct?
8         A.   That's correct.
9         Q.   And NAEP data are generally accepted --

10 they're a generally accepted source of data that you
11 use in your field; is that correct?
12         A.   That's correct.
13         Q.   With regard to NAEP in Colorado,
14 Colorado performs higher than other states, above the
15 national average, correct?
16         A.   That's correct.
17         Q.   And while it doesn't perform in the top
18 five states, it does perform well above average; is
19 that correct?
20         A.   That's correct.  It varies a bit
21 depending on which grade level and which subject area,
22 but that's generally correct.
23         Q.   But it performs well above average?
24         A.   Uh-huh.
25              MS. MARKEL:  I have no further
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1 questions.  Thank you.
2              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect?
3              MS. GEBHARDT:  None, Your Honor.  Thank
4 you.
5              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir.
6 You may step down.  Thank you.
7              Next witness for the Plaintiff.
8              MR. KAWANABE:  Your Honor, Plaintiffs
9 call Taylor Lobato.

10              We're just going to grab the easel.
11              THE COURT:  Okay.
12                    TAYLOR LOBATO,
13 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or
14 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:
15              THE COURT:  And once you're seated, if
16 you could state your full name and please spell both
17 your first name and last name for the record.
18              THE WITNESS:  Taylor Lobato,
19 T-a-y-l-o-r, L-o-b-a-t-o.
20              THE COURT:  Thank you.
21                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MR. KAWANABE:
23         Q.   Good afternoon, Ms. Lobato.
24         A.   Good afternoon.
25         Q.   Ms. Lobato, what do you currently do?
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1         A.   I am going to be a sophomore at the
2 University of Denver.
3         Q.   And what are you studying?
4         A.   I am double-majoring in communication
5 studies and strategic communications with two minors
6 in leadership and business.
7         Q.   Ms. Lobato, where did you grow up?
8         A.   Center, Colorado.
9         Q.   Tell us about Center.

10         A.   Okay.  Center is a small rural community
11 located in the center of the San Luis Valley.  The
12 population of Center is around 2,000 people,
13 surrounded by potato fields and grain fields.
14         Q.   So what do most community folks do in
15 Center with regard to jobs?
16         A.   It's mostly agriculture.  Many families
17 either work in the warehouses or in the fields or
18 they're small business owners.
19         Q.   And describe the scenery in Center.
20         A.   It's beautiful.  They're surrounded by
21 the mountains on three sides.  The fields are
22 beautiful in the summertime.  Everything is growing.
23 It's green.  The potatoes' flowers are just gorgeous.
24         Q.   How long has your family been in that
25 area?
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1         A.   At least six generations.  It's our
2 belief that my dad's side of the family came over with
3 the Spanish settlers and settled in San Luis.
4         Q.   So you're sixth-generation San Luis
5 Valley?
6         A.   That's correct.
7         Q.   I asked you to generally describe
8 Center, Colorado.  Please give us more specifics as
9 far as the nearest pharmacies, hospitals, colleges.

10         A.   Okay.  Well, Center used to have a
11 pharmacy.  It no longer does.  It was closed down
12 quite a few years ago.  We have a small grocery store
13 in Center.  It was closed for about six months as they
14 made a transition from one owner to another.  And it
15 takes about -- it's about 50 minutes from my house to
16 get to Adams State College, which is the closest
17 college.  We live about 20 miles north of Center, and
18 it's about 35 to 40 minutes to get to Adams State
19 College from Center.
20         Q.   Okay.  Would you do me a favor and pull
21 that microphone a little closer?
22              Thank you.  You said that the nearest
23 college is in Alamosa; is that right?
24         A.   Yes, that's correct.
25         Q.   And 50 miles from your house, about 30
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1 miles from the Town of Center; is that right?
2         A.   Yes, that's correct.
3         Q.   And that's because you live about 20
4 miles away from the center of Center?
5         A.   Correct.
6         Q.   All right.  What about shopping?  Where
7 do you go to go shopping?
8         A.   To buy clothes, the closest place is
9 probably Alamosa.  They have -- that's the only

10 Wal-Mart in the valley along with a small clothing
11 store called Maurice's, but to get any deeper than
12 that or any more exotic, we have to go to Pueblo,
13 which has the closest mall.
14         Q.   And how far away is Pueblo?
15         A.   About two and a half hours from my
16 house.
17         Q.   Did you like growing up in Center?
18         A.   Yes, I did.
19         Q.   What were the benefits of growing up in
20 Center, Colorado?
21         A.   The families are very close.  I've known
22 my best friend since kindergarten.  We've grown up
23 together, know everything about each other.  You walk
24 around town, and people know who you are.  Also,
25 there's generational families that are very close.
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1 So, for example, my dad is very close with some of his
2 friends, and I am friends with their children.
3         Q.   Let's talk about your family.  Tell us
4 about your dad.
5         A.   My dad's name is Anthony.  He is a
6 rancher.  We raise cattle.  Him and my uncle run the
7 ranch.  My mother is a nurse.  She works in Center.
8 And I have a little sister who's going to be a junior
9 in Center.

10         Q.   And what is your mom's name?
11         A.   Denise.
12         Q.   What does she do as a nurse?
13         A.   She works with first-time moms.
14         Q.   You said your dad was a rancher.  What
15 type of ranching?
16         A.   We raise cattle and grass hay.
17         Q.   And on how many acres approximately?
18         A.   Around 2,000.
19         Q.   What's your sister's name?
20         A.   Alexa.
21         Q.   And where is she going to school?
22         A.   She will be a junior in Center this
23 coming fall.
24         Q.   What is her favorite subject?
25         A.   She's kind of into science right now.
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1         Q.   Is she here with us today?
2         A.   Yes, she is.
3         Q.   Are your parents with us today?
4         A.   Yes, they are.
5         Q.   Let's talk about the school and the
6 community.  How important is the school to the
7 community of Center?
8         A.   The school is the heart of the
9 community.  It's where everybody gathers.  They have

10 baby showers in the cafeteria very often, graduation
11 parties.  It's also -- holds the town library, so the
12 community library is combined with the school library,
13 and it's actually on campus.
14         Q.   Do they conduct adult classes?
15         A.   Yes.  In the evening, the school is open
16 for English classes and computer classes to the
17 community.  The community can come in and take those
18 classes.
19         Q.   And when did you attend high school in
20 Center, what years?
21         A.   I started in 2006 and I graduated in
22 2010.
23         Q.   2006.  Approximately how many -- how big
24 was your class -- your freshman class in 2006?
25         A.   There was about 45 to 50 of us.
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1         Q.   2010, when you graduated, approximately
2 how many graduated?
3         A.   About 35.  Our class shrunk to about 35
4 my senior year.
5         Q.   What happened -- let's not use specific
6 names, please, but what happened to some of those
7 kids?
8         A.   Lots of my good friends moved away or
9 they dropped out, got in some trouble, and just didn't

10 come back.  Center has a large migrant community, so
11 many of my friends had to move with their families to
12 find work.
13         Q.   What about the friends that dropped out
14 of high school?  What did they do?
15         A.   If they decided to work, they would work
16 in the fields or in the warehouses.
17         Q.   What do you mean by working in the
18 fields?
19         A.   Okay.  So many -- for example, for
20 summer jobs, lots of my friends would go and rogue,
21 which is basically walking up and down the fields
22 picking weeds.
23         Q.   And what types of warehouses?
24         A.   Potato primarily.  They're all
25 agricultural warehouses, though.

760

1         Q.   Do you know what types of things they do
2 in the potato warehouse?
3         A.   Anything from sorting starch, so getting
4 rid of the bad potatoes and sorting them from the good
5 potatoes, to just basically just cleaning.
6         Q.   So you started with the class in Center
7 High School of about 45 to 50?
8         A.   Yes.
9         Q.   About 35 graduated; is that right?

10         A.   Yes.  I had a graduating class of 35.
11         Q.   And approximately how many of those 35
12 went on to college?
13         A.   I couldn't give you exact numbers, but
14 probably about a handful, not many.
15         Q.   Five to ten -- what's a handful?
16         A.   I would say five to ten.
17         Q.   Five to ten.  All right.  And you are a
18 sophomore in college now?
19         A.   That's correct.
20         Q.   How many of those five to ten plan to go
21 back to college?
22         A.   I know four of my good friends that have
23 dropped out since the beginning -- since they enrolled
24 in their first year.
25         Q.   What are they going to do since they've
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1 dropped out of college?  Do you know?
2         A.   Work.
3         Q.   In the fields or in the warehouses?
4         A.   That's correct.
5         Q.   Let's talk about your experience in the
6 Center schools.  Generally, how was your experience?
7         A.   Growing up, I felt it was great.  In
8 elementary school, as I said, I knew my best friends
9 there, so we grew up and got to hang out all the time

10 together.  Classes were small.  Mostly teachers cared.
11 As I got into high school, the classes started to get
12 a little bit smaller.  Excuse me.  Classes were a
13 little bit more limited once I grew up.
14         Q.   Let's talk about class size first.
15 Elementary school, middle school, do you remember how
16 big your classes were on average?
17         A.   I'd say about 20.
18         Q.   And in high school, how big were your
19 classes on average in high school?
20         A.   It differed in high school depending on
21 what classes we took.  They could have been as small
22 as eight, but they usually were around 15 to 20 as
23 well, sometimes a little bit less.
24         Q.   Depending on the class?
25         A.   Yes, that's correct.
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1         Q.   When you were growing up, were you
2 identified as an advanced learner or gifted and
3 talented in any subject area?
4         A.   I don't ever remember being specifically
5 told or labeled, but I was my seventh grade year moved
6 up to the eighth-grade math class.
7         Q.   So you were in seventh grade, but you
8 actually just took an eighth-grade math class?
9         A.   Yes.

10         Q.   Did the school ever develop an advanced
11 learning plan for you?
12         A.   My senior year.
13         Q.   Your senior year.  Any time before that?
14         A.   No.
15         Q.   Did your school offer any gifted and
16 talented classes to you?
17         A.   I was in the honors program.
18         Q.   Tell me about the honors program.
19         A.   So I took English honors classes.  That
20 was one of the only honors classes we had, but there
21 was -- when you've graduated, you could choose to
22 graduate with an honors diploma, and the only thing
23 you had to do to take those honors classes was to sign
24 up for it.  There was no assessments or ways to
25 determine whether or not you should not get into an
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1 honors class.
2         Q.   So to take an honors program in high
3 school, you didn't have to pass a test or qualify for
4 it?
5         A.   That's correct.
6         Q.   You signed up for that class, and you
7 were allowed to take it?
8         A.   Yes, and my senior year, I was in honors
9 government class.  However, we took the -- we were in

10 the same class with all the rest of the government
11 students.
12         Q.   How did that work?  How were you in an
13 honors government class but in the same class as the
14 government students?
15         A.   We had to write more on our final paper.
16         Q.   What do you mean?
17         A.   For example, if the regular government
18 students would have to write an eight-page paper, we
19 had to write a ten-page paper.
20         Q.   And that was the difference between
21 honors and a regular government class?
22         A.   Yes.
23         Q.   Did you get college credit for your
24 honors work?
25         A.   I did not.
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1         Q.   What about AP -- what are AP or IB
2 classes?  Do you know?
3         A.   AP is an advanced placement class, and
4 IB is international baccalaureate, I believe.
5         Q.   And do you know whether or not students
6 get college credit for taking AP or IB courses?
7         A.   Yes, they do.
8         Q.   How do you know that?
9         A.   Many of my friends in college brought in

10 many credits because of their AP or IB classes.
11         Q.   Did you take any AP or IB classes?
12         A.   I did not.
13         Q.   Why not?
14         A.   Center doesn't offer AP or IB classes.
15         Q.   So give me an example.  You're at the
16 University of Denver.  You said other students bring
17 in AP or IB credits.  Compare that to what you bring
18 in as far as college credits.
19         A.   My current roommate this summer brought
20 in 45 credits from AP classes, which is the most --
21 the most credits that DU allows you to bring in.  I
22 brought in 12 because of a communications -- not a
23 communications, an English class that was through
24 Adams State and a math class.
25         Q.   Let's switch to math them.  Focus on
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1 high school, and what math classes did you take?
2         A.   I took geometry, precalculus, calculus
3 for my ninth-grade, tenth-grade, and eleventh-grade
4 year.
5         Q.   And so that's three years of math.  What
6 do most colleges require?  Do you know?
7         A.   They require four, but by the time I was
8 a junior, I ran out of math classes to take in Center.
9         Q.   What do you mean, you ran out of math

10 classes to take?
11         A.   Well, there were no classes offered that
12 were higher than the ones I had already taken.
13         Q.   All right.  Well, Adams State College
14 offers math classes to high school students, right?
15         A.   That's correct.
16         Q.   Did you go to Adams State College?
17         A.   No, I did not.
18         Q.   Why not?
19         A.   Logistically in the valley, you have to
20 drive -- as I said before, it's about 35 miles to get
21 to Alamosa from Center, about 50 miles to get there
22 from my house, maybe a little more, and it just
23 wouldn't have worked out.  If I were going to take a
24 class at Adams State in the morning, I would have to
25 drive there and drive back and probably miss the first
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1 half of the day of classes in Center.  So I would be
2 trading three classes in high school for one at Adams
3 State.
4         Q.   So that's because you would have been in
5 Center, driven 30-plus miles, taken a class for
6 approximately an hour, driven 30-plus miles back to
7 try to attend school; is that right?
8         A.   That's correct, in good weather.
9         Q.   What do you mean by that?

10         A.   Well, it snows -- in the wintertime, it
11 snows a lot.  The roads are bad -- they can be bad,
12 which would take you longer to get to class and from
13 class.  Along with, in the spring and fall, it gets
14 pretty windy.  If there's no crops in the field,
15 sometimes we have sand storms from all the fields, and
16 it's hard to see there as well.
17         Q.   Let's describe the San Luis Valley for
18 folks.  The San Luis Valley, do you know the
19 elevation?  How high is it?
20         A.   It's about 7200 feet.
21         Q.   So it's a valley, but it's actually high
22 in elevation, higher in elevation than Denver?
23         A.   Yes.  I think it's one of the highest
24 alpine valleys in the world.
25         Q.   And is the valley a big place
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1 geographically?
2         A.   Comparatively, I would say not really.
3 You can get from one end to the other in an hour and a
4 half, east to west, I believe.
5         Q.   Hour and a half.  Do you know
6 approximately how many miles -- are you a fast driver
7 or slow driver?
8         A.   Fast driver.
9         Q.   Okay.  We'll skip that question.

10         A.   Okay.
11         Q.   There are numerous towns in the San Luis
12 Valley.  Center is not the only town; is that correct?
13         A.   That's correct.
14         Q.   Were you aware there are 14 school
15 districts in the San Luis Valley?
16         A.   I can see that.  That sounds about
17 right.
18         Q.   And the biggest town in the San Luis
19 Valley, what's that?
20         A.   Alamosa.
21         Q.   And Center, is that one of the smallest
22 towns?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   About how many people are in Center?
25         A.   About 2,000, depending on time of year.

768

1         Q.   Is Center a wealthy or poor town?
2         A.   It's a very poor community.
3         Q.   Why do you say that?
4         A.   Well, lots of my friends didn't have a
5 lot of money.  I had two good friends that were pretty
6 well off, but the rest of my friends were not.  It was
7 hard to buy things, hard to pay bills.  Parents were
8 both working full time.  In the summer, my friends
9 would work to help either support the family or to buy

10 things for themselves.
11         Q.   Do you know approximately how many
12 students are on free and reduced lunch in Center High
13 Schools Or Center Schools?
14         A.   I think it's about 90 percent.
15         Q.   Did you say 90 percent?
16         A.   I believe so.  About 90.
17         Q.   When you were growing up in Center, did
18 you qualify for free and reduced lunch?
19         A.   I did.
20         Q.   Did you apply for free and reduced
21 lunch?
22         A.   No, we did not.
23         Q.   Why not?
24         A.   It was a parental choice.
25         Q.   So we're back in math class.  You didn't
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1 go to Adams State College.  You didn't have a choice
2 in Center High School.  What did you do for that
3 fourth year of math?
4         A.   Well, since Center requires four years
5 of math to graduate and all colleges I applied to
6 require four years of math, I ended up taking a
7 correspondence class.
8         Q.   What is a correspondence class?
9         A.   It is -- it was paired with Adams State

10 somewhat, but we had to buy our own book and we would
11 receive the materials.  Our professor was in Pueblo, I
12 believe, and we would do our homework, put it in an
13 envelope, stamp it, mail it to our professor.  She
14 would grade it and send our grades back via e-mail.
15         Q.   So what happened if you had a particular
16 question as to a specific math problem?
17         A.   We could e-mail.  However, depending on
18 her schedule, it could have been who knows how long
19 before she got back to us, and it might be, by that
20 time be too late to even answer the question.
21         Q.   So you passed the correspondence class?
22         A.   Yes, I did.
23         Q.   Did you get college credit for that?
24         A.   Yes, I did.
25         Q.   When you took the correspondence class,
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1 did you have to buy any materials?
2         A.   I bought my own book.
3         Q.   Why did you buy your own book?
4         A.   The class required that we pay for a
5 book, so we had to pay for it.  I was reimbursed by
6 the school if you passed the class, but before that,
7 we had to pay upfront all our materials.
8         Q.   So how much -- do you remember how much
9 you spent, your family spent?

10         A.   No.  I bet that book probably cost $120.
11         Q.   But you passed the class, so the school
12 district reimbursed you for that amount?
13         A.   Yes, that's correct.
14         Q.   Why didn't you take any on-line or
15 distance learning classes, or did you try?
16         A.   You know, we looked into it.  It was
17 kind of hard to logistically get those.  We all had
18 laptops, but the Internet in Center isn't very good.
19 Sometimes with all the students using the same
20 broadband, it gets slow, and not a lot of the teachers
21 were able to technologically help us in that way.
22         Q.   You said the Internet wasn't very good.
23 What do you mean by that?
24         A.   It's slow.  We had all had laptops, and
25 I believe the idea for the laptops was to make Center
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1 High School paperless and textless.  However, when you
2 spend ten minutes waiting for a Web page to load for a
3 research, it's kind of useless.  You might as well
4 just go to the library and get a paperback.
5         Q.   Was that unusual or common, to do some
6 research, wait ten minutes or more for one single page
7 to load?
8         A.   It was very common, especially when we
9 did on-line, like assessments.  We could do on-line

10 tests, and by the time everybody got to the Web page,
11 got all their materials prepared, it could be 20
12 minutes into class.
13         Q.   Do you know whether things have gotten
14 better or worse with regard to the Internet?
15         A.   No, I'm not sure.
16         Q.   Let's talk about other class offerings.
17 What about foreign languages?
18         A.   We offered -- the only foreign language
19 when I was in high school that was offered was
20 Spanish.
21         Q.   Did you take Spanish?
22         A.   I did.
23         Q.   How many years?
24         A.   I took three years.  Two of them were
25 Spanish 1 and 2, and my third year was called Spanish
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1 enrichment.
2         Q.   What do most -- what does your college
3 require for a foreign language?
4         A.   At least three years.
5         Q.   And you said you took two years in
6 Spanish.  What was the third year?
7         A.   It was called Spanish enrichment.
8 Center only offers two corresponding years of Spanish,
9 and when I got to my third year and I needed another

10 one, they put me in the Spanish enrichment.  What that
11 basically is is the class for fluent Spanish speakers,
12 and so I was put into that class.
13         Q.   Did you learn very much?
14         A.   No, I did not.
15         Q.   Are you taking Spanish in college?
16         A.   Yes, I am.
17         Q.   What class?
18         A.   I began in the lowest level, so Spanish
19 1001.
20         Q.   Did you get any college credit for your
21 Spanish high school classes?
22         A.   No, I did not.
23         Q.   What was EPYCS?
24         A.   EPYCS is El Pomar Youth and Community
25 Service.  It was an extracurricular organization that
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1 I participated in after school.
2         Q.   And what happened to that program?
3         A.   It was discontinued after my sophomore
4 year.
5         Q.   Why is that?
6         A.   How EPYCS works is we had to fund-raise
7 so much money, and we were then given a grant from El
8 Pomar, and we were able to give that money out to
9 nonprofits in the area and in the state.  However,

10 after my sophomore year and financial times started to
11 get a little bit more difficult, El Pomar required a
12 higher -- it would have required our school to raise
13 more money in order to get the funds from El Pomar,
14 and our community just couldn't handle it.
15         Q.   Why not?
16         A.   As I said before, many families in
17 Center are very poor, and you can only -- they can
18 only pay so much for even their own kids to go to
19 school, let alone trying to support other
20 organizations or other students.
21         Q.   Did you go to summer school growing up?
22         A.   I did not.
23         Q.   Why not?
24         A.   Center did not offer summer school when
25 I was in high school.
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1         Q.   Did you take any speech and debate
2 classes?
3         A.   No.
4         Q.   Why not?
5         A.   Center didn't offer them.
6         Q.   Business classes?
7         A.   No.
8         Q.   DECA?
9         A.   No.

10         Q.   Let's talk about extracurricular -- or
11 student organizations.  Do you know what DECA is?
12         A.   Yes, DECA is a business -- I believe
13 it's a business club where you can go in and compete
14 at business competitions, that sort of thing.
15         Q.   Was that an option in Center?
16         A.   No, it was not.
17         Q.   What about Future Business Leaders of
18 America, or FBLA?
19         A.   No, that was not available in Center
20 either.
21         Q.   Future Farmers of America, was that
22 available?
23         A.   There was a class, but by the time I got
24 into high school, it was no longer there.
25         Q.   Why not?
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1         A.   I believe it's because our teacher left,
2 and there were not enough funds or resources to put
3 into it.
4         Q.   What types of student organizations did
5 you belong to?
6         A.   I was in student council during the
7 school.  Key Club, which is an organization that
8 partners with the local Kiwanis.  Those are the main
9 ones I can think.  I was in EPYCS up until it was

10 discontinued.
11         Q.   Did you play sports?
12         A.   Yes, I did.
13         Q.   And how did you do in school?
14         A.   I did very well.
15         Q.   Valedictorian?
16         A.   Yes, that's correct.
17         Q.   Let's talk about sports.  What sports
18 did you play?
19         A.   I was in volleyball, basketball, and
20 track.
21         Q.   How good were your teams?
22         A.   We didn't win that many.
23         Q.   Decent?
24         A.   Maybe not even.  We tried.
25         Q.   How was the school as far as providing
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1 sports equipment?
2         A.   You know, we were pretty limited.  I
3 know that we had to share, for example, our
4 basketballs with the PE classes as well as the
5 volleyballs, even though no matter how much we tried
6 to keep them separate, there weren't enough for both.
7 It was really hard -- I believe part of the reason
8 that we weren't competitive was because we weren't
9 able to get our teams to go to summer camps due to the

10 fact that either kids couldn't afford them or they
11 were working.
12         Q.   What do you mean by summer camps?
13         A.   We could -- for sports, you could either
14 have a choice to go to an individual camp or a team
15 camp where you take your whole team.  You'd have to
16 travel somewhere; for example, to Adams State, they
17 hold both types of camps, and it just helps develop
18 skills.
19         Q.   Who pays for those camps?
20         A.   In Center, the students.  There weren't
21 enough funds necessarily in the club budgets in order
22 to send us themselves or we would have to fund-raise
23 as a team.
24         Q.   And were you able to fund-raise and
25 actually go to camp or did you have to skip camp?
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1         A.   Many students had to skip camp.  I was
2 lucky and worked hard to fund-raise, and my parents
3 were able to send me.
4         Q.   Does the community do these type of
5 fundraisers for either school -- school-related
6 activities?
7         A.   Yes.  Almost all school-related
8 activities have to fund-raise in order to survive.
9         Q.   Give us some examples of the types of

10 fundraisers and approximately how much money that
11 brings in from the community.
12         A.   Okay.  We did bingo quite often for
13 basketball.  A community bingo.  Sometimes clubs would
14 sell candy bars, anything from candy bars to popcorn
15 to fruit, that sort of thing.  I would say maybe 150
16 on average.  Some students were able to raise more
17 money because some students have more family
18 backgrounds or their parents make more than others.
19         Q.   So in your experience on average, $150
20 per fundraiser?
21         A.   That would be my guess, yes, per student
22 or per athlete.
23         Q.   Per student.  Just a little bit more on
24 sports.  So what teams would you play when you're
25 playing basketball or volleyball?
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1         A.   In our league, our league was a lot of
2 valley teams.  However, sometimes we would have to
3 travel outside the valley, for example, to Creede.
4         Q.   What are those bus trips like?
5         A.   Long.
6         Q.   Tell me about the conditions of the
7 buses.
8         A.   Lots of the buses had patching on the
9 seats.  They were pretty old.  I don't even know -- we

10 might have gotten one new bus in the whole time I was
11 in middle school, high school that I can remember, but
12 they weren't that great.  Not that comfortable either.
13         Q.   So let's take basketball.  You're
14 playing Creede.  How far away is that and how long
15 would you have to stay in Creede to play one game?
16         A.   I believe it's about two hours to get to
17 Creede from Center.  We would all have to travel
18 together, so the JV boys, JV girls, varsity boys,
19 varsity girls if there was enough of us to fit in the
20 bus because that way we have to take less
21 transportation.  So that was even more cramped.
22              So the varsity boys -- let's say a JV
23 game starts at 3:30, the varsity boys wouldn't start
24 until about 7, 7:30, depending on the game.  So they
25 would have to be there all night long and maybe even
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1 leave early from school even though they didn't play
2 until later.
3         Q.   Would you have to stay there with them?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   So you're there for three-quarters of a
6 day.  What about food?
7         A.   We received -- if we were traveling far,
8 if we'd miss a meal, we each received $4 as a meal
9 stipend.

10         Q.   And has that changed for your sister?
11         A.   I believe they're discontinuing that
12 this year.
13         Q.   So for sports games, when you play
14 another valley team, do you know if those students get
15 any money for food?
16         A.   I believe after this year they will not.
17         Q.   Let's go back to some of your classes
18 and talk about textbooks.  Describe your textbooks in
19 Center High School.
20         A.   There's not many.
21         Q.   What do you mean by that?
22         A.   In my government class, for example,
23 there's not enough books for everybody to have one, so
24 we would go into class, take a book off the shelf, do
25 our studies, put it back at the end of the day.
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1         Q.   What happens if you have to do homework?
2         A.   If you're lucky, you can check one out.
3 If too many people have already checked one out, then
4 you can't take one home.
5         Q.   Well, why don't you and classmates then
6 go home and use the Internet?  Is that a possibility?
7         A.   No, not for many students.  Most
8 students don't have Internet at home.
9         Q.   Well, what about the library?  Why don't

10 you use the town library?
11         A.   Sometimes those computers don't work
12 either, plus with all the activity, since the library
13 does have a lot of community activities, sometimes
14 there's not -- sometimes there's not room or if it's
15 other than that -- like, I could never do it because I
16 would be at like sports practice.  I would be at
17 basketball practice or volleyball practice, and by the
18 time I got out, the library would probably be closed.
19         Q.   Does the library have its own textbooks
20 or books you can use separate from the Center High
21 School library?
22         A.   They are all the same books for either
23 the school or the community.
24         Q.   Is it the same library?
25         A.   Yes, it's the same library.  Same
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1 building, same room.
2         Q.   What do you mean by that?
3         A.   The Saguache County Public Library is
4 combined with the Center library.  So it's the same
5 room.  All the books that the community uses, the
6 students can use as well.
7         Q.   Let's talk about school supplies.  Who
8 bought your school supplies?
9         A.   My family did.

10         Q.   Why is that?
11         A.   The school couldn't pay for them.  We'd
12 get a list, and we'd have to go buy them.
13         Q.   What types of school supplies would you
14 buy, you and your family?
15         A.   Anything from pencils to paper to
16 scientific calculators.
17         Q.   Scientific calculators.  Are any of
18 these supplies expensive?
19         A.   The scientific calculator that we bought
20 was over $100.
21         Q.   What about your classmates that couldn't
22 afford these school supplies or scientific
23 calculators?
24         A.   They didn't get them, or the school
25 sometimes had a limited supply to offer.  I know that
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1 after I got into high school, we started -- the math
2 class had a few scientific calculators for students to
3 use on ACTs, but there weren't enough for every
4 student to have one.
5         Q.   So what would you do as a class, share?
6         A.   Well, we couldn't share on the ACTs.
7 You're not allowed to.
8         Q.   Oh, sorry.
9         A.   But in class, yes, we would share.

10         Q.   Then, what about for the ACT?  What
11 would the students do if there weren't enough
12 calculators?
13         A.   They'd have to use just a basic
14 calculator that wasn't scientific.
15         Q.   Let's talk about technology in Center
16 High School.  How did the technology compare to other
17 schools?  Did you have an opportunity -- first, did
18 you have an opportunity to see other schools'
19 technology?  And if so, how?
20         A.   Probably my biggest moment when I could
21 see that is when I went to history fair in middle
22 school.  I had made it to the state competition, and I
23 went up using a PowerPoint.  I expected, oh, everybody
24 will have a PowerPoint.  It'll all be the same.  It'll
25 just be a good time, but I got up there and was pretty
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1 much blown away by everybody else's presentations.
2 Mine was a PowerPoint, and some looked like they had
3 actually built a documentary with video technology and
4 video editing.
5         Q.   Didn't you have video technology or
6 video editing for your project?
7         A.   I didn't know that was an option.  I
8 didn't know that's what students would be using.  When
9 I came back after the first year, I tried to find

10 some.  I looked -- the school did have one video
11 production class.  There was only one student actually
12 who knew all the ins and outs of the video technology,
13 and he luckily taught me during after school and times
14 like that.  And so I -- I tried to use that to the
15 best of my abilities the next year.
16         Q.   How did that go?
17         A.   About the same.  It was still not
18 comparable to everyone else's.  It was somewhat
19 outdated.
20         Q.   So what did you do with regard to
21 history fair?
22         A.   After that second year, I quit.
23         Q.   Why did you quit?
24         A.   It was hard to try your best and put
25 that much time into something and then to get up there
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1 and realize you just can't compete.  It was hard, and
2 I was frustrated, so I stopped.
3         Q.   Do you think you could have competed if
4 you had the similar -- if you had similar technology?
5         A.   Yes, I do.
6         Q.   Describe your own drive, your own work
7 ethic.
8         A.   I work hard.  Growing up on a ranch and
9 having to be up at 5 o'clock in the morning to go

10 chase cows that are on the lawn, you learn to do what
11 you have to do when you need to do it.
12         Q.   I have to ask.  What did you mean by
13 cows on the lawn?
14         A.   My mom likes her lawn, so cows will get
15 out, get all over the roads, and you have to go put
16 them back in.
17         Q.   What about your work ethic or your drive
18 with regard to school, academics?
19         A.   It's very important to me.  My parents
20 pushed me, and I in turn pushed myself to do the best
21 that I can in everything.
22         Q.   How's your sister?
23         A.   She's the same way.
24         Q.   Let's talk about -- you mentioned the
25 poverty in Center.  Could you give us a little more
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1 details about that?  Let's not go into specifics on
2 names.  Tell us about your friends.
3         A.   Two of my friends were pretty well off.
4 Just comparing the two -- between those two and the
5 rest of my friends is just a big difference.  Lots of
6 friends that are poor can't afford the little things.
7 Their families have a hard time paying utilities or
8 just buying stuff in general.  They don't have much
9 extras of anything.  House --

10         Q.   What about food?
11         A.   Sometimes food is hard.  Like I said,
12 there's a high -- about 90 percent I believe that are
13 on free and reduced lunch.  So sometimes the lunch
14 that they get at school or breakfast is probably maybe
15 the biggest meal that they get that day.  It just
16 depends on the family.  Lots of my friends actually
17 worked to support their family to get those extra
18 stuff or to get their food.
19         Q.   Did your friends' parents work?
20         A.   Yes, full time, both of them in most
21 places.  Lots of my friends also lived in the reduced
22 housing -- or the cheaper housing, the apartments.
23         Q.   Low-income housing?
24         A.   Yes.  Thank you.  Low-income housing.
25         Q.   You said that your friends also worked.
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1 Did you work?
2         A.   I did.
3         Q.   What type of jobs would you or your
4 friends do?
5         A.   I worked in the fields doing soil
6 sampling for two years.  We would walk the fields,
7 collect soil, testing for nematodes, which are just
8 little worms that can cut off the plants and cause
9 problems.

10         Q.   Nematodes can cause what kind of
11 problems?  Would they kill crops?
12         A.   Yes, they would kill crops.  So what
13 would happen is they would just basically attach to
14 the roots and suffocate the plants, so then they would
15 die, which is a very big deal because if they would
16 get into the valley, they would have to quarantine
17 fields and if it would spread, the valley would lose
18 their main source of not only jobs but income.
19         Q.   And food?
20         A.   And food.
21         Q.   What about your friends, what types of
22 jobs would they do?
23         A.   Many of them would work in the fields
24 roguing, which is picking weeds, or the warehouse as
25 well.
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1         Q.   Does your sister work?
2         A.   Yes, she does.  We also participate in
3 4-H, and we raise steers.  So that's basically a
4 full-time job during the summer as well.  We also make
5 a profit off of it by selling our steers by the end of
6 the year.  My sister is taking a biology class this
7 summer.
8         Q.   Why is she -- I'm sorry.
9         A.   No.  So that's part of her work, that's

10 all I was going to say.
11         Q.   Why is Alexa, your sister, taking a
12 biology class in the summer?
13         A.   Center's curriculum is very limited.
14 Many classes are only offered once.  So with her
15 schedule, she's in a scientific research class, and
16 having to take other classes, she was not able to take
17 biology during the school year, but since it's
18 required to graduate, she had to take it during the
19 summer.
20         Q.   Because biology was offered at one
21 particular time during the year?
22         A.   Yes, that's correct.
23         Q.   What about day care in Center?  If your
24 classmates and their parents are working, who takes
25 care of the younger children?
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1         A.   Many times my friends would take care of
2 them.
3         Q.   How big is -- is there a migrant
4 community in Center?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   What is a migrant community?
7         A.   That is when families move in to, for
8 example, work during harvest, but they will leave
9 after harvest somewhere else to find work again in

10 maybe Arizona or another place that's harvest is a
11 little bit later, so seasonal jobs.
12         Q.   You mentioned you were valedictorian of
13 Center High School; is that correct?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   Class of 2010?
16         A.   Yes.
17         Q.   How's your sister doing in school?
18         A.   She's doing very well.  She's first in
19 her class.
20         Q.   That's great.  So after you graduated
21 valedictorian, you went to the University of Denver.
22 How are you doing at University of Denver?
23         A.   I'm doing very well.
24         Q.   What is your GPA?
25         A.   3.76.
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1         Q.   Congratulations.
2         A.   Thank you.
3         Q.   When you first arrived at the University
4 of Denver, how were you compared to your other
5 classmates?
6         A.   I was behind.  I had to catch up.
7         Q.   What do you mean by that?
8         A.   In my English classes, I was -- because
9 I was able to take two, like, English classes during

10 high school that counted for my credits in college, I
11 didn't have to take the English classes.  However, I
12 was recommended by many of my professors to go to the
13 writing center and catch up on grammar, very much so.
14 Also, I took a poli sci class the fall quarter of my
15 freshman year and was just behind in general of
16 knowledge.  I love to read, and I read all the time,
17 but even compared to the rigor that other students had
18 had in my class, I had to do a lot more reading and a
19 lot more catching up on current things, not knowing
20 current things.
21         Q.   So you started college behind some of
22 your other classmates; is that right?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Writing, grammar, reading; is that
25 right?
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1         A.   Reading in the sense of just being
2 well-read.
3         Q.   Got it.  Not reading skills?
4         A.   That's correct.
5         Q.   And will you, will you catch up?
6         A.   I will.  I have, I believe, and I will
7 continue to do so.
8         Q.   And why is that?
9         A.   Because I want to.  It's important, and

10 to be competitive in college and for jobs in the
11 future, I need to, and I won't let myself not do that.
12         Q.   What is your opinion of -- do you know
13 Superintendent George Welsh?
14         A.   Yes, I do.
15         Q.   What's your opinion of him?
16         A.   He's amazing.  He has done all that he
17 can for us, to the best of his abilities.
18         Q.   Do you know he said that you were one of
19 the best students ever in Center?
20         A.   Yes, he made me cry.
21         Q.   Great.  And your sister Alexa, how is
22 she?
23         A.   She's great.
24         Q.   You said she's number one in her class?
25         A.   Yes, she is.
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1         Q.   Do you know what her plans are?
2         A.   She would like to attend college.  She's
3 interested either in marine biology right now or
4 physical therapy.
5         Q.   Was your family involved in school when
6 you were growing up?
7         A.   Yes, they were very involved.
8         Q.   Tell me about that.  Let's start with
9 your mom.

10         A.   My mom, Denise, she is on the
11 accountability committee, which is like an advisory
12 committee to the school board.  My dad is part of --
13 he sits in on a lot of teacher interviews, and they
14 both attend sporting events, just involved in
15 everything, read our report cards and all that sort of
16 things.
17         Q.   And your uncle?
18         A.   He is president of the school board.
19         Q.   President of the school board?
20         A.   Yes, that is correct.
21         Q.   And your classmates, were there --
22 were -- let me start over.  Did your classmates have
23 similar work ethics, drives, commitment?
24         A.   Yes, I believe so.
25         Q.   Did your classmates have families that

792

1 cared about growing up in Center?
2         A.   Yes, they did.
3         Q.   Let me conclude with a couple questions.
4 Okay?  Do you think you received an adequate education
5 in Center?
6         A.   No.
7         Q.   Why do you say that?
8         A.   Because I wasn't ready.  I had to catch
9 up.

10         Q.   What was the rigor like in Center
11 compared to some of the classmates that you know at
12 the University of Denver?
13         A.   Well, many of my classmates took AP
14 classes, which I hear are just insane.  My roommate
15 this summer has just told me how long she had to study
16 for AP tests, and I studied for finals a little bit,
17 but nothing compared to what she has said.  And it was
18 just very much easier for them to transition into
19 college, to know their time management, to know how to
20 study.  I studied constantly just trying to make sure
21 that my grades were acceptable for myself.
22         Q.   You don't believe you received an
23 adequate education; is that right?
24         A.   Yes, that's right.
25         Q.   Do you blame Superintendent George Welsh
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1 or do you blame the Center School District?
2         A.   No, I do not.
3         Q.   Why not?
4         A.   Because I believe they did the best that
5 they could.  They held conversations with me to find
6 that math class, but they just couldn't provide it.
7         Q.   Finally, Taylor, why are you involved in
8 this lawsuit?
9         A.   For my sister, because she deserves a

10 better education than I got, and for all the other
11 students in Center and the state.  I just believe they
12 deserve an adequate education and they're not getting
13 it.
14              MR. KAWANABE:  No further questions.
15              THE COURT:  Counsel, any questions?  Do
16 you have any questions?
17              MR. HINOJOSA:  No questions, Your Honor.
18              THE COURT:  Thank you.
19 Cross-examination?
20              MS. MARKEL:  No questions, Your Honor.
21              THE COURT:  Thank you, ma'am.  You may
22 step down.  Thank you.
23              Next witness on behalf of the Plaintiff.
24              MS. WEST:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.
25 I'm Natalie West for the Plaintiffs.  We'd like to
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1 call Miguel Cendejas.
2              THE COURT:  Yes.
3                   MIGUEL CENDEJAS,
4 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or
5 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:
6              THE COURT:  Once you're seated, if you
7 could spell -- state your name and spell both your
8 first and last name for us.
9              THE WITNESS:  My name is Miguel

10 Cendejas, C-e-n-d-e-j-a-s.
11                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
12 BY MS. WEST:
13         Q.   Miguel, how do you spell your first
14 name?
15         A.   M-i-g-u-e-l.
16              THE WITNESS:  Sorry.
17         Q.   (BY MS. WEST)  Miguel, could you
18 please --
19              THE COURT:  Please, go right ahead.
20         Q.   -- tell the Court where you live.
21         A.   I live in Center, Colorado.
22         Q.   And how long have you lived in Center?
23         A.   I've lived there all my life.
24         Q.   You grew up in Center?
25         A.   I grew up in Center.  I was born in
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1 Monte Vista in '74 and grew up in Center.
2         Q.   What is Center like?  Could you describe
3 the community for us?
4         A.   I love it.  Small, everything is walking
5 distance, the post office, the grocery store, the
6 school.  My parents, which are our babysitters,
7 everything is walking distance, really close together.
8 Everybody knows each other.
9         Q.   What is the community like?  What are

10 the people like?
11         A.   Friendly.  Everybody knows each other.
12 I'm pretty sure if somebody was in trouble, you could
13 go to somebody else and, you know, seek shelter.
14         Q.   And did you attend Center public
15 schools?
16         A.   I did.
17         Q.   Elementary, junior high, and high
18 school?
19         A.   Yes.  I went to elementary, middle
20 school, and high school.
21         Q.   And how important are the schools or
22 each individual school to the community?
23         A.   It's very important because that's where
24 our kids go to school.
25         Q.   And are there activities that are
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1 centered around the school?  Is it a source of
2 community pride?
3         A.   It is.  Sports as well as classes, but,
4 you know, in sports, for example, you get parents out
5 there that sometimes you don't see, but you see them
6 out there with their kids, wanting them to, you know,
7 just cheer together.
8         Q.   And how did you do when you were in
9 school in Center?

10         A.   I did average.
11         Q.   Did you struggle much?
12         A.   I did.
13         Q.   Much or a little or --
14         A.   I'm going to say I struggled much.
15         Q.   And did you graduate?
16         A.   I graduated in 1992.
17         Q.   And did you go to college?
18         A.   I went to college at Adams State College
19 in Alamosa.
20         Q.   And why did you go to Alamosa?
21         A.   It was a decision that my parents and I
22 talked about.  I thought that as soon as I graduated I
23 was going to leave the town and wanted to go to Fort
24 Lewis in Durango, but after having a conversation with
25 my parents and then speaking about how close I would
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1 be to home, which is only about 30 minutes, that I
2 should go to Alamosa.
3         Q.   It sounds like it was important to your
4 parents that you went to college?
5         A.   It was.  Me being the first one to
6 graduate out of our household, very important.
7         Q.   What were your parents' background?
8         A.   My parents came from Mexico.  My mom
9 came when she was eight months pregnant, so I was born

10 in Monte Vista at just one month.  My father had one
11 year of education in elementary school back in Mexico.
12 The rest of it was hard work, and my mother had about
13 two years of education.
14         Q.   Did they ever tell you why they came to
15 the United States?
16         A.   This is the land of opportunity.  They
17 wanted a better future for their children.
18         Q.   And did they support your education?
19         A.   They did.
20         Q.   And at the time you graduated from
21 Center High School, do you feel like you were prepared
22 to go to college?
23         A.   I was not prepared.  I just knew that
24 that was something that I needed to do, but didn't
25 know how to do that.
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1         Q.   In what ways do you think you weren't
2 prepared?
3         A.   I would say I lacked study skills, how
4 to use my time.  I think those are two very important
5 keys in being successful in college.
6         Q.   Did you struggle academically when you
7 were at Adams State?
8         A.   I did.
9         Q.   Did you finish college?

10         A.   I did not, no.  I went one year and a
11 half.
12         Q.   And why do you think that you struggled
13 so much and ended up not graduating?
14         A.   I wasn't prepared to study, so I did not
15 know how to study.  It was something that I would go
16 to class and go back to lunch, go back to class, and
17 watch TV or hang out with my new friends, and then
18 10 o'clock rolled around, it was either study or go to
19 sleep, and I was tired by 10 o'clock, so I'd go to
20 sleep.
21         Q.   Do you feel if you had been prepared
22 more academically growing up that you would have
23 succeeded in college?
24         A.   Without a doubt.
25         Q.   Let's talk about your life now, Miguel.
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1 What do you do for a living?
2         A.   I'm officer in charge of the Saguache
3 Post Office.
4         Q.   And how does that job or profession
5 compare to others in the community?
6         A.   I would say it's one of the better jobs
7 in our community.
8         Q.   How are your -- what are your hours?
9         A.   I would start at 7:30, go to lunch from

10 12 to 1, and close up at 4:30.
11         Q.   So are you able to come home in the
12 evenings and spend time with your family?
13         A.   So I get back on the road at 4:30.  It's
14 about a half-hour drive.
15         Q.   How does that compare to other families
16 in the community?  Are they able to have jobs that
17 keep similar hours or do you know of other people who
18 have different type of hours?
19         A.   You know, I love my job because I'm able
20 to do that and be home at a good time and spend, you
21 know, the afternoon with my kids, and I know in the
22 community there's -- my in-laws -- my brother-in-law
23 and sister-in-law, they don't have that same kind of
24 opportunity, which they're working until 9, 10 o'clock
25 at night.
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1         Q.   Are you married?
2         A.   I am married, yes.
3         Q.   What is your wife's name?
4         A.   My wife's name is Yurida Cendejas, Yuri
5 for short, Y-u-r-i.
6         Q.   What does she do for a living?
7         A.   She's the branch manager at the Saguache
8 County Credit Union there in Center.
9         Q.   And does she keep pretty regular hours

10 also?
11         A.   Yes.
12         Q.   And home in the evening as well?
13         A.   Home in the evening as well.
14         Q.   And what is Yuri's background?
15         A.   She came from Mexico when she was 19.
16 She graduated in Mexico, and they decided to take a
17 vacation to Colorado and never left home -- back home.
18         Q.   Did she speak English when she came
19 here?
20         A.   Very minimal.  I would say not much.
21         Q.   But has she learned English since then?
22         A.   Yes, she has.
23         Q.   And do you and Yuri have children?
24         A.   We have three beautiful daughters.
25         Q.   What are their names and age?
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1         A.   Salma is 12, Natalia is 9, and Valeria
2 is 17 months.
3         Q.   Tell me a little bit about Salma.  What
4 are her hobbies and interests?
5         A.   She's amazing.  She enjoys life.  She
6 loves sports, loves bringing home good grades.  You
7 know, she loves hanging out with me as well.
8         Q.   And where does she go to school?
9         A.   She's in middle school there in Center.

10         Q.   What grade will she be entering?
11         A.   She will be entering the seventh grade.
12         Q.   And do you expect she'll go to Center
13 High School as well?
14         A.   I do.
15         Q.   And how has she performed in high
16 school?
17         A.   She's done very good.
18         Q.   And what about Natalia?
19         A.   She's a go-getter.  She's amazing.
20         Q.   What are her hobbies and interests?
21         A.   She loves doing it all.  She loves --
22 she's competitive.  She loves trying to take first if
23 she can in anything, even outdoing me, swimming,
24 baseball, basketball, golf.  Doing well in school as
25 well.
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1         Q.   So I take she's got a driven
2 personality?
3         A.   Yes.
4         Q.   And where does she go to school?
5         A.   She's in elementary in Center.
6         Q.   And what grade will she be entering?
7         A.   She will be entering the third grade.
8         Q.   And how has she done in school?
9         A.   She's done fairly well.

10         Q.   And are you and Yuri actively involved
11 in their education?
12         A.   Yes, we are.
13         Q.   In what ways?  What do you do at home to
14 help support their education?
15         A.   We go over their homework.  We're always
16 asking them questions to what did you eat, what did
17 you like best about school today.
18         Q.   Do you study with them?
19         A.   Yes.  I feel it's our obligation to.
20         Q.   And how do you study with them?
21         A.   Salma was struggling in history class,
22 and after seeing that she was struggling, I said,
23 "Okay.  Let's focus away from that a little bit."  And
24 made up a story of what she was actually trying to
25 study, and I could see that light bulb turn on.  She
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1 went and did the test, came back the next day, "Dad, I
2 got 100 percent on the test because I remembered your
3 words in the back of my head, what that story was."
4         Q.   Any similar experiences with Natalia?
5         A.   Natalia was struggling in math, and same
6 thing, struggling.  Told her to put it aside.  Went
7 and grabbed a handful of pinto beans, put them on the
8 table.  We were able to do math that way.
9         Q.   Did it show her how to add and subtract?

10         A.   I think she was able to get it.  I think
11 she saw it.  And who thought that pinto beans could
12 help you learn math?
13         Q.   And you mentioned earlier that when you
14 were in school, you never really learned how to study.
15 What have you done to make sure that that doesn't
16 happen to Natalia and to Salma?
17         A.   One thing I noticed was my parents did
18 not know because based on their education, they
19 thought in a sort of way we were smarter than they
20 were and how could they help us -- how could they
21 teach us what we needed to.  I see that with my
22 daughters, I wanted to be able to be there and help
23 them learn, doing whatever it takes, if that's
24 something that we need to come up.
25         Q.   And have you made an effort to go out
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1 and learn ways to help them study?
2         A.   No, other than just myself reading
3 motivational books, just knowing that my obligation to
4 them is trying to help them go on the right path.
5         Q.   And why is it that you and Yuri take
6 such an active role in their education?
7         A.   Without education, I think that you're
8 average.  We want them to succeed.
9         Q.   Do you feel the schools in Center are

10 giving them these same sort of techniques and
11 opportunities?
12         A.   They're doing the best with what they
13 have, but there's something lacking, and I think
14 sometimes that's where we try to help, and we can only
15 do so much as well.
16         Q.   How does your ability -- your active
17 involvement, how does that compare to other families
18 in Center?  Are they able to offer the same sort of
19 support?
20         A.   No.  You know, some, but it's very
21 minimal.  I would say the majority struggle because
22 they're not there.
23         Q.   And why aren't they there?
24         A.   Working.
25         Q.   What motivated you and Yuri to join this

805

1 lawsuit?
2         A.   For them.
3         Q.   Them being Salma and Natalia and
4 Valeria?
5         A.   Salma, Natalia, Valeria, my nephews,
6 other kids.
7         Q.   Are you hoping to give them better
8 opportunities through your participation in this
9 lawsuit?

10         A.   That's what I'm hoping.  I hope that
11 they have the opportunities.
12              MS. WEST:  No more questions, Your
13 Honor.
14              THE COURT:  Counsel, do you have any
15 questions?
16              MS. BONO:  No, Your Honor.
17              THE COURT:  Cross-examination?
18              MR. FERO:  Thank you, Your Honor.
19                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
20 BY MR. FERO:
21         Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Cendejas.
22         A.   Good afternoon.
23         Q.   We've spoken before; is that right?
24         A.   That is correct.
25         Q.   Do you recall when I came down to Center
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1 to talk with you and your wife?
2         A.   I do.
3         Q.   Mr. Cendejas, you serve on the Center
4 School Board; is that right?
5         A.   That is correct.
6         Q.   And how long have you been on the board
7 of education?
8         A.   Six years.
9         Q.   Are you an officer on the board?

10         A.   Secretary.
11         Q.   How long have you been secretary?
12         A.   Maybe three years.
13         Q.   Are you familiar with a teacher in the
14 district, Shirley Atencio?
15         A.   Yes, I am.
16         Q.   And what do you --
17              MS. WEST:  Objection, Your Honor.
18 Specific names are confidential.
19              THE COURT:  If you want to make a
20 different reference then to -- if you can denote the
21 person in some other way?
22              MR. KANAWABE:  May we have a sidebar
23 outside the actual --
24              THE COURT:  Yes.
25              (Discussion off the record conducted at
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1 the bench.)
2         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Thanks for your patience,
3 Mr. Cendejas.  I was asking if you were familiar with
4 a particular teacher in the district, a Miss Atencio?
5         A.   Yes, I am.
6         Q.   And did Miss Atencio receive an award
7 this year?
8         A.   Yes.
9         Q.   What award is that?

10         A.   Teacher of the year award.
11         Q.   And was that for the district?
12         A.   The valley.
13         Q.   The entire San Luis Valley?
14         A.   The San Luis Valley.
15         Q.   And are you aware of any awards the
16 school district itself has received?
17         A.   Elementary received an award.  I'm not
18 sure the name or was not prepared for that at this
19 time.
20         Q.   Were you aware that the district
21 received a Center for Education Excellence award in
22 the years 2009 and 2011?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Does the Center School District have a
25 website, to your knowledge?
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1         A.   Yes.
2         Q.   And are you aware that website states
3 that the patrons of Center Consolidated Schools have
4 indeed developed a school system worthy of pride?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   Do you agree with that?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   And what makes you proud of the Center
9 School District?

10         A.   My kids are going there.  I went there.
11 That's where I live.
12         Q.   Anything else?
13         A.   We try to give our kids the best; that
14 way they could be walking with their head held high.
15         Q.   Anything else that makes you proud of
16 the Center School District?
17         A.   What makes me proud of the Center School
18 District, we have a good leader, a good
19 superintendent.
20         Q.   Anything else?
21         A.   We have some really good teachers.
22         Q.   Is the school district in the process of
23 constructing a new facility?
24         A.   Yes, it is.
25         Q.   And how did that come about?
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1         A.   BEST monies.  People voted in it.
2 People passed it with their votes.
3         Q.   How do you feel about this new facility?
4         A.   We needed it.  We need it for our
5 community.  We need it for our children.
6         Q.   And that facility, is that scheduled to
7 open next fall?  Is that right?
8         A.   2012.
9         Q.   And does the district have facility

10 needs at this time?
11         A.   Yes, it does.
12         Q.   Do you expect that the new facility will
13 meet all of those needs?
14         A.   It's going to meet a lot of needs that
15 we need right now, yes.
16         Q.   And do you believe that the new
17 facility -- do you expect it will meet all of the
18 needs you're aware of at this time for facilities?
19         A.   For facilities, yes.
20         Q.   Are you aware that Superintendent Welsh
21 testified he does haven't the guts to ask for a mill
22 levy override after raising the district's bond mill
23 levy to the maximum for the new facility?
24         A.   No.
25         Q.   And is the board afraid to ask the
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1 community for a mill levy override?
2         A.   If you know our community, you know that
3 there's a lot of families that just -- it's tough for
4 them to make ends meet.
5         Q.   And so is the board afraid to ask the
6 community for a mill levy override?
7         A.   I'm not sure.
8         Q.   You don't know?
9         A.   I don't know.

10         Q.   Has the board discussed that?
11         A.   If we have, you know, I'm not sure.
12         Q.   You're not just a board member; you're a
13 tax member in the district; is that right?
14         A.   That's correct.
15         Q.   Are you willing to pay additional taxes
16 for the Center School District?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   Are you aware that Superintendent Welsh
19 testified that he has to put a positive spin on things
20 to make the community feel comfortable that kids can
21 get a good education in the district?
22              MS. WEST:  Objection, foundation.
23              THE COURT:  Overruled.  I think he
24 testified to that.  Overruled.
25         A.   Can you ask that question again?
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1         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Sure.  Are you aware that
2 Superintendent Welsh testified he has to put a
3 positive spin on things to make the community feel
4 comfortable that kids can get a good education in the
5 district?
6         A.   What is positive spin?
7         Q.   Are you aware that Superintendent Welsh
8 testified if he really wanted financial problems, he
9 would tell the truth and then might struggle to keep

10 some of the good students the district attracts?
11         A.   I still don't understand the question.
12         Q.   Are you aware of that testimony?
13         A.   No.
14         Q.   And does the school board put a positive
15 spin on things to make the community feel comfortable
16 that kids can get a good education in the district?
17         A.   What do you mean by "positive spin"?
18         Q.   Does the school board use the absolute
19 truth in its communications with the community?
20         A.   Yes.
21         Q.   Would you endorse an approach that
22 deviated in any way, shape, or form from the absolute
23 truth in your communications with the community?
24         A.   Can you rephrase the question?
25         Q.   Would you as a board member endorse a
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1 method of communication with the community that
2 deviated in any way, shape, or form from the absolute
3 truth?
4         A.   Away from the truth, no.
5         Q.   Now, the Center community, would you --
6 is it fair to describe it as a rural community?
7         A.   Correct.
8         Q.   And are there other schools nearby?
9         A.   Yes.

10         Q.   How far away is Sargent?
11         A.   About five miles.
12         Q.   And there's a school there?
13         A.   That's my understanding, yes.
14         Q.   How far away is Del Norte?
15         A.   Oh, 12, 15 miles.
16         Q.   And there's a school there as well?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   And how about Sangre de Cristo, is that
19 nearby?
20         A.   Yes.
21         Q.   How far is that?
22         A.   Also about 12, 15 miles.
23         Q.   Is there a school there as well?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   Have you ever considered sending your
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1 children to one of those schools?
2         A.   No.
3         Q.   So you've chosen for them to attend the
4 Center School District; is that right?
5         A.   That is correct.
6              MR. FERO:  No further questions.
7              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect?
8                  REDIRECT EXAMINATION
9 BY MS. WEST:

10         Q.   Miguel, you just mentioned that --
11 agreed that Center did win an Excellence award.  Do
12 you know why they received that award?
13         A.   They showed some growth.
14         Q.   Was it growth over a certain amount of
15 years?
16         A.   That is correct.
17         Q.   And where was Center performing in terms
18 of its proficiency levels as compared to the rest of
19 the state?
20         A.   Well below compared to the state.
21         Q.   So if I understand correctly, the award
22 was because they achieved a certain amount of growth
23 from where they started to where they ended up, but
24 that does not mean that they were proficient -- that
25 the students were proficient or they were competitive
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1 across the state?
2              MR. FERO:  Objection to the form,
3 leading.
4              THE COURT:  It is leading.  Do you want
5 to rephrase?
6         Q.   (BY MS. WEST)  What is your
7 understanding of why the award was given?
8         A.   Because they showed growth, but not
9 compared to where they should be, compared to where

10 the State has told us where they need to be.
11         Q.   And you talked about pride within your
12 community and pride in the school.  And if you could
13 explain to me why it is that you are proud of Center
14 schools or proud of Center.
15         A.   That's where I've grown up.  That's
16 where I've held my jobs.  That's where my parents
17 live.  That's where other friends that I have live.
18 Everything is just there.
19         Q.   And do you feel that the people in that
20 community really care?
21              MR. FERO:  Object to form, leading.
22              THE COURT:  Overruled.
23         A.   I do.
24         Q.   (BY MS. WEST)  And does your pride in
25 Center -- do you still feel that Center is lacking in
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1 certain supplies, adequacy of education, things along
2 that line?
3         A.   That's why I'm here, because I believe
4 so.
5         Q.   Are you proud that Center has tried to
6 do its best?
7         A.   I am proud that they've tried to do
8 their best with what they have, yes.
9         Q.   And are you concerned that their best is

10 not enough?
11         A.   That is correct.
12         Q.   You talked about the -- Mr. Fero talked
13 about the new building that is being built in Center.
14 How is the old facility lacking in any way?
15         A.   My daughter lost her books because pipes
16 froze.
17         Q.   Did the pipes -- did the ceiling fall
18 down on her?
19         A.   No, but the way the school was built,
20 two stories, the pipes in between broke, busted, and
21 some of the kids lost -- their supplies that we had to
22 pay for were lost.
23         Q.   And do you feel that the facilities have
24 been lacking for a while?
25         A.   Yes, they have.
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1         Q.   Do you feel that the new building is a
2 necessary improvement?
3         A.   It is definitely a necessary
4 improvement.
5         Q.   And has the community agreed to help pay
6 for that building?
7         A.   The community has stepped up to see
8 something, I guess, big in this case come to Center.
9         Q.   And how difficult do you think that will

10 be for the community?
11         A.   It's going to be tough.  It's going to
12 be tough.  Like I said, people trying to find, you
13 know, ends meet and still know they're going to have
14 to pay a little bit more, but in the end, that's where
15 their kids are going to go to school.
16              MS. WEST:  No further questions.
17              THE COURT:  Recross?
18              MR. FERO:  No, thank you, Your Honor.
19 Thank you, Mr. Cendejas.
20              THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may
21 step down.
22              Next witness for the Plaintiff.
23              MR. KAWANABE:  Your Honor -- may I have
24 a minute, Your Honor?
25              THE COURT:  You want to take a break?

817

1              MR. KAWANABE:  That would be great.
2              THE COURT:  Let's take a break.  Let's
3 until about twenty -- twenty to 3.
4              MR. KAWANABE:  Thank you, Your Honor.
5              (Recess taken, 2:21 p.m. to 2:41 p.m.)
6              THE COURT:  We're back on the record.
7 The next witness for the Plaintiff.
8              MR. DANCE:  The Plaintiffs call Kevin
9 Edgar.

10                    KEVIN C. EDGAR,
11 was called as a witness, and having been sworn or
12 affirmed, was examined and testified as follows:
13              THE COURT:  And once you're seated, if
14 you could state your full name and spell your last
15 name for the record.
16              THE WITNESS:  My name is Kevin Carl
17 Edgar.  Last name is spelled E-d-g-a-r.
18              THE COURT:  Thank you.
19                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
20 BY MR. DANCE:
21         Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Edgar.
22         A.   Good afternoon.
23         Q.   Could you please introduce yourself?
24         A.   Yes, I'm Kevin Edgar.  I'm the
25 superintendent of the Sanford School District.
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1         Q.   And how long have you been the
2 superintendent of the Sanford School District?
3         A.   Just completed my sixth year.
4         Q.   So what year did you start?
5         A.   2005.
6         Q.   Please tell us what it's like being the
7 superintendent in Sanford.
8         A.   Well, Sanford is a very small rural
9 school district.  As superintendent in that district,

10 you are very -- many people know you.  We're a
11 small -- it's a small community, a small school.  So
12 you also wear a lot of hats as a superintendent.
13              An example of that might be if a bus
14 breaks down, I'm probably the one that will bring the
15 bus out to pick up the students, to get them on their
16 way to school.  You know, I do bus duty every morning.
17 I do hall duty as the students enter the school.  I've
18 been known to pick up trash after ball games and
19 announce ball games.  So you're not only an
20 educational leader, but you get your hands dirty being
21 the superintendent at Sanford.
22         Q.   And what did you do before you became a
23 superintendent?
24         A.   I was a teacher in the district.
25         Q.   For how long?
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1         A.   Well, I taught -- let's see.  About 14
2 years.
3         Q.   All in Sanford?
4         A.   All in Sanford.
5         Q.   What brought you to Sanford in the first
6 place?
7         A.   Well, I was -- I spent most of my
8 life -- I grew up in the community.
9         Q.   You grew up in Sanford?

10         A.   Yes, I did.
11         Q.   And did you graduate from Sanford High
12 School?
13         A.   Yes, I did.
14         Q.   And do you have any kids that have gone
15 through the district, your own children?
16         A.   Yes, I do.
17         Q.   Any kids that are still in the district?
18         A.   Yes, I have one.
19         Q.   And how old is your child?
20         A.   He's a senior this year.
21         Q.   Could you tell me about your education
22 background after you graduated from Sanford High
23 School?
24         A.   Yes.  I attended Ricks College in
25 Rexford, Idaho for a couple years and on to Adams
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1 State College in Alamosa, where I graduated with a
2 teaching degree and later went back and obtained a
3 master's degree in educational leadership, received my
4 principal endorsement, and then three credits away
5 from my administration license.
6         Q.   I'd like you to tell me about the
7 Sanford School District.  First, where is the district
8 located?
9              MR. DANCE:  Is that the pointer?

10              MS. GEBHARDT:  Yes.
11         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  If you hold that green
12 button.  If you could please identify on the map where
13 the Sanford School District is located?
14         A.   It's a little blurry.  I'm sorry.  I
15 have trouble seeing it.
16         Q.   Is that any better?
17         A.   I believe it's right there.
18         Q.   And please, can you describe the Sanford
19 community to us?
20         A.   Well, the Sanford community is a small,
21 rural community surrounded by agriculture.  There's
22 very little other business in the community other than
23 agriculture.  So if you're not involved in
24 agriculture, you probably commute to Alamosa to work
25 or you work in the school.  Very poor area.  Conejos
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1 County is one of the poorest counties in the state.
2 So many of the people who live in that area are very
3 poor.
4         Q.   How long has the Sanford School District
5 been around?
6         A.   I'm not certain, but I know that we have
7 a building where graduates graduated in 1922, so I
8 would suppose around 100 years there's been a school
9 in community.  I'm not sure when the district -- if

10 the same boundaries exist today as existed then.
11         Q.   How important is the school district to
12 the community?
13         A.   Well, our school district is the center
14 of our community geographically and emotionally.  It
15 lies in the middle of our town, and the school
16 district -- our community has great support and love
17 for our school district.  Activities that take place
18 at the school are well supported by the community.
19         Q.   I'd like to turn to the district's
20 students.  How many students are in the district?
21         A.   I believe last year our October count
22 was about 346 pre-K through 12.
23         Q.   What's the demographic breakdown of the
24 students?
25         A.   We're about 30 percent minority,
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1 69 percent free and reduced, somewhere around there.
2         Q.   Do you have any English language
3 learners?
4         A.   We have a couple.
5         Q.   Do you know how many you had last year?
6         A.   Two.
7         Q.   Do you have any students with
8 disabilities?
9         A.   Yes.

10         Q.   How many?
11         A.   We had about 30 students last year with
12 disabilities.
13         Q.   Did you have any gifted and talented
14 students?
15         A.   Yes.
16         Q.   Approximately how many?
17         A.   I think the district has identified
18 about 46 students gifted and talented.
19         Q.   And how has the enrollment been for the
20 last couple years?
21         A.   It's been stable.
22         Q.   How many school buildings make up the
23 district?
24         A.   We have one large building that is the K
25 through 12 building.  There's several hallways, so
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1 kindergarten through seniors go there, and we have a
2 smaller building on the campus some of our preschool
3 attend.
4         Q.   And do multiple schools, for sake of
5 accreditation purposes or CDE purposes, reside in that
6 same building?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   What schools are those?
9         A.   Well, we have an elementary school which

10 is K through sixth, junior high school is seventh and
11 eighth, and high school is grades 9 through 12.
12              MR. DANCE:  May I approach the witness,
13 Your Honor?
14              THE COURT:  Yes.
15              (Document tendered.)
16         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  Mr. Edgar, I've shown
17 you what's been marked as Exhibit 10124.  Do you
18 recognize this document?
19         A.   Yes.
20         Q.   What is it?
21         A.   It's our district performance framework
22 for 2010, for one year.
23         Q.   For one year?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   And is this a true and accurate copy of
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1 the report?
2         A.   I believe so.
3         Q.   If you could turn to the other document
4 I just handed you.  I'm showing you what's been marked
5 as Exhibit 10125.  Do you recognize this document?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   And what is this document?
8         A.   It's our district performance framework
9 report 2010.  Three years, excuse me, for the report.

10         Q.   And is this a true and accurate copy of
11 the report?
12         A.   Yes.
13              MR. DANCE:  Your Honor, we offer
14 Exhibits 10124 and 10125 into evidence.
15              THE COURT:  Any objection?
16              MR. FERO:  None, Your Honor.
17              THE COURT:  They'll be admitted into
18 evidence.  Thank you.
19              (Exhibit Numbers 10124 and 10125 were
20 received in evidence.)
21         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  What is the purpose of
22 the district performance framework report?
23         A.   Well, the framework report shows how the
24 district is meeting accreditation requirements and how
25 we are performing academically according to state
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1 testing.
2         Q.   And is there a specific test that this
3 report is tied to?
4         A.   Mostly CSAP.  I believe in the high
5 school portion, ACT.
6         Q.   And I believe you said this report is
7 tied to accreditation?
8         A.   Yes.
9         Q.   Can the district waive out of the

10 accreditation process?
11         A.   Not to my knowledge.
12         Q.   Can the district waive out of CSAP?
13         A.   Not to my knowledge.
14         Q.   Now, we've got -- I've just shown you
15 two reports, a one-year and a three-year.  What's the
16 difference between these two reports as far as what
17 they show?
18         A.   Right.  One-year just covers one year in
19 time, whereas the three-year, because it covers three
20 years, you get to actually get a better look at trends
21 within your district, what is taking place over time,
22 a little bit better.
23         Q.   Do you have an opinion of which report
24 more accurately shows the district situation?
25         A.   I would say the three-year report would.
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1         Q.   And why is that?
2         A.   Because it shows more than one school
3 year.  It shows more time.
4         Q.   Is the district currently accredited?
5         A.   Yes, we are.
6         Q.   How would you describe your
7 accreditation status?  Are you solidly in the
8 accreditation range?
9         A.   Well, no.  To be accredited, you must be

10 above the 64th percentile, and if we look at our
11 three- year, we're in the 63 percent.  So if we were
12 to use the three-year, we would not be accredited, but
13 since the State allows us to use the better of the two
14 reports, we used our one-year, which is the 66.4
15 percent, which put us accredited.  So we're barely
16 accredited in my opinion.
17         Q.   You said barely accredited.  What does
18 that tell you about how the district is doing?
19         A.   Well, it tells me that we have areas
20 that we are failing here.
21         Q.   Are there any state requirements the
22 district is currently not meeting?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Please tell us what is that.
25         A.   Well, we are not meeting our academic
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1 growth gaps.  Can I go through the report?
2         Q.   In just a moment.
3         A.   Okay.  So one area we're not meeting is
4 our academic growth gaps.
5         Q.   Are there any state requirements that
6 the district is meeting at the moment?
7         A.   Yes.  We're meeting them in academic
8 achievement, academic growth, and postsecondary and
9 work force readiness.

10         Q.   You testified that Sanford is not
11 meeting requirements regarding growth gap.  What is a
12 growth gap?
13         A.   Well, a growth gap is something that --
14 an academic gap that exists between disaggregated
15 groups of students.
16         Q.   And what's the status of your growth
17 gap -- or what's the goal as to growth gaps?
18         A.   Well, the goal is to close the growth
19 gaps so that all disaggregated groups are achieving
20 proficient or above.
21         Q.   What's the status of your growth gaps?
22 Are they closing?
23         A.   No, they're not closing.  We had thought
24 a few years ago that we were making some progress, but
25 the last couple years, they've widened.  Just
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1 recently, our most recent years -- our most recent
2 CSAP, since they're not embargoed, in looking at them,
3 two of the three growth areas, we didn't make any
4 gains in.  One of them actually fell below where we
5 were.
6         Q.   And when you say CSAP results that are
7 no longer embargoed, what are you referring to?
8         A.   I'm referring to the test results that
9 were taken this last spring.

10         Q.   And have those recently been released?
11         A.   Yes.
12         Q.   When was that?
13         A.   I believe today.
14         Q.   And have you had a chance to review
15 them, the results that were released today?
16         A.   I reviewed them earlier, yes.
17         Q.   And what did those results show you?
18         A.   Those results showed me in many areas
19 they were very disappointing to me.
20         Q.   How so?
21         A.   We have some of our lowest scores that
22 we've had in a long time.  Our growth gaps aren't
23 closing.  It'll be interesting to see if we make the
24 same level of accreditation because of those scores.
25         Q.   Do you have some concern about the level
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1 of your future accreditation status?
2         A.   Yes.
3         Q.   I'd like you to turn to the three-year
4 district performance framework that was Exhibit 10125.
5 And what do Pages 2 through 4 of this report show you?
6         A.   2 through 4 shows our district results
7 in areas of achievement growth, in areas of reading,
8 writing, and math for our elementary, middle, and high
9 school.

10         Q.   And does each page of 2 through 4
11 represent a different school?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   Let's start with Page 2.  What school is
14 reflected on Page 2?
15         A.   Elementary school.
16         Q.   Tell me about the growth gaps at the
17 elementary school.  What do you see?
18         A.   When I look at academic growth gaps at
19 the elementary school, I see that we are approaching
20 in reading, we are not meeting those growth gaps in
21 minority students, students needing to catch up.  We
22 are approaching in math, not meeting those growth
23 gaps, the requirements by the State in free and
24 reduced, minority students, students with
25 disabilities, students needing to catch up.  In
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1 writing, we are overall approaching.  We do not meet
2 state expectations in free and reduced lunch eligible,
3 minority students, and students needing to catch up.
4         Q.   And what about the other state
5 requirements reflected on this page, achievement and
6 growth requirements?  What do you see?
7         A.   In academic achievement, I see that we
8 meet the State's requirements in mathematics, writing,
9 and science, but we do not meet them in reading and

10 academic growth.  We meet them in reading and math,
11 but we do not meet them in writing.
12         Q.   And do you see the far right column on
13 the page "made adequate growth"?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   What does that column refer to?
16         A.   Well, that column refers to did our
17 school -- did the elementary school make adequate
18 growth as determined by the State of Colorado.
19         Q.   And what do you see on that chart for
20 the academic growth section in that column?
21         A.   Under academic growth, I note we made
22 adequate growth.  Under academic growth gaps, I see
23 that one area in reading, we made it, and the rest in
24 reading, math, and writing, we did not make those.
25         Q.   I count nine no's in that column.  Is
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1 that right?
2         A.   That's correct.
3         Q.   I'd like you to turn to Page 3.  And
4 what is this page -- what school does this page refer
5 to?
6         A.   Our middle school or junior high.
7         Q.   First starting with the academic growth
8 gaps section, what do you see here?
9         A.   Well, I see that we aren't meeting any

10 of the state requirements in academic growth gaps.
11         Q.   Are there specific disaggregated --
12         A.   Excuse me.  We do meet them in reading
13 for free and reduced eligibility.  That's the only one
14 I see.
15         Q.   And tell me about the growth gaps for
16 the other disaggregated populations.
17         A.   Okay.  We do not meet them in minority
18 students in reading or students who need to catch up
19 in reading.  We do not meet them in math.  Our free
20 and reduced lunch eligible, we do not meet the state
21 requirements in those.  In math, we do not meet
22 students who need to catch up.  We are approaching in
23 writing.  We don't meet the requirements.  We are
24 approaching free and reduced, approaching.  Minority
25 students, approaching.  Students who need to catch up,
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1 approaching.  So we don't meet them in those areas.
2         Q.   And turning your attention to the column
3 on the right, you made adequate growth, what does that
4 column tell you about the academic growth gaps in the
5 district?
6         A.   Well, we're really not meeting most
7 of -- we're not making most of the adequate growth,
8 our students are not.
9         Q.   And the section right above growth gaps,

10 academic growth, is the middle -- junior high or
11 middle school?
12         A.   Junior high.
13         Q.   Is the junior high performing the
14 academic growth requirement?
15         A.   We're meeting the growth in reading.  We
16 are not meeting it in mathematics, and we are meeting
17 it in writing.
18         Q.   If you could turn to Page 4.  And what
19 school is reflected on this page?
20         A.   This is our high school.
21         Q.   And once again, beginning with growth
22 gaps, how is the high school performing with their
23 growth gaps?
24         A.   Overall, we're approaching, so we're not
25 meeting them.  In reading, we are not meeting them
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1 for -- let's see.  We are meeting them for free and
2 reduced lunch.  We do not meet them for minority
3 students.  We do not meet them for students who need
4 to catch up.  In mathematics, overall we meet them.
5 We meet them for free and reduced lunch.  We do not
6 meet them for minority students.  We do not meet them
7 for students needing to catch up.  In writing, we do
8 not meet.  We don't meet them for free and reduced
9 lunch eligible, not in minority students nor in

10 students needing to catch up.
11         Q.   And what do those no's in the made
12 adequate growth column tell you about the high
13 school's performance?
14         A.   Because the no's far outnumber the
15 yeses, it's telling me that we aren't making the
16 adequate growth we need to.
17         Q.   Has the high school won any awards?
18         A.   Yes, they have.
19         Q.   And what was that?
20         A.   I believe they won a bronze medal award
21 in U.S. News and World Report in 2009.
22         Q.   When was that?
23         A.   I believe it was 2009.
24         Q.   I believe you testified that the growth
25 gap is widening for the district.  Is that correct?
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1         A.   Yeah, it's plateaued, widening.  We're
2 not closing.
3         Q.   What do you attribute that to?
4         A.   Well, I attribute it to several things.
5 One is that the district doesn't have the resources in
6 order to meet the needs of those students and some of
7 those disaggregated groups in order to close those
8 gaps.  We don't have the interventions in place.
9         Q.   And what's an intervention?

10         A.   An intervention would be where a student
11 would receive extra academic help beyond the normal
12 scope of the day.
13         Q.   And beyond interventions, is there
14 anything else that you attribute -- your lacking
15 interventions, is there anything else you attribute
16 the widening growth gaps to?
17         A.   Yes, I attribute it to lack of
18 resources.  We don't have a viable curriculum in
19 place.  We don't have the people to -- in place to
20 assess the data so that we can come back and teach
21 effectively, do some disaggregated teaching.  It
22 basically comes down to resources, interventions,
23 curriculum.  We just don't have the means to provide
24 those things right now for students.
25         Q.   And what do you think it would take to
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1 close the growth gap?
2         A.   Well, we would need an effective RTI
3 program, response to intervention, where we could
4 intervene and help those students, catch them at a
5 young age and get them back on grade level.  We would
6 need some after-school programming.  We would need
7 some summer school programming, which we don't have.
8 We would need curriculum and resources to effectively
9 teach them.

10         Q.   In your opinion, does Sanford have
11 adequate resources to close the growth gap?
12         A.   No.
13         Q.   Overall, how is the junior high
14 performing?
15         A.   Well, out of the three schools, the
16 junior high is performing the worst.
17         Q.   What -- please go ahead.
18         A.   Last year, they were accredited with
19 improvement, so they fell below the 64th percentile.
20         Q.   And what do you attribute the junior
21 high's performance to?
22         A.   Well, I attribute the junior high's
23 performance to lack of a good junior high program in
24 all aspects.  They don't have their own identity.
25 They don't have a great curriculum that is unique to
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1 junior high students.  The teachers that teach high
2 school teach junior high.  They have very few
3 electives.  They have a chorus program but no other
4 arts offered.  Our junior high is struggling in many
5 areas.
6         Q.   You said the junior high lacks its own
7 identity.  What did you mean by that?
8         A.   Well, I think because of our school and
9 the smallness and the necessity to combine resources,

10 our junior high is probably thrown in with our high
11 school, just included.
12         Q.   You mentioned curriculum.  Does Sanford
13 have a curriculum tied to the state standards?
14         A.   You know, we don't.  One of our goals
15 was to work on that.  We've been working on a viable
16 curriculum tied to state standards with standards
17 changing to a national content, core content
18 standards.  In the past, we've worked with our
19 teachers, but teachers aren't trained in curriculum.
20 We have no curriculum specialist.  We don't have the
21 money to bring somebody into our district to help us
22 with curriculum.  We don't -- so teachers are burdened
23 with the assignment to find curriculum tied to the
24 standards on their own time, basically.
25         Q.   Do teachers have the training to develop
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1 curriculum?
2         A.   No.
3         Q.   What was that?
4         A.   No.
5         Q.   Has Sanford received any help from the
6 state regarding its curriculum?
7         A.   Not to my knowledge.
8         Q.   Is the district currently undertaking
9 any efforts to develop a curriculum tied to state

10 standards?
11         A.   Yes, we are.  This summer, we
12 actually -- several districts in the San Luis Valley
13 combined their resources, combined money to purchase
14 curriculum mapping from a company called Focal Point.
15         Q.   Do you know what the cost of that --
16 those curriculum maps are?
17         A.   Well, the cost to our district was
18 $10,000.  The total cost was I think around 110 to
19 120,000.  I'm not exactly sure what it ended up being.
20         Q.   Would the district have been able to
21 purchase those curriculum maps without the cooperation
22 of other districts?
23         A.   No.  In fact, in my opinion, had not
24 some other districts had some extra money from
25 improvement grants, it probably wouldn't have
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1 happened.
2         Q.   What did you say about extra money?
3 What did you mean by that?
4         A.   Well, a couple of the districts that are
5 involved in this coalition to throw in and help each
6 other with our resources were districts that received
7 improvement grants recently.  So they had more money
8 that they could throw -- or use to develop curriculum,
9 and they actually put in more than I am.  They put in

10 more than 10,000.
11         Q.   And do you know what an improvement
12 grant is?
13         A.   I know that if you -- if academically
14 your school district reaches -- you know, if you are
15 one of the lower levels of achievement, then it makes
16 you eligible for grant money to come in and assist you
17 in getting your academic performance up.
18         Q.   Do you know how low performance a
19 district needs to be at to be eligible for that?
20         A.   I don't.
21         Q.   And do you know, is that sometimes
22 referred to as a turnaround grant?
23         A.   It probably is.
24         Q.   You used the phrase curriculum maps; is
25 that different than curriculum?
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1         A.   Well, the curriculum maps give us a
2 longitudinal time line when you should be focusing on
3 standards over the year, which standards you need to
4 teach.  Curriculum maps that we are purchasing will
5 not provide resources for those curriculum maps, so
6 still the burden of resources is left to the district.
7 We still have to purchase textbooks, find resources
8 that would match up with those curriculum maps to
9 teach specific standards at different times during the

10 year.
11         Q.   You mentioned textbooks.  Does the
12 district have textbooks that align with the state
13 standards?
14         A.   I would say most of them probably don't.
15         Q.   What do you mean by that?
16         A.   Well, I mean national core standards
17 were just adopted by the State.  There's no way we
18 have the resources to turn around and completely buy
19 new textbooks for our entire school.  In fact, we've
20 even attempted to have a textbook plan where we put
21 them on a rotation, and we've been unable to do that
22 because we just don't have the resources to tackle
23 that.
24              In fact, an interesting story is that I
25 had a student come up to me here a couple years ago
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1 and say, "Mr. Edgar, I'm using the same book you did
2 in physics."
3              And I said, "What are you talking
4 about?"
5              He said, "Well, your name is in our
6 physics book."
7              And I remember when those books were new
8 in 1980 when I was a junior in high school.  So we are
9 still using books that are outdated.  And when you

10 have curriculum or standards the State has updated and
11 your resources for your curriculum are outdated, you
12 can't achieve what you need to.  The students aren't
13 given a fair chance.
14         Q.   I want to jump back.  Did you say the
15 district is still using a textbook from when you were
16 a student?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   And when did you graduate?
19         A.   1981.
20         Q.   So at least 30 years old?
21         A.   Yes.  This year, we also -- we needed a
22 few math books, and knowing the budget crisis, I had a
23 math teacher that was able to find used books that we
24 could get in for much, much, much cheaper.  So we
25 resorted to buying used math textbooks.
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1         Q.   And do you know where you found those
2 used books?
3         A.   I don't recall.
4         Q.   Is the district able to refresh
5 textbooks as necessary?
6         A.   No.
7         Q.   Do you think it would be important for
8 the district to be able to do so?
9         A.   Well, you know, textbooks, although

10 they're not the only resource, they are a major
11 resource for students, and textbooks that aren't kept
12 current, it becomes very difficult for students to be
13 engaged in their learning with textbooks that are so
14 far outdated.  I mean when they look at graphics and
15 pictures and when they have examples and stories
16 within these textbooks that should be presented to
17 their parents instead of them, how difficult would
18 that be to stay engaged in your education?  Very
19 difficult.  Very important.
20         Q.   Beyond textbooks, are there other things
21 that teachers need to be able to teach effectively?
22         A.   Yes.
23         Q.   And what would be some examples?
24         A.   Well, I think they need access to
25 classroom space that they can do multiple types of
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1 learning.  They need access to resources with
2 technology standards in place and stuff.  You know, we
3 need access to technology.  They need projectors.
4 They need document cameras.  They need computers.
5              You know, as I look around this
6 courtroom, everybody has computers because it's
7 necessary now.  It's part of life.  And students need
8 those, teachers need those to prepare students for the
9 work force or to be ready for college.

10         Q.   You were just talking about computers.
11 What technology does the district have for -- let's
12 start with its teachers?
13         A.   Well, the teachers are given a desktop
14 in their classroom.  They have access -- the
15 elementary have access to a computer lab.  So when you
16 have eight or nine classes that have to juggle their
17 schedules to access that lab, students in elementary
18 might get 40 minutes of computers twice a week, access
19 to computers.
20         Q.   How many labs are in the elementary?
21         A.   One.  We also have one lab in the high
22 school.
23         Q.   Beyond that, does the district have any
24 labs besides those two?
25         A.   Not computer labs, no.
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1         Q.   Does each teacher in the district --
2 does each classroom have a projector?
3         A.   No.
4         Q.   Do each classrooms (sic) have document
5 cameras?
6         A.   No.
7         Q.   What technology is available to
8 students?
9         A.   Well, for elementary, there's a

10 computer, the desktop computer that is in the
11 classroom is shared by the teacher and the classroom,
12 plus they have the lab they can get to.  For the high
13 school, there is the high school lab, and about four
14 years ago, we started a one-to-one laptop project with
15 our high school.  So our high school students have
16 access -- each of them have a laptop computer.  Junior
17 high have to share a cart that they check out of the
18 library, junior high classes.  There is one junior
19 high class starting a computer lab.
20         Q.   Does each classroom -- do any classrooms
21 have a Smart Board?
22         A.   Just the two computer labs and our
23 special education classroom has a Smart Board.
24         Q.   So how many Smart Boards are in the
25 district total?
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1         A.   Three.
2         Q.   How's the district's Internet
3 connectivity?
4         A.   It's not very good.  It was -- it was
5 even worse a few years ago.  We have access through a
6 T1 line.  They say it's been enhanced to receive 10
7 megabytes, but every test we've run, about 5 to 6 is
8 all we get out of it.
9              So you can understand when you have high

10 school students on their laptops doing research at the
11 same time during the day, I can notice my computer in
12 my office slowing down because of our connectivity.  I
13 know if I'm going to do certain things, I do them at
14 certain times of the day.
15         Q.   Does the district's technology -- using
16 the district's technology, do students have access to
17 distance learning options?
18         A.   No.
19         Q.   Why not?
20         A.   Well, for one thing, our Internet speed
21 wouldn't support it.
22         Q.   What about video conferencing?
23         A.   No.
24         Q.   So do you have the option of having
25 students in the district participate in classes held
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1 in other districts via the Internet or video
2 conferencing?
3         A.   We do not.
4         Q.   You mentioned a one-to-one high school
5 laptop program.  How long has that program been
6 around?
7         A.   It just completed its fourth year.
8         Q.   And how is that program funded?
9         A.   The program started off with -- I

10 believe we received a Title II-D grant, technology
11 grant that we were eligible for one year.  It targeted
12 the eighth grade to assist them in being computer
13 literate.  That's one of the requirements, is that
14 eighth graders are technologically literate.  So the
15 laptop program -- the laptops were purchased to
16 target -- to assist us in that.  Knowing that
17 technology is a major part of educating a student,
18 we've continued to do that program, and we've been
19 fortunate.  We've been able to use TANF funds from the
20 county.  They've helped us in purchasing many of those
21 laptops so that we can -- the last two years, we've
22 used TANF funds to support that.
23         Q.   And would you characterize those TANF
24 funds from the county as a gift, grant, or donation?
25         A.   I'd say it's a gift, yeah.
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1         Q.   Does the district -- how dependent is
2 the district on gifts, grants, and donations for its
3 technology?
4         A.   Well, two of the three Smart Boards we
5 own come from grants.  The laptops, most of the
6 laptops that the students have come from TANF funding
7 or Title II-D grants.  I would say we're very
8 dependent upon them right now.
9         Q.   Do you feel the district has adequate

10 technology to provide its students a 21st century
11 education?
12         A.   No, I don't.
13         Q.   I'd like to talk about class offerings.
14 What elective classes are offered at the high school?
15         A.   We have three vocational programs for
16 electives.  We have vocational ag, which we offer like
17 welding, ag science.  We have vocational business,
18 which would offer computer, accounting classes.  We
19 have family consumer science, which offers a couple
20 electives for the high school.
21         Q.   Besides those vocational programs, are
22 there any other electives offered in the district?
23         A.   At the present time, we'll be offering
24 one class of chorus.  We had tried to sustain a band
25 program in the past.  We're not able to do that at
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1 this time, so band is no longer offered.  So they have
2 journalism.  Some of your higher level math, calculus,
3 I guess, would be an elective because it's not
4 required to graduate.  Spanish 2 would be an elective,
5 although I would say colleges say you need to have two
6 years of foreign language before you go to college,
7 but it's not a graduation requirement.  For college
8 students, I think it's an expectation.  I think that
9 would cover most of our electives.  PE.

10         Q.   Do you feel that electives are
11 important?
12         A.   Electives are important.
13         Q.   Why do you say that?
14         A.   Well, electives do a couple things.  For
15 one thing, they provide a time in the day where
16 students have a choice to take something that they
17 really enjoy, maybe even something that they plan on
18 being part of their career.  So it keeps them engaged
19 in their learning.  An entire day without an elective,
20 without that engagement, I think is difficult on
21 students, especially those who are at risk, that are
22 already struggling academically.  Not all students at
23 Sanford go to college, so we need to provide other
24 means of training, other classes that will prepare
25 them for the work force, and that's where those
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1 electives are important.
2         Q.   Does the district provide any AP courses
3 currently?
4         A.   We do.
5         Q.   What are those?
6         A.   Calculus, chemistry 2 I believe are the
7 two.
8         Q.   Do you have any others?
9         A.   We have a -- we offer a course through

10 Adams State, composition 101.  It's not an AP course.
11 It's a credit course.
12         Q.   Is that considered concurrent
13 enrollment?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   Besides those, do you have anything else
16 that helps prepare students for college?
17         A.   Just our college -- just our high school
18 graduation requirements.
19         Q.   What sports or extracurricular
20 activities does the district offer?
21         A.   In the fall, we offer football and
22 volleyball.  In the winter, we offer basketball.  In
23 the spring, we offer baseball and track.
24         Q.   Do you have any extracurricular
25 offerings?
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1         A.   Yes, we have our vocational clubs, of
2 course.  We have FBLA, Future Business Leaders of
3 America; FFA, Future Farmers of America; and FCCLA,
4 Family Career and Consumer -- Family Community and
5 Career Leaders of America.  We have chess club,
6 National Honor Society, Knowledge Bowl.
7         Q.   Do you think having extracurricular
8 offerings is important?
9         A.   I think it's very important.

10         Q.   Do you think offering sports is
11 important?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   Why are those important?
14         A.   Well, for one, sports teaches kids many
15 different things.  It teaches them teamwork, to work
16 together.  They also give them a chance to reach
17 goals, to set goals and to reach them, to keep them
18 engaged.  I know we have students in our district,
19 when they are enrolled in a sport, they probably won't
20 be ineligible.  When the sports over, they do struggle
21 with eligibility.  So it does help them academically.
22         Q.   By providing motivation to stay engaged?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   I'd like to ask you about the school
25 building.  You testified that K through 12 is all in
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1 one building.  Is that correct?
2         A.   Yes.
3         Q.   What's the condition of that building?
4         A.   Most of it, it's not very -- it's not
5 good.
6         Q.   Why do you say that?
7         A.   Well, we have several health and safety
8 concerns in our building.  You know, our oldest
9 portion -- I know that we graduated classes in 1922.

10 We did some environmental testing in our building and
11 found mold spores.  We have CO2 levels that are
12 elevated in many of the 1922 and 1928 portions of our
13 building because of no fresh air.  We have poor
14 lighting, actual lighting.  Too many exits for safety.
15 Leaking roofs.
16              We were taking -- I believe it was
17 called a NAEP test last year for fourth grade.  We
18 were one of the schools elected to represent our state
19 in that national testing.  During testing, we had a
20 gallon bucket that we set above our ceiling tiles to
21 catch water from our leaking roof.  And it overflowed
22 and collapsed the roof during testing, and the tile
23 collapsed.  Actually, it was not during the regular
24 testing.  It was during the makeup portion of the
25 testing.  It was fortunate, I guess, it was the makeup
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1 testing.
2         Q.   Do you think those building conditions
3 have an effect on students' ability to learn?
4         A.   Definitely.
5         Q.   Has the district taken any steps to
6 address these problems?
7         A.   We are.  We applied for a BEST grant
8 this past year, and fortunately, we received a BEST
9 grant.

10         Q.   And what is a BEST grant?
11         A.   A BEST grant is a grant given by the
12 State of Colorado to assist districts like ourselves
13 to update, maintain, and build facilities that are
14 safe and healthy for students in ways that we couldn't
15 do on our own.
16         Q.   What type of project did you request
17 approval for?  Is this renovations?  Are you seeking
18 an entirely new building?
19         A.   Well, we're seeking a complete new
20 elementary.  We are keeping the 2002 portion of our
21 building.  The rest of our building will be
22 demolished, and it will be rebuilt.  So our cafeteria,
23 our library, some of our high school classrooms,
24 complete elementary, administrative will all be new,
25 and the high school, even the 2002 portion will be
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1 renovated because we're having problems with it.
2         Q.   Do you know what the estimated cost of
3 the entire project is?
4         A.   Somewhere around $22 million.
5              MR. DANCE:  May I approach, Your
6 Honor -- the witness, Your Honor?
7              THE COURT:  Yes.
8              (Document tendered.)
9         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  I'm handing you what's

10 been marked Exhibit 249.  Do you recognize this
11 document?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   What is this document?
14         A.   This document is a hardship letter
15 request for a waiver of matching funds for our BEST
16 grant.
17         Q.   And is this a true and accurate copy of
18 the letter?
19         A.   I believe so.
20              MR. DANCE:  Your Honor, we offer
21 Exhibit 249 into evidence.
22              THE COURT:  Any objection?
23              MR. FERO:  None, Your Honor.
24              THE COURT:  That will be admitted.
25              (Exhibit 249 was received in evidence.)
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1         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  And what was the purpose
2 of this letter again?
3         A.   It was a hardship letter, requesting
4 waiver of matching funds.
5         Q.   Did the State ask the district to match
6 at a certain level?
7         A.   23 percent was our matching request by
8 the State.
9         Q.   And what would 23 percent -- what would

10 that have totaled out to, do you know?
11         A.   I don't.  I just know that we couldn't
12 do it.
13         Q.   And why do you say we couldn't do it?
14         A.   Well, for one thing, the school does not
15 have that amount of money in reserve, and the second
16 thing is our maximum bonding capacity for our school
17 is only a little less than $1.2 million.  We have the
18 fifth lowest assessed valuation of any district in the
19 State of Colorado.  So our ability to generate
20 23 percent of $22 million isn't possible.
21         Q.   And do you know what your maximum
22 bonding capacity -- what percentage of the total
23 project that worked out to be?
24         A.   It's a little over 5 percent.
25         Q.   If you could turn to Page 2 of the
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1 letter.  I'd like to direct your attention to the
2 third paragraph, second line.  "Currently the district
3 has no debt, but fiscal responsibility and fiscal
4 capability are two different foes."  What did you mean
5 by that?
6         A.   Well, you know, we want our school -- we
7 have to financially stay within our means to keep our
8 school.  So that's financial -- that's fiscal
9 responsibility.

10              Fiscal capability is the ability to
11 generate or have money in order to meet the needs of
12 our school.
13         Q.   And what's the status of the district's
14 BEST application?
15         A.   We received the grant.  We are in the
16 process -- we will put a bond in front of the voters
17 in November.
18         Q.   And is the grant contingent on that
19 vote?
20         A.   Yes, and the vote will be for the
21 maximum bonding capacity.
22         Q.   Do you expect the bond measure to pass?
23         A.   You know, education, because our school
24 is so well-supported by our community and education is
25 supported by our community, they realize the
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1 importance of it.  I would sure hope -- I would hope
2 that it would pass.  It's going to be a taxing measure
3 upon many of our residents.
4         Q.   And why do you say that?
5         A.   Well, property taxes.  For example, we
6 started to do a little research on this, and you own
7 an $85,000 home, your property tax will increase 90-
8 some dollars a year for 20 years.  Some people say 90-
9 some dollars a year isn't much, but to these people in

10 a poor county, every bit of money is important to them
11 to sustain their families' needs.
12         Q.   And do you know what the median income
13 in the area is?
14         A.   I don't.
15         Q.   And is the district seeking the maximum
16 bond that it could?
17         A.   No.
18         Q.   Could the district afford to build a new
19 building without the BEST grant?
20         A.   No.  In fact, the district couldn't
21 afford to renovate the existing building.  We couldn't
22 afford to bring it up to safety and health standards.
23 We couldn't afford, no.  The BEST is very important to
24 us, and we're grateful for the program.
25         Q.   What is your opinion of the BEST
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1 program?
2         A.   Well, you know, I live in an area where
3 I've seen other communities receive BEST funds, and I
4 know what it means to them.  I know what it means to
5 us.  I've been in their facilities.  I've spent many
6 years in our school as a student, a teacher, and a
7 superintendent.  You know, I'm very grateful for the
8 BEST program.  I think it's a great way that the State
9 realized that many of the facilities throughout the

10 state were failing our students, and the State looked
11 at a way that they could assist and they were able to
12 find a way to assist.
13              When I attended the BEST board meetings
14 when the grants were presented to the BEST board, I'm
15 amazed at -- you know, there are a lot of facilities
16 out there that need help, and there are a lot of them
17 that didn't get the help this year because there is
18 only so much money in the BEST program.  I'm just
19 grateful that we were one of them that could receive
20 that.
21         Q.   I'd like to ask you about some specific
22 populations within the district.  I believe you
23 testified that the district has two English language
24 learners; is that correct?
25         A.   Yes.
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1         Q.   What type of education do you provide
2 for those students?
3         A.   Total immersion.  I mean basically
4 they're brought into our classroom.
5         Q.   Do you have any special materials for
6 those students?
7         A.   Other than providing letters to their
8 parents in their native -- or in their language, no.
9         Q.   Do you have any special classes for

10 those students?
11         A.   No.
12         Q.   Do you have any special personnel or
13 translators assigned to those students to help them
14 throughout their school day?
15         A.   No.  If a parent comes in with a
16 concern, we get our foreign language teacher.  We have
17 some people in our district that are bilingual, so we
18 pull one of them out of class or off-duty, and we have
19 them assist us.
20         Q.   Does the district receive any funding
21 from the State for its ELL students?
22         A.   We receive some Title money, but I'm not
23 sure that's state money.
24         Q.   Does the district have adequate funds to
25 cover the needs of its ELL students?
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1         A.   No.  We only have two students.
2         Q.   Is the district meeting the needs of
3 those two students?
4         A.   No.
5         Q.   How many students with disabilities are
6 in the district?
7         A.   I believe there's 30.
8         Q.   And how are those students taught within
9 the district?

10         A.   Well, they spend part of the day in the
11 regular classroom and part of the day pulled out into
12 a special education program.  We have one teacher K
13 through 12 to service those 30 students.  If you're
14 familiar with special education, you know that one
15 teacher cannot service all those students.  So we use
16 paras to assist her in servicing those students.  A
17 couple of those students this coming year, we can't
18 meet their needs, so they will bused 18 miles to
19 Alamosa to a program there.
20         Q.   And what do you mean, you can't meet
21 those students' needs?
22         A.   Well, we don't have the services for
23 those students, and we don't have the resources to
24 provide the services.
25         Q.   And what type of services or resources
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1 are you referring to?
2         A.   Well, these are students that have
3 severe -- severe needs students, physical needs and
4 learning needs.  So one of them was wheelchair-bound.
5         Q.   Do you have any special transportation
6 concerns for those students?
7         A.   The wheelchair-bound student will, of
8 course, need to be transported in a vehicle with a
9 wheelchair lift, and we didn't have that.  So we

10 dipped into our capital reserve fund this year to buy
11 a small bus, 12-passenger bus with a wheelchair lift
12 so we could transport that student to Alamosa.
13         Q.   And how many teachers do you have that
14 are specialized in special education?
15         A.   One.
16         Q.   Has the district attempted to find a
17 second?
18         A.   Well, I think the district realizes that
19 we need a second, but we don't have the resources
20 right now to have a second teacher.
21         Q.   Are other teachers properly trained to
22 meet the needs of special ed students?
23         A.   No.
24         Q.   Does the district receive any help with
25 its special education students from the BOCES?
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1         A.   Well, the districts in the San Luis
2 Valley, there's a BOCES -- a regional BOCES in the San
3 Luis Valley.  Yes, we pool our resources and funding
4 to assist us in those needs.
5         Q.   And what type of services does the BOCES
6 provide for special education students?
7         A.   Well, they assist us with programming.
8 They assist us with the special ed -- making sure
9 we're meeting special education laws.  They provide

10 speech therapists, occupational therapists, many of
11 the things we're unable to do as well.
12         Q.   Are the services from the BOCES
13 sufficient to meet the needs of your special education
14 students?
15         A.   I don't think so.
16         Q.   Do you receive any funding from the
17 State for your special education students?
18         A.   Yes, we do.
19         Q.   Is it adequate to meet those students'
20 needs?
21         A.   Well, the fact that we need another
22 teacher and we can't afford it, I would say no.
23         Q.   Does the district have -- how many
24 gifted and talented students does the district have?
25         A.   I think they've identified 46 K through
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1 12.
2         Q.   And what's your understanding -- how is
3 gifted and talented defined?
4         A.   Well, I know there's a definition for
5 it.  I guess in my own words, I would say that it
6 would be the top -- the very top students who perform
7 in some areas -- in an area academically.  They're
8 probably fewer than 1 percent truly gifted students in
9 those populations.

10         Q.   Do you have any staff specially trained
11 for providing gifted and talented education?
12         A.   No, and I would say that we've
13 probably -- there's probably students that we haven't
14 identified correctly because we have no training in
15 that.
16         Q.   Does the district receive any gifted and
17 talented funds from the State?
18         A.   Yes, we do.
19         Q.   Are those funds sufficient to meet the
20 needs of your gifted and talented students?
21         A.   No.  In fact, all the districts in the
22 San Luis Valley pool their gifted and talented funds
23 into one pool, and then we divide it.  And I think my
24 portion is less than $6,000 for this next year.  So
25 $6,000, that's not enough to provide a class that's
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1 offered every day.  It's not enough to provide
2 programming.  It's not enough to provide gifted and
3 talented -- a teacher who is trained in gifted and
4 talented teaching gifted and talented students.  It's
5 not near, you know, what a true gifted and talented
6 student needs and should be given.
7         Q.   Do you feel that -- is the district
8 meeting the needs of its gifted and talented students?
9         A.   No.

10         Q.   You just stated that the districts
11 within the San Luis Valley pooled their money -- their
12 gifted and talented money; is that correct?
13         A.   Yes.
14         Q.   Are there any other ways in which
15 Sanford is working with other districts to save money
16 or share resources?
17         A.   Yeah.  We share some transportation.
18 This summer, a neighboring district to Sanford shared
19 transporting special needs students to a program in
20 Alamosa.  Our FFA club has transported students to and
21 back from activities.  We transported a student from
22 North Conejos back from a convention this summer.  We
23 applied -- we've applied for grants.  We've went in
24 together to apply for grants to increase our chances
25 at getting those grants because often grants encourage
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1 collaboration amongst those people who are using the
2 money.  So we went in for grants to help us.
3         Q.   Do you have any specific grants in mind?
4         A.   Yeah.  We received an EARS grant a
5 couple years ago.  Us and two other districts went in
6 together.  The money was actually ran through another
7 district, but it was to target at-risk students'
8 interventions in grades 5 through 8, at-risk students.
9         Q.   Are there any other ways in which

10 Sanford is working with other districts to save money
11 or share resources?
12         A.   Well, we've -- the last couple years, we
13 haven't had enough wrestlers to maintain a wrestling
14 program.  So they went next door to a neighboring
15 district.  We have a couple students that are
16 interested in gymnastics, so they travel to Alamosa in
17 the fall to do gymnastics.
18         Q.   Where do the Sanford wrestlers go?
19         A.   North Conejos.
20         Q.   What about the gymnasts?
21         A.   Alamosa.
22         Q.   Are there any other ways in which the
23 districts work together?
24         A.   Yeah.  We've shared some professional
25 development opportunities.  We had some of our
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1 teachers go to Saguache, to Mountain Valley School
2 District a couple years ago for some writing
3 professional development.  Of course, the curriculum
4 this year is a great example of how we're working
5 together.
6         Q.   Do districts work together to save costs
7 on health insurance?
8         A.   Yes, we do.
9         Q.   Earlier, you testified that the

10 district's enrollment has been stable the last couple
11 of years.  Is that correct?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   Is your funding also stable?
14         A.   No.
15         Q.   How so?
16         A.   Well, I think, you know, we're all aware
17 of the state budget cuts on education.  So our funding
18 is less than what it was a couple years ago.
19         Q.   Do you know approximately how much less?
20         A.   Approximately, I'd say somewhere close
21 to $400,000 for our district, and when you're working
22 on a $3 million budget for your general fund, that's
23 quite a bit.
24         Q.   And approximately over how many years
25 have these cuts been occurring?
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1         A.   Well, the past three, I believe.  There
2 was a recession -- the past two or three years.
3         Q.   You said two or three years?
4         A.   Yes.
5              MR. DANCE:  May I approach the witness,
6 Your Honor?
7              THE COURT:  Yes.
8              (Document tendered.)
9         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  I'm handing you what's

10 been marked as Exhibit 238.  Do you recognize this
11 document?
12         A.   Yes.
13         Q.   What is this document?
14         A.   This is our fiscal year 2010 budget
15 preparation report.
16         Q.   And you said fiscal year 2010.  Would
17 that be the '09-10 school year?
18         A.   Yes.
19         Q.   And is this a true and accurate copy of
20 the document?
21         A.   I believe so, yes.
22              MR. DANCE:  Your Honor, we offer exhibit
23 238 into evidence.
24              THE COURT:  Any objection?
25              MR. FERO:  None, Your Honor.
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1              THE COURT:  238 will be admitted.
2              (Exhibit 238 was received in evidence.)
3         Q.   (BY MR. DANCE)  Mr. Edgar, in general,
4 what are the district's main sources of funding?
5         A.   Well, the main source of funding would
6 be from the state equalization, and the other would be
7 from local property taxes, local taxes.
8         Q.   Let's start with local sources.  For the
9 budget in front of you, the '09-10 school year, about

10 how much funding did you receive from local sources?
11         A.   About $180,000.
12         Q.   And have you prepared a budget for this
13 coming school year yet, the '11-12 year?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   And how does the amount of funding for
16 this coming year compare to two years ago?
17         A.   Well, the funding in our state
18 equalization will be close to $400,000 less.
19         Q.   Start with the local at the moment.  Do
20 you know how the local compares to two years ago?
21         A.   Should be very similar.
22         Q.   And turning back to this budget, how
23 much funding did you receive from state sources in
24 '09-10?
25         A.   We received 2,804,000 from state
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1 equalization.  We expect to receive 15,000 for
2 transportation reimbursement.  I'm not sure the
3 vocation program, if that's state.  5,000 for the
4 vocational program.
5         Q.   So about 2.8 million, is that fair to
6 say?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   And do you know how much state funding
9 you're receiving for this coming school year?

10         A.   A little over $2.4 million.
11         Q.   So how has your state funding changed in
12 the last two years?
13         A.   It's decreased.
14         Q.   The state funding has increased?
15         A.   No, decreased.
16         Q.   Approximately how much?
17         A.   Approximately $400,000.
18         Q.   Approximately how much of your funding
19 comes from the state?
20         A.   90-plus percent.
21         Q.   Do you make any efforts to obtain
22 additional funding from local sources?
23         A.   I mean, yeah, there are fundraisers
24 activities that clubs do.  We charge gates for
25 activities, for athletic activities.  The clubs do
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1 fundraisers.  They go out and sell candy bars, hams,
2 oranges, food to help raise money for their clubs so
3 they can participate in some of the activities.
4              A few years ago, we actually had a group
5 of students in a club that, realizing that our library
6 was severely lacking in books and continues to lack in
7 books, but they went on a school-year-long fund-
8 raising activity, and their goal was to obtain a
9 million pennies, or $10,000, so that they could take

10 that money, turn around and buy books for the library.
11         Q.   And did they raise $10,000?
12         A.   I believe they did.
13         Q.   And how long did that take?
14         A.   All year.
15         Q.   And why was it necessary for the
16 students to have to raise money for library books?
17         A.   Well, I guess because the school didn't
18 feel like they had the resources to put those books in
19 the library, and the students realized that the school
20 didn't have the resources.  So the students took it
21 upon themselves to do something for their school.
22 They want their school to have the things that they
23 need, and they worked very hard to get those books
24 into the library.
25         Q.   Has the district since you've been
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1 superintendent attempted a mill levy override?
2         A.   No.
3         Q.   Why not?
4         A.   I think there's a couple reasons.  One
5 is because, you know, our district resides in a county
6 that is very -- has a lot of poverty.  So we realize
7 what that would -- the burden that would place upon
8 the parents.
9              And the other reason is one mill in our

10 district doesn't raise much money.  It raises less
11 than $6,000.  So . . .
12         Q.   Now, is that per taxpayer or total?
13         A.   Total.
14         Q.   The total is 6,000 from one mill?
15         A.   Yes, I don't know the exact amount, but
16 I'm sure it's less than $6,000.
17         Q.   And since you've been superintendent,
18 has the district sought any bond measures?
19         A.   Not until this year.  We're in
20 preparation for a bond -- to seek a bond measure.
21         Q.   You said you're currently in preparation
22 for one?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   And when will that go before the voters?
25         A.   November 1st.
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1         Q.   And how much are you seeking for that
2 bond?
3         A.   Our maximum bonding capacity is
4 $1,197,000.
5         Q.   And is that in connection with the BEST
6 grant you discussed earlier?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   Besides state and local sources, does
9 the district receive funds from any other sources?

10         A.   We receive some federal grant money
11 through Title.
12         Q.   Could you discuss the district's effort
13 to obtain grant money?
14         A.   Well, I think the district looks for
15 grant money that can be effectively used to help it in
16 just about any way.  You know, we rely on the federal
17 title money.  Although it's not a lot of money, it is
18 some money, so we try to target some at-risk students
19 with that money.  You know, we probably would never
20 have started our laptop program without grant money.
21 We wouldn't have -- we've received some capital
22 construction grants.  We've replaced a few doors in
23 our building, single-glass-pane doors with skeleton
24 key locks.  It wasn't the skeleton key locks that
25 caused us to replace those.  It was actually a kid's
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1 hand and another student's head going through those
2 single-pane glass windows in the hallways.  And we
3 were able to receive capital construction grants from
4 the State to replace those.
5         Q.   Would you have been able to replace
6 those without grants?
7         A.   Probably not.
8         Q.   Do you have any concerns about having to
9 rely on grants for ongoing programs?

10         A.   Yes.
11         Q.   What are those concerns?
12         A.   Well, you know, grants -- although, you
13 know, I appreciate the grants we receive, grants
14 ultimately are a Band-Aid approach.  They provide a
15 small shot in the arm, so to say, of funding to
16 attempt to assist students' education for a short
17 amount of time.  And once the funding is gone, often
18 you see the school fall back to what it was before.
19              I can give you an example of that.
20 Along with that Title II-D grant, we received some
21 money, and we actually hired a computer coach for our
22 elementary.  And the purpose was we realized that our
23 elementary students weren't getting enough technology.
24 They weren't learning to type correctly at a young
25 age.  They weren't learning to access computers
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1 correctly, and some of our teachers weren't trained in
2 it, to be honest with you.
3              So we hired a computer coach that
4 actually developed lessons with the teacher that would
5 integrate the technology and they would help the
6 teacher.  So when the teacher took the students to the
7 computer lab, there was somebody there that was very
8 good with technology, knew programming, knew how to
9 use it effectively in students' education.  We had

10 hoped that the training would also help our classroom
11 teachers so they could do the same once we lost the
12 grant and that teacher went away.
13              So after one year, we don't have the
14 funds.  It was a one-year position.  We found that the
15 teachers -- they never really -- they're not doing
16 anything different than what they were before we had
17 them.  It wasn't enough time to sustain a program.  It
18 wasn't enough time to train the teachers.  They need
19 ongoing professional development, not a one-time.
20              So grants, although they assist one
21 time, they don't ultimately make the necessary changes
22 that we need for long-term solutions.
23         Q.   You testified the district has
24 experienced about $400,000 in state cuts the last few
25 years.  Do you have any concerns about the district's
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1 ability to maintain its current level of achievement?
2         A.   Yes.  In fact, I don't know that we are
3 maintaining it.  I would really have to look at our
4 scores closely this year, but I know that we had some
5 growth gaps widen in one area and ultimately stay
6 about the same in the others, and we had some good
7 scores, we had some very poor scores.  So in doing
8 everything to meet the State's requirements for us,
9 we're struggling.  We're working our tails off and

10 doing the best we can with what we have, but we're
11 struggling.
12         Q.   How has the district dealt with recent
13 state funding cuts?
14         A.   Well, we've cut many areas within our
15 general budget and we've cut staff.  A major portion
16 of our budget is staff salaries and benefits.  So
17 we've reduced staff, combined positions, and made
18 cuts, you know, reduced our budgets in those areas.
19 This year, the administrators took no raises, no
20 increase in salary.
21         Q.   Have you cut any teaching positions in
22 the last few years?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Tell me about that.
25         A.   Well, a couple years ago, when the first
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1 big round of cuts were in place to hit our district,
2 we knew that they would have an impact upon our
3 budget, and so we had some elementary teachers that
4 were probationary that we had split some classes
5 because we had 28, 29 students in those classes.  We
6 made a decision that those classes would have to go
7 back together, and we released two probationary
8 teachers.
9         Q.   And so what was the effect of releasing

10 those two teachers?
11         A.   Increased class size.  I mean that was
12 just one effect.  The other effect is, you know, had a
13 definite effect on the morale of our district, on the
14 teachers, had a definite effect on the morale of the
15 community.  When you're reducing teachers, class sizes
16 are increasing.  That directly affects your students.
17 They cannot go home to mom and dad and listen to mom
18 and dad have conversations about having a larger class
19 next year because we reduced a teacher and not have an
20 effect on those students' education.
21         Q.   Does the district offer summer school?
22         A.   No.
23         Q.   Has the district ever offered summer
24 school?
25         A.   We did at one time.
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1         Q.   When did that -- when did summer school
2 end?
3         A.   A few years ago.  It started out many
4 years ago as a grant.  We ran off a grant for several
5 years.  The grant went away, and the district tried to
6 sustain it.  We went to a point where we felt we could
7 no longer sustain summer school, so it was one of the
8 reductions.
9         Q.   Do you think summer school is important?

10         A.   Yes.
11         Q.   Why is that?
12         A.   Well, without summer school -- you know,
13 your students that are academically achieving well
14 have opportunities in the summer for whatever reason,
15 that they don't lose what they've learned to the point
16 that the students who are home all summer with both
17 parents working, that come from a home that is high in
18 poverty.  It's a proven fact that if you don't offer
19 the opportunity for those students who are at risk
20 that are achieving poorly to catch up during the
21 summer, you will never in my opinion close those gaps.
22         Q.   How many teachers does the district
23 currently have?
24         A.   I think there's about 28.
25         Q.   And how does that compare to when you

876

1 started as superintendent in 2005?
2         A.   It's fewer.
3         Q.   Do you know approximately how many
4 fewer?
5         A.   Three or four.
6         Q.   And how many administrators does the
7 district have?
8         A.   Three.
9         Q.   Obviously, you're one; is that correct?

10         A.   Superintendent, elementary principal,
11 who does preschool through sixth grade, and then a
12 secondary principal that does seventh through twelfth
13 grade.
14         Q.   Do you have any teachers that are
15 performing multiple jobs?
16         A.   Yes.
17         Q.   Tell me about that.
18         A.   Well, a few years ago, when we started
19 hearing of budget cuts and we could see that funding
20 was going to be reduced about three years ago, I
21 believe was the first time that we really knew about
22 it, we looked at our staff, and we tried to be
23 proactive.  So we took a foreign language teacher who
24 now teaches Spanish 1 and Spanish 2 and the rest of
25 the day teaches physical education.  He teaches in the
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1 elementary, junior high, and high school.  Before
2 that, he was able to -- we were able to offer Spanish
3 classes to the junior high because we had a separate
4 physical education teacher.  We offered more health
5 classes to our high school.  So we combined those
6 positions to save money.
7              We have a teacher -- in my opinion, one
8 who is a great educator -- who resigned this year from
9 the district, and I really feel a part of the reason

10 she resigned is because we burned her out having her
11 do so many different things.
12         Q.   What was she doing?
13         A.   She was our FCS teacher, so she taught
14 family consumer science to high school and junior
15 high.  She was Title I -- she was over Title I, so she
16 was with the elementary a couple hours in the morning.
17 She attempted to do RTI and hold parent-staff meetings
18 and work on that during her prep time and after
19 school, and she was also the FCS club leader.  Very
20 talented individual, very talented, but it's too much.
21 It's too much for anyone to have to do so many
22 different things in a district.  You can't do your
23 best at what you want to do when you're asked to do
24 all these things.
25         Q.   And what's the effect of that, having to
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1 do multiple jobs?
2         A.   Well, ultimately the effect goes back to
3 your students.  Your students aren't getting the
4 opportunities that they deserve.
5         Q.   Do you feel the district has any room to
6 cut teachers?
7         A.   I don't know where we would cut at this
8 point, honestly.  We're running with, in my opinion,
9 with the fewest number of staff we can and still offer

10 what we do.
11         Q.   Do you have room to cut administrators?
12         A.   I don't believe we do.
13         Q.   Beyond the specific positions or
14 programs you've identified as being cut within the
15 last few years, are there any things the district
16 lacks the resources to provide that you feel are
17 necessary for students to receive an adequate
18 education?
19         A.   Yeah.  We don't have the amount of
20 technology we need in our classrooms.  We don't have
21 current textbooks.  We don't have -- you know, we
22 probably don't have the amount of supplies.  We don't
23 have the resources.  We don't have an RTI, anyone that
24 specializes in intervention, and that is our main
25 focus.  We don't have that.  We don't have a
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1 curriculum specialist, a director.  We don't have
2 someone who is specialized in reading.  We don't have
3 a reading specialist.  We don't have someone that is
4 specialized in data, in interpreting data to assist
5 the district.  I know that these positions are used in
6 some school districts, but we don't have the
7 resources.
8         Q.   Mr. Edgar, what's your personal
9 understanding of the phrase "local control of

10 instruction"?
11         A.   Well, I think my personal interpretation
12 is that local controls is when a local governing body
13 governs and controls the school.  I mean they set the
14 curriculum, they set the graduation standards, they
15 set, you know, many of the things at the school, they
16 would be over.  The standards, what is taught, what is
17 important to the school, that's local control.
18         Q.   Do you believe Sanford can currently
19 exercise meaningful local control?
20         A.   We have a board of education, but in my
21 opinion, I believe that local control has largely been
22 removed from our boards of education.  You know, you
23 can say, "Well, you still have the control.  You still
24 have the school board," but honestly, much of our
25 coursework is there because our students are expected
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1 to meet certain standards by the State.  The State has
2 state standards, and they ask you to teach to those
3 standards.  They ask students to test to those
4 standards.  Proficiency levels are set by those
5 standards.  Those standards aren't set by the schools.
6 Those are set by the State of Colorado.
7              How much local control do we really have
8 in our curriculum?  Already many of our students are
9 struggling.  They're not proficient according to our

10 state testing.  Do we want to not do everything we can
11 to give them that chance?  So you do what the State
12 asks to the best of your ability.  So I think it has
13 removed local control.
14         Q.   What's your personal understanding of
15 the phrase "a thorough and uniform system of free
16 public schools"?
17         A.   Well, I think a thorough and uniform
18 education -- system of education in public schools
19 would be an educational system in which all students
20 have opportunities to be -- to reach their maximum
21 academic potential regardless of where they live, what
22 circumstances they come from.  If they were
23 struggling, they have opportunities to get the help,
24 to have the interventions in place.
25              If a student wants to go on to be a
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1 doctor, a lawyer, school teacher, they have those
2 opportunities.  They have the necessary preparation so
3 when they go on to college or into the work force,
4 that they're ready.  They don't have to take remedial
5 classes.  They're ready.  They have opportunities in
6 arts.  They have opportunities in not just the core
7 areas.
8              Education is more than just reading,
9 writing, and math.  Although that's what we're tested

10 on, you know, in order to have a uniform and thorough
11 education, you want an education where students exit
12 your building when they graduate that will be good
13 members of society, they will have the necessary
14 background, the general skills to go on and be
15 contributing members of society.  They'll be community
16 leaders.  They'll want to participate in government.
17 They'll want to participate in community.  They want
18 to help the Earth, the environment.  They want to make
19 a difference.  They want to have a positive impact.
20 That's what a good educational system will provide.
21         Q.   And do you think that's relevant to the
22 requirement the district prepare students for college
23 and postsecondary readiness?
24         A.   I'm not sure I understand your question.
25         Q.   Sorry.  Do you think the things that you
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1 just described are important in preparing students for
2 college, for life after school?
3         A.   Oh, yes, the things I've described are
4 important, and I don't think that we're providing that
5 right now.  We're not.  We're doing the best we can
6 with what we have.  We're treading water.  We're
7 trying to keep our heads above water.  The
8 expectations help, and the help decreases.  And we're
9 failing our students.  You know, you can look at some

10 of our scores.  We are failing our students.
11         Q.   Do you think it's your responsibility to
12 provide that education to all students in the
13 district?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   Is it the State's expectation that you
16 do so?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   In thinking about your time as
19 superintendent, can you figure out any relationship
20 between the amount of funding you receive from the
21 State and the amount of the district's needs?
22         A.   No.
23              MR. DANCE:  Nothing further, Your Honor.
24              THE COURT:  Why don't we take a short
25 break because I think we started at 20 of 3, and I
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1 think the court reporter would like a little break.
2 Let's say about 15 minutes.  Let's say 4:30.
3              Thank you.
4              (Recess taken, 4:12 p.m. to 4:30 p.m.)
5              THE COURT:  We're going back on the
6 record.  Cross-examination?  Or do you have any
7 questions?  I'm sorry.
8              MS. BONO:  Yes, we do.
9              THE COURT:  Go right ahead.

10                  DIRECT EXAMINATION
11 BY MS. BONO:
12         Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Edgar.
13         A.   Hi.
14         Q.   You testified earlier that the
15 percentage of students who qualified for free and
16 reduced lunch in your district is approximately
17 69 percent; is that right?
18         A.   Yes, yes.
19         Q.   Has that percentage increased or
20 decreased over time?
21         A.   Probably stayed fairly stable.
22         Q.   And has that percentage of student
23 population created any specific challenges for your
24 district?
25         A.   Yes.  You know, in order to qualify for
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1 free and reduced lunch, it's based upon their parents'
2 income.  These are students from families that both
3 parents work, they don't make much money, poor
4 families, and when the kids go home at night, there's
5 probably no one there for them because both parents
6 are working.  I believe all of those present some
7 challenges.
8              It's not the parents don't support
9 education and want their kids to be educated, but in

10 order to meet their family needs, they focus more on
11 meeting those needs.  So the students are probably
12 left to focus on their education by themselves, which
13 puts them at risk.  And, you know, the fact that we're
14 comparing those populations I think is a fact that we
15 want to know how they're comparing to the other side,
16 to the individuals who don't qualify, the students
17 whose parents' income is above a certain poverty
18 level.  So yes, it presents some challenges.
19         Q.   Is the district doing anything currently
20 to meet some of those challenges?
21         A.   You know, most of the kids who qualify
22 for free and reduced lunch, our population is so big
23 that we're doing the same for everybody pretty much.
24 Some kids get some extra time through Title I, they
25 get pulled out a little bit, but not sufficient to
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1 meet their needs.
2         Q.   Does the district want to provide
3 additional supports for those children?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   And what types of additional support
6 would the district like to provide?
7         A.   We'll like to provide some after-school
8 programming for those kids, so instead of just going
9 home to TV with no supervision that they're actually

10 engaged in activities and academics that can help them
11 catch up with their counterparts.  Summer school
12 programming, provide opportunities for them to
13 continue academic growth throughout the summer, and
14 opportunities for them to do some things they would
15 otherwise not get to do, such as go to a museum or do
16 some things that really ties their education back to
17 their learning.
18         Q.   And why isn't the district currently
19 implementing those programs currently?
20         A.   Because we don't have the resources to
21 do so.
22         Q.   And if you had the additional resources,
23 you would implement those programs?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   Earlier with Mr. Dance, you were
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1 discussing a number of growth gaps in the performance
2 indicators that were reflected in Exhibits 10124 and
3 10125.  If the district did provide additional support
4 for those student populations, do you think that the
5 district would be able to better address those growth
6 gaps that you've discussed?
7         A.   Yes.
8              MS. BONO:  That's all the questions I
9 have at this time.  Thank you.

10              THE COURT:  Thank you.
11 Cross-examination?
12              MR. FERO:  Yes.  Thank you, Your Honor.
13                   CROSS-EXAMINATION
14 BY MR. FERO:
15         Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Edgar.
16         A.   Good afternoon.
17         Q.   I believe you were testifying about an
18 award that Sanford school received from U.S. News and
19 World Report; is that right?
20         A.   Yes.
21         Q.   And you described it as a bronze medal
22 award?
23         A.   I believe it was a bronze medal award.
24         Q.   And that's for the high school?
25         A.   Yes.
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1         Q.   The junior and senior high school is the
2 way U.S. News referred to it; is that right?
3         A.   I'm not -- I think it was just for high
4 school, but I'm not certain.
5         Q.   And that would be an award as one of the
6 best high schools in the United States, correct?
7         A.   Bronze medal, so it's -- I guess
8 whatever bronze medal award is for them.
9         Q.   But that wasn't a bronze medal of just

10 Colorado high schools; is that right?
11         A.   No.  Correct.
12         Q.   That was for all high schools in the
13 United States?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   And you agree this is something positive
16 for the district?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   Something to be proud of, is that right?
19         A.   Yes.
20         Q.   In what ways do you communicate with the
21 Sanford community?
22         A.   Well, I communicate to them through
23 newsletters, Web, at meetings, personal communication.
24         Q.   Is that all?
25         A.   Through the newspaper, our website.  I
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1 think those are most of the ways.
2         Q.   So the district does publish a
3 newsletter?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   Is that called Smoke Signals?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   And in the March 2011 issue, did you
8 write that nowhere else in the valley does a school
9 our size have three vocational programs and clubs

10 thriving?
11         A.   Yes, I did.
12         Q.   And you would say that is a strength of
13 the district, correct?
14         A.   I would.
15         Q.   As superintendent, you oversee the
16 carrying out of all activities and functions in the
17 district; is that correct?
18         A.   Correct.
19         Q.   And district leadership, you would
20 agree, helps provide direction and continuity?
21         A.   Yes.
22         Q.   And you would agree also that leadership
23 can impact student achievement?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   At least you hope your leadership does
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1 so; is that right?
2         A.   I would hope so.
3         Q.   You believe the community has confidence
4 in the district leadership, correct?
5         A.   I do.
6         Q.   And the Sanford community knows that its
7 superintendent is willing to drive the school bus?
8         A.   I'm sure some of them have seen me doing
9 it.

10         Q.   The community knows that the
11 superintendent is willing to pick up trash on the
12 school grounds?
13         A.   Yes.
14         Q.   I believe you were describing that the
15 district currently operates out of a single facility;
16 is that right?
17         A.   Kindergarten through 12th grade is in
18 one facility.  Preschool is in another, but on campus.
19         Q.   I see.  Let's stick with just K through
20 12.  I believe you described it was composed of
21 several different additions of different ages; is that
22 right?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Now, as far as you know, the State did
25 not design any part of that K through 12 facility; is
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1 that right?
2         A.   That's correct.
3         Q.   And as far as you know, the State did
4 not construct any part of that K through 12 facility?
5         A.   Correct.  And when the State visited
6 that facility, I believe it was Scott Newell, who
7 said -- he referred to it as a Frankenstein effect
8 because of all the different additions and hallways
9 and classrooms, a mess.

10         Q.   You were also testifying the district
11 has been awarded a BEST grant from the State; is that
12 right?
13         A.   Yes.
14         Q.   And were you aware that during your
15 direct testimony, the State Board of Education gave
16 the final approval to that grant?
17         A.   I was not aware of that.
18         Q.   I take it you're glad to hear that?
19         A.   Yes.
20         Q.   And you're going to use the BEST grant
21 to fund the major renovations of your K through 12
22 facility; correct?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   Could you describe in more detail what
25 those major renovations are?
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1         A.   We are going to renovate a 2002 addition
2 that was built with mostly state grant money, and then
3 we are going to completely build the rest of the
4 school and demolish the existing portions.
5         Q.   So is that the only portion you're going
6 to save is the 2002 addition; is that correct?
7         A.   The bus garage will be saved.  The
8 preschool will be moved into the main school building,
9 yeah.

10         Q.   And did you say that the 2002 addition
11 was paid for from a state grant?
12         A.   The district took part in the Giardino
13 lawsuit and received funds for that, received some
14 funds.  I'm not sure they received all that they were
15 awarded, but they accepted enough to help them build
16 that portion.  Without those funds, they wouldn't have
17 built it.
18         Q.   And I believe you were saying that the
19 total cost for that major renovation is approximately
20 $22 million; is that right?
21         A.   Yeah.  Yes.
22         Q.   And of that $22 million, the State would
23 be contributing 20,831,500.82; is that right?
24         A.   Yes.
25         Q.   And that would leave the district
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1 contribution at $1,197,335?
2         A.   Yes, our maximum bonding capacity.
3         Q.   And you were talking about -- that the
4 effect on the taxpayers in the district I believe was
5 $90; is that right?
6         A.   Well, if you own a house worth
7 $85,000 -- this is just -- we're in the process of
8 working up a sheet of facts for the taxpayers.  And
9 we've learned if you own a house that's valued at

10 approximately $85,000, you'll pay $90 in additional
11 taxes in bond taxes.
12         Q.   So that $90 spread out in taxes is going
13 to buy your district a $22 million facility, correct?
14              MR. HINOJOSA:  Objection, it's leading.
15              THE COURT:  Overruled.
16         A.   I'm not sure I understand the question.
17 Could you repeat the question, restate it, please?
18         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  I believe you also
19 testified that the district requested that its match
20 be reduced in this?
21         A.   Yes.
22         Q.   And the State granted that request; is
23 that correct?
24         A.   Yes, they did.
25         Q.   And when the renovations are complete,
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1 do you expect that the district will have a healthy
2 and safe building?
3         A.   Yes.
4         Q.   When the renovations are complete, do
5 you also expect the district's current facility needs
6 will be met?
7         A.   Yes.
8         Q.   I believe you're testifying that you're
9 aware that district is accredited by the State

10 Department of Education; is that right?
11         A.   Yes.
12         Q.   And that's on both the three-year and
13 the one-year reports, correct?
14         A.   Yes.
15         Q.   You've already seen this today.  This is
16 the one-year accreditation report, correct?
17         A.   Yes.
18         Q.   Can you point to on this document where
19 the category barely accredited is?
20         A.   I don't have anything to point to the
21 document with.  Do you have the --
22              MR. FERO:  May I approach?
23              THE COURT:  Yes.
24              (Pointer tendered.)
25         A.   The district presently is accredited.
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1 So right here is -- anything below -- 64 percent is
2 accredited.  We're at 66.4.  That's why I say barely
3 accredited.
4         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Where does it say barely
5 accredited is a category on that document, sir?
6         A.   It does not say that on the document.
7         Q.   So that's not a state performance
8 accreditation level; is that correct?
9         A.   Barely accredited is not a state

10 accreditation level.  However, if you fall below that,
11 you are no longer just accredited.  You are accredited
12 with improvement, which is a lower level.
13         Q.   You're aware that there are districts in
14 the San Luis Valley that are not rated as accredited
15 by the State; is that right?
16         A.   Yes.
17         Q.   And you don't know for certain at what
18 level the district will be accredited by the State
19 when next year's report comes out, do you?
20         A.   I do not.
21         Q.   I take it, sir, you're aware of a
22 federal requirement for highly qualified teachers?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   And as of last school year, what
25 percentage of the district's teachers are highly
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1 qualified?
2         A.   100 percent in the core areas.
3         Q.   And so the district is in compliance
4 with the federal requirement of four highly qualified
5 teachers?
6         A.   Yes.
7         Q.   Now, today's not the first time that
8 we've talked, correct?
9         A.   Correct.

10         Q.   I came to your district in March this
11 year and took your deposition; is that right?
12         A.   Correct.
13         Q.   And there was a court reporter there to
14 record my questions as well as your answers; is that
15 right?
16         A.   Right.
17         Q.   And you took an oath to tell the truth?
18         A.   Yes.
19         Q.   Just like you did today, correct?
20         A.   Yes.
21         Q.   The whole truth, that is right?
22         A.   Yes.
23         Q.   Do you recall me asking you about
24 waivers from state or federal requirements?
25         A.   I'm sure you did.  It doesn't come right
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1 to mind right now.
2         Q.   And do you recall testifying that you
3 thought that if the district were to apply for certain
4 waivers, it would probably lose its accreditation
5 status?
6              MS. BONO:  Your Honor --
7              MR. DANCE:  Improper impeachment.
8 That's not contradicted.
9              MS. BONO:  We object on the basis it's

10 an improper use of his deposition.
11              THE COURT:  I don't know what's in the
12 deposition, so it's difficult to make that judgment
13 call.  I'll let him pursue the questions once he
14 refers to the deposition.  I don't know what's in the
15 deposition.  Overruled.
16         A.   What I recall is that you had questioned
17 me on whether the school had pursued waivers for (sic)
18 the State so that we would not have to meet some of
19 the state requirements, and I believe I testified I
20 was unaware that you could do that at the time.
21         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  And do you also recall
22 testifying that you were concerned that if the
23 district were to apply for waivers, it probably would
24 lose its accreditation?
25              MS. BONO:  Your Honor, same objection.
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1 It's an improper use of the deposition.
2              THE COURT:  Overruled.
3              MS. BONO:  Can I ask for a running
4 objection then if he continues to use the deposition
5 without proper --
6              THE COURT:  Yes.  So noted.
7         A.   Could you repeat that, please?
8         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Do you also recall
9 testifying that if you thought the district were to

10 apply for those other waivers, it would probably lose
11 its accreditation?
12         A.   Yes.  I don't believe -- I'm still not
13 familiar with the waiver process for accreditation.  I
14 mean, we have accreditation for a purpose, to hold
15 schools accountable.  So if a school can waive that
16 accountability, then why -- what is the accreditation
17 process good for?
18         Q.   And you've already testified that the
19 district asked the Capital Construction Board for a
20 reduction in its BEST match, correct?
21         A.   Yes.  Accreditation and BEST is two
22 different things.
23         Q.   And -- but to your knowledge, the
24 district has not requested any other waivers from the
25 state or federal requirements, correct?
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1         A.   No, not that I know of.
2         Q.   So you don't know for certain that the
3 district would lose its accreditation if it obtained
4 waivers from state or federal requirements?
5         A.   I do not.
6         Q.   And do you know of any district that has
7 lost its accreditation for obtaining waivers from
8 state or federal requirements?
9         A.   I do not, and, you know, the school

10 attempts to do everything the State asks them to do.
11 We realize that we receive funding from the State, and
12 we want to follow the State's recommendations and
13 guidelines; and we make every attempt to do so.
14 Accreditation is part of that.
15         Q.   You testified that there are currently
16 two students in the district that have been identified
17 as English language learners at one time.  Is that
18 right?
19         A.   I believe so.
20         Q.   And would you agree that those two
21 students are in a normal classroom because of the
22 level of their English proficiency?
23         A.   Those students are in a normal classroom
24 because that's all we have to offer them.  Where else
25 would we put them?
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1         Q.   Are these non-English-proficient
2 students?
3         A.   I believe they are still taking the CELA
4 test.  So I don't believe their English proficiency
5 has been proved at this point.
6              MR. FERO:  May I approach, Your Honor?
7              THE COURT:  Yes.
8         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  So, Mr. Edgar, is it your
9 testimony that the district is violating these two

10 students' civil rights?
11              MR. DANCE:  Objection.  Misstates the
12 testimony.
13              THE COURT:  Sustained.
14              MS. BONO:  Objection.  Calls for a legal
15 conclusion.
16              THE COURT:  Sustained, but it's --
17 sustained.
18         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Mr. Edgar, do you believe
19 the district is violating these two students' civil
20 rights?
21              THE COURT:  No, that's the same
22 question.  Sustained.
23         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Do you recall Mr. Dance
24 asked you about the sufficiency of services for
25 special education students?
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1         A.   Yes.
2         Q.   And are you familiar with the federal
3 requirement for a free and appropriate education?
4         A.   Yes.
5         Q.   And do you know if the district's
6 disabled students are receiving the free and
7 appropriate education required by federal law?
8              MR. DANCE:  Objection.  Calls for a
9 legal conclusion.

10              THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Could you ask
11 the question again?  I'm sorry.
12         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  Do you know if the
13 district's disabled students are receiving the free
14 and appropriate education required by federal law?
15              THE COURT:  Overruled.
16         A.   I would have to go look at those
17 students' individual education plans to know that.
18         Q.   (BY MR. FERO)  You can't answer that
19 today then?
20         A.   I can't.
21         Q.   The district uses a salary schedule to
22 set compensation for its teachers; is that right?
23         A.   Correct.
24         Q.   And all teachers in the district are
25 paid according to this same salary schedule?
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1         A.   All certified teachers.
2         Q.   Certified teachers.
3         A.   Yeah.
4         Q.   And according to this schedule, teachers
5 can increase their salary by obtaining additional
6 credit hours or a master's degree, correct?
7         A.   Correct.
8         Q.   Also, according to the schedule,
9 teachers can increase their salary by seniority?

10         A.   Correct.
11         Q.   And this is what the district refers to
12 as a salary step?
13         A.   Yes.  However, to move horizontally on
14 that scale, teachers would have to obtain more college
15 credit, and there's increments set up, you know,
16 increments for obtaining college credit.
17         Q.   Last year, the district --
18         A.   So actually, if you want to look at it
19 this way, the money -- the compensation you receive
20 for receiving that credit doesn't pay for the credit.
21         Q.   Last year, the district awarded a salary
22 step to all of its returning teachers, correct?
23         A.   We did.
24         Q.   And that was the district's decision?
25         A.   We did.  However, administration didn't
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1 get anything.
2         Q.   That was not the State's decision,
3 correct?
4         A.   Correct, but it was based upon funds
5 available.
6         Q.   The State did not tell the district that
7 it could or could not offer a salary step increase to
8 its teachers?
9         A.   No.

10         Q.   And the salary schedule for Sanford
11 School District does not address student achievement;
12 is that right?
13         A.   No.
14         Q.   So teachers in the school district are
15 not compensated on how their students perform on the
16 CSAP exam; is that right?
17         A.   Not at this point.
18         Q.   You would agree that the quality of
19 instruction affects the level of student achievement;
20 would you not?
21         A.   Yes, I would.
22         Q.   And you would also agree a more
23 experienced teacher is not necessarily a better
24 teacher?
25         A.   Yes.
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1         Q.   It depends on the individual; is that
2 right?
3         A.   Correct.
4         Q.   How many students attended the school
5 district last year?
6         A.   I think there was 346.
7         Q.   And how many students was the district
8 funded for?
9         A.   I'd have to look at our funding, the

10 state funding sheet.
11         Q.   So it was different than the number of
12 students that actually attended?
13         A.   I don't get full-time funding for every
14 student.  They take an average over five years.
15 Preschool, we're funded part time up to 20 slots.
16 Kindergarten, we have a full-time program, but we're
17 funded only part time.  So we don't receive full
18 funding for every student.
19         Q.   And if you just think of the 1st through
20 12th-grade students, did the district receive funding
21 for a greater number than were actually enrolled?
22         A.   No -- are you talking 1st through 12th
23 specifically?
24         Q.   Yes, yes.
25         A.   We received funding for each one of
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1 those students 1st through 12th.
2         Q.   And that's all?
3         A.   No.  We received part-time funding for
4 kindergarten, part-time funding for 20 CPP slots.
5         Q.   Now, in 2010-2011, the district received
6 $2.48 million from the State; is that correct?
7         A.   Yes, I believe that's correct.
8         Q.   And the local share of your total
9 program was $193,000; is that right?

10         A.   Yeah, I would have to look -- I don't
11 know that number exact, but it's within the ballpark.
12         Q.   All right.  And that would leave it
13 approximately, so about 92 percent of the funding --
14 the total program funding for the district came from
15 the State, correct?
16         A.   Yes.  I believe I testified to that
17 earlier.
18         Q.   The district is not receiving funds from
19 a mill levy override at this time, correct?
20         A.   Correct.
21         Q.   I believe you testified the district has
22 not requested one while you've been superintendent?
23         A.   Correct.
24         Q.   And do you know if the district has
25 requested one in the previous ten years?
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1         A.   Not to my knowledge.
2         Q.   And you've also testified that when --
3 if the ballot initiative this fall is passed that the
4 district will max out how much it can raise through a
5 bond measure; is that correct?
6         A.   Correct.  Our maximum bonding capacity
7 over 20 years is 1,197,000.  The max we can raise in a
8 mill is less than $6,000.  So it's very little money
9 that we can generate through mill levies override.

10         Q.   And even though you're going to -- if
11 you pass that measure you will reach your maximum
12 bond, will you agree the district has not reached its
13 maximum mill levy override capabilities?
14         A.   That would be true.
15         Q.   There's additional funds that could be
16 raised from the local community, correct?
17         A.   Correct.  However, it would be very
18 taxing on the community.  We haven't even passed the
19 bond yet.
20         Q.   Would you also agree that the district
21 could use any money that it would be able to raise
22 from local sources?
23         A.   Well, we use money, including gifts and
24 donations, grants, 10 million pennies from students
25 that have been raised.  We use everything we can find
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1 to help us fund education because it's not funded.
2         Q.   So you would agree that the district
3 could use money that it has the ability to raise
4 locally, correct?
5         A.   We could use the money, but I really --
6 I doubted a mill levy override would ever pass.
7         Q.   During your time in the Sanford School
8 District, cooperation amongst districts in the valley
9 has been increasing; is that right?

10         A.   True.
11         Q.   And you believe that that's a direct
12 result of less revenue available to the district?
13         A.   I think that's one of the reasons.  I
14 think the other reason is that many of the districts
15 realize that by collaboration, we may be able to offer
16 more to our students that we can't alone.
17         Q.   So you would agree then that cooperating
18 with other districts allows your district to offer
19 more to its students?
20         A.   For example, we have a wrestling student
21 that can wrestle because of collaboration.
22         Q.   Does the district -- excuse me.
23         A.   Academically, we haven't collaborated in
24 any academic classes, no.
25         Q.   Does the district transport any severe
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1 needs students to Alamosa?
2         A.   Yes, we do.
3         Q.   And the district has to pay for the
4 services those students receive; is that right?
5         A.   Yes.
6         Q.   And the amount that the district pays
7 costs less than what it would cost the district to
8 directly serve those students on site; is that right?
9         A.   Yes.

10         Q.   And is it currently -- excuse me.  Last
11 year, were there two students that were severe needs
12 transported to Alamosa?
13         A.   One of them started this summer.
14         Q.   Okay.  But that would make two total
15 then for this upcoming school year?
16         A.   Yes.
17         Q.   The district would prefer to serve those
18 students on site; is that right?
19         A.   Yeah.  We'd like to have a program that
20 we would keep those kids at home and not have to
21 transport them such great distances.
22         Q.   I'm sorry.  Was that a yes?
23         A.   Yes.
24         Q.   And even though it would be more costly
25 to do so, that would be the district's preference?
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1         A.   Yes.
2         Q.   But you don't know if the district could
3 sustain a program for just two students, is that
4 right?
5         A.   I don't know that, but I'd like to have
6 the resources to attempt to see.
7         Q.   You'd like to try?
8         A.   You bet.
9         Q.   And you'd like to try with additional

10 funding; is that right?
11         A.   Yes.
12         Q.   Additional state funding, is that right?
13         A.   Yes.
14              MR. FERO:  No further questions.
15              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Redirect?
16              MR. DANCE:  Nothing, Your Honor.
17              THE COURT:  Redirect?
18              MS. BONO:  No, Your Honor.
19              THE COURT:  Thank you.  Thank you, sir.
20 You may step down.
21              THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
22              THE COURT:  Perfect timing.  It's right
23 at 5 o'clock.  So we'll go ahead and take the evening
24 recess, and we'll start at 8:30 tomorrow if that works
25 for everybody.  See you back here then.  Thank you.
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1              WHEREUPON, the within proceedings were

2 adjourned at the approximate hour of 4:59 p.m. on the

3 3rd day of August, 2011.

4               *     *     *     *     *
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